REGULATION OF THROMBOPOIETIN RECEPTOR EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION

INAUGURALDISSERTATION ZUR ERLANGUNG DER WÜRDE EINES DOKTORS DER PHILOSOPHIE

VORGELEGT DER PHILOSOPHISCH-NATURWISSENSCHAFTLICHEN FAKULTÄT DER UNIVERSITÄT BASEL

> VON JÖRN COERS AUS IHRHOVE, BUNDESREPUBLIK DEUTSCHLAND BASEL, FEBRUAR 2004

Genehmigt von der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschafftlichen Fakultät

Auf Antrag von Prof. Martin Spiess, Prof. Radek C. Skoda und Prof. Antonius Rolink.

Basel, den 10 Februar 2004

Prof. Marcel Tanner, Dekan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY	4
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	7
Hematopoiesis	7
Cytokines and their receptors	7
JAK/ STAT signaling	10
Negative regulatory mechanisms of cytokine signaling	11
The SOCS family of cytokine signal suppressors	12
PIAS: negative regulators of STATs	
Phosphatases in attenuating cytokine mediated signals	15
Dominant-negative receptor isoforms	
Thrombopoietin and Thrombopoietin receptor c-mpl	18
Specificity of cytokine signaling	20

RESULTS I: ALTERNATE C-MPL ISOFORMS IN SIGNAL

ATTENUATION	.22
A truncated isoform of c-mpl with an essential C-terminal peptide targets the	
full-length receptor for degradation	23

Abstract	24
Introduction	25
Materials and Methods	27
Results	30
Discussion	39

Substitution of the endogenous <i>mpl</i> locus by an mpl transgene causes	
thrombocytosis in the mouse	
Abstract	43

Introduction	44
Materials and Methods	46
Results	49
Discussion	59

RESULTS II	
Cloning of a GATA-1 regulated gene encoding a novel SIAH-interacting protein	63
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	

PERSPECTIVES	83
Aberrations of cytokine signaling in disease	83
Cytokine receptor splice forms and hematopoietic malignancies	84
A mouse model of essential thrombocythemia	85
Receptor isoform-mediated proteolysis as a novel regulatory mechanism	86
Characterization of a novel mpl- and GATA-regulated gene	88
REFERENCES	91
CURRICULUM VITAE	104
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	

SUMMARY

Of the many cells in the body, the hematopoietic cells are among those with the highest rate of self-renewal and turnover. The production and destruction of these cells are tightly controlled by a number of hematopoietic growth factors, in particular by members of the family of helical cytokines. Studying the thrombopoietin receptor, I focused on two aspects of cytokine receptor signaling: attenuation of signaling by receptor isoforms and the biological function of cytokine receptor target genes.

Cytokine receptor signaling has profound effects on cell survival, proliferation and differentiation. It is therefore not surprising that components of the signaling cascade are tightly regulated at the level of expression. An important mechanism for controlling gene expression is alternative splicing. Alternate isoforms have been identified for many cytokine receptors and a regulatory function and/or altered expression in disease have been described for some of these isoforms

The cytokine thrombopoietin (TPO) and its cognate receptor c-mpl are the primary regulators of platelet production and also play an important role in hematopoietic stem cell biology. Several isoforms of unknown function exist for both mouse and human mpl and it is possible that they play an important role in modulating mpl signaling. In my thesis work, I have analyzed the function of a truncated receptor isoform (mpl-tr) which is the only alternate mpl isoform conserved between mouse and humans. Although mpl-tr lacks a transmembrane domain, classifying it as a 'secreted' or 'soluble receptor', it is retained intracellularly. My results provide evidence that mpl-tr acts as a dominant-negative variant of mpl for both proliferation and survival. I also demonstrate that mpl-tr mediates protein degradation of the full-length receptor by a cathepsin-like cysteine protease activity. Due to a shift of the reading frame at a splice acceptor site, the C-terminus of mpl-tr consists of a peptide of unique sequence, 30 amino acids in length. I show that this peptide sequence is essential for the inhibition of TPO-dependent proliferation and for mpl protein degradation mediated by mpl-tr. Together, these data suggest a

Summary

new paradigm for the regulation of cytokine receptor expression and function through a proteolytic process directed by a truncated isoform of the same receptor.

To test for the *in vivo* function of alternative mpl isoforms, a c-mpl cDNA was expressed as a transgene in mpl knockout mice. These mice express mpl full-length as the only mpl isoform and develop severe thrombocytosis with platelet numbers, elevated about five times higher than normal. The reintroduction of the endogenous mpl allele restores normal platelet counts and I attribute this to the *in vivo* effect of dominant-negative mpl isoforms. A mpl knock-in allele, which does not express mpl-tr but still expresses the second known alternate variant of murine mpl, mpl-II, normalizes platelet numbers, similar to the endogenous mpl allele. This result demonstrates that the absence of mpl-tr is not sufficient to cause thrombocytosis. I propose that mpl-II is an additional dominant-negative mpl isoform and attenuates the expansion of the megakarocytic lineage *in vivo*. In summary, these results impressively demonstrate the importance of alternate cytokine receptor isoforms *in vivo* and emphasize the need to study the function of the many uncharacterized cytokine receptor isoforms.

In a second project, I studied the role of mpl signaling in regulating the expression of a gene with a potential role in cell differentiation and proliferation. The diversification of cell types is controlled through the use of both lineage-restricted and more widely expressed transcriptional regulators and the combinatorial actions of these regulators specify gene expression. The differentiation of megakaryocyte precursors is dependent on the proper function of the GATA-1 transcription factor. Mice lacking GATA-1 selectively in megakaryocytes have dramatically fewer platelets but more megakaryocytes, altered platelet size and shape and prolonged bleeding times. Further, GATA-1-null megakaryocytes hyperproliferate *in vitro*, suggesting that GATA-1 is both a differentiation factor and negative regulator of megakaryocyte cell proliferation. However, GATA-1 regulated genes which are responsible for this growth inhibition are presently unknown. In this thesis work, I describe a novel gene, GASIP (<u>GATA-1 regulated SIAH Interacting Protein</u>), which is

dramatically downregulated in mpl-transfected hematopoietic cell lines, identifying mpl as a negative regulator of GASIP expression. The presence of juxtaposed GATA and Ets-binding *cis*-elements in the GASIP promoter are typical for a megakaryocytic gene. I found that GASIP expression in platelets is indeed robust and correlates with mRNA levels of GATA-1, but not GATA-2 or –3, identifying GATA-1 as a positive regulator of GASIP expression. The finding that mpl and GATA have opposite effects on both proliferation and on GASIP expression, make GASIP a candidate GATA-1 target gene involved in growth inhibition. To investigate the potential role of GASIP in growth regulation, I screened for potential protein binding partners. Interestingly, I identified the p53-inducible tumor suppressor seven in absentia homologe (SIAH) as a GASIP interacting protein. I speculate that GASIP may contribute to the anti-proliferative effect mediated by SIAH.

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Hematopoiesis

Vertebrate blood consists of multiple cell types that perform varied and specific functions. Though distinct, all blood cell types are derived from a common, pluripotent precursor or hematopoietic stem cell (HSC)³. The onset of vertebrate hematopoietic development, generally termed primitive hematopoiesis, occurs during embryogenesis when the extraembryonic yolk sac (or an equivalent site) gives rise to blood precursors, which are primarily erythroid in nature ⁴. A second round of de novo hematopoietic development, termed definitive hematopoiesis, occurs in the mesodermal aorta/gonad/mesonephros (AGM) region of the embryo proper and gives rise to cells that will seed subsequent hematopoietic sites, such as the fetal liver and the bone marrow in mammals, as well as to all blood cell types found in the mature organism ⁵. The myeloid lineage gives rise to multiple cell types including erythrocytes, megakaryocytes (from which platelets are derived), and macrophages, which primarily function as professional phagocytes in the context of both development and innate immunity ⁶. The lymphoid lineage primarily mediates adaptive immunity through the production of B and T cells and natural killer cells⁷. Proliferation and differentiation of the HSC and lineage restricted precursor cells are largely regulated by the interaction of these cells with soluble signaling molecules, especially cytokines.

Cytokines and their receptors

Many aspects of cell behavior, such as growth, motility, differentiation, and apoptosis, are regulated by signals which cells receive from their environment. Upon ligand binding, receptors become activated and thereby initiate a cascade of intracellular events. The initial ligand/receptor interaction seems to be the most specific step in this cascade. The specificity of ligand/receptor interaction has been well studied in the field of cytokines and their receptors ⁸.

The helical cytokines constitute a family of secreted proteins of a molecular weight of usually 20 to 30 kDa. The amino acid sequences of different cytokines display no apparent homology but share a common three-dimensional structure of an anti-parallel "four-helix bundle" with a characteristic up-up-down-down topology ⁹. This topology demands that the three loops connecting the four helices are long-short-long (Fig.1). All these cytokines transmit their signal into the cell by multi-subunit receptor complexes. Subfamilies of cytokines have been classified based shared signal-transducing receptor subunits. One such receptor-subunit is gp130, which is shared by the Interleukin-6 (IL-6) type cytokines as part of the signal-transducing complex. Similarly, the β -subunit of the IL-3 receptor is shared by IL-3, IL-5, and the granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), while the IL-2 γ receptor is the common subunit for IL-2, IL-4, IL-7 and IL-15¹⁰.

The growth hormone (GH) receptor complex was the first four-helical cytokine receptor to be crystallized together with its ligand ¹¹ and has therefore become pivotal for the understanding of four-helical cytokine receptor complexes. One GH molecule binds to two receptor molecules via two contact epitopes designated as site I and II. Remarkably, the two receptors use identical amino acid residues to bind to the two different epitopes of the cytokine ^{11,12}. One conclusion derived from these studies is that cytokines are recognized by their cognate receptors at sites equivalent to site I and II of GH ^{8,11}. Biochemical studies demonstrated the existence of an additional site III on IL-6 and a requirement for two distinct binding epitopes on the receptor for activation ¹³⁻¹⁶.

The cytokine receptor superfamily is defined by the presence of the cytokinereceptor homology region (CRH) consisting of two immunoglobulin domains, whereby the loops connecting the β -sheets establish the specific contact to the ligand ¹⁷. Within the cytokine receptor superfamily, two subclasses can be distinguished. The CRH domain of class I receptors contains two conserved disulfide bridges and a typical sequence motif tryptophan-serine-X- tryptophan-serine (WSXWS) in the membrane proximal immunoglobin domain. In contrast, the CRH domain of class II receptors lacks the WSXWS motif and the first conserved disulfide bridge. Instead, a distinct disulfide bridge is formed at the C-terminus of the membrane proximal immunoglobulin domain⁸. In addition to CRH domains, the extracellular domain of cytokine receptors can contain several membrane proximal fibronectin type III (FN III) domains. The intracellular portion of cytokine receptors is very diverse in length and shows little homology. No enzymatic activity has been identified for the intracellular domain. However, many members of the cytokine receptor family are associated with kinases of the janus activated kinase (JAK) family through two membrane-proximal proline rich sequence motifs called box 1 and box 2. In contrast, TNF receptor (TNFR)-1 and -2 show neither intrinsic enzymatic activity nor are they directly associated with enzymes. Although TNFR-1 and -2 are activated by the same ligand, they initiate different signaling cascades due to their different intracellular modules. TNFR-1 contains an intracellular death domain, which interacts with proteins named TRADD leading to the activation of a number of proteases of the caspase family. The TNFR-2 does not contain a death domain but interacts with the FADD protein ¹⁸.



Fig.1. Computer representation of porcine GH crystal structure. The four antiparallel -helical bundles are represented as *cylindrical rods* and labeled with *Roman numerals I–IV*. The amino and carboxyl termini are indicated with an N and C, respectively. The *numbers* indicate amino acid positions at the N and C termini of each independent -helix. (Adapted from S. S. Abdel-Meguid et al.²)

Most cytokines cause receptor dimerization or oligomerization upon binding. In these cases, dimerization or oligomerization is required and sufficient for the onset of the signal transduction. Interestingly, it has been shown that dimerization is required but not sufficient for some of the homodimeric receptors to signal and that these receptors exist as preformed dimers on the cell surface. Crystallographic and biochemical studies have demonstrated that the erythropoietin receptor (EpoR) as well as TNFR-1 can form dimers in the absence of their ligands ^{19,20}. It has been demonstrated that distinct dimeric configurations exist for EpoR dependent on whether it is liganded or unliganded, or bound to agonistic or antagonistic peptides ^{19,21,22}. The presence of a ligand and its agonist or antagonist activity resulted in different distances and orientations of the receptor parts close to the membrane ¹⁹. Beyond the evidence that preformed dimers exist, the structure of the unliganded receptors revealed that the dimerization occurs via epitopes that are also involved in ligand binding ¹⁹. Therefore, ligand binding to EpoR can be regarded as a competition event in which the ligand binds the dimerized receptor and replaces the direct physical interaction between the two receptor chains. As a consequence, the intracellular domains of the two receptor molecules change their relative orientation to one another.

JAK/ STAT signaling

Janus kinases (JAK)s include four family members (JAK1-3 and TYK2) with molecular masses of 120-130 kDA. Whereas, JAK1, JAK2, and TYK 2 are expressed ubiquitously, expression of JAK3 is confined to hematopoietic and lymphoid cells ^{23,24}. These nonreceptor tyrosine kinases associate with members of the cytokine receptor family through conserved membrane proximal motifs, termed box 1 and 2, in the receptor ²⁵. JAKs lack true *src* homology 2 or 3 domains (SH2 and SH3), and the precise nature of the physical association between receptor and kinase is unknown. Box 1, defined by two appropriately spaced prolines (PXXP), is located within the first 30 cytoplasmic residues of most cytokine receptors and is similar to the core binding sequence of SH3 proteins. Box 2 is defined by the frequent occurrence of acidic and serine residues and is located between cytoplasmic amino acids 45 and 69 in mpl. The exact boundaries of box 2 are unknown. However, mutations or deletions of either box 1 or 2 completely disrupt all measurable JAK activity. Characteristic of the structure of JAKs is the

presence of two JAK homology (JH) domains, of which the C-terminal (JH1) domain has tyrosine activity ²⁵. Upon receptor oligomerization, JAKs are activated, presumbly by trans-'auto' phosphorylation on tyrosines. Subsequently, JAKs phosphorylate signal transducer and activators of transcription (STAT) proteins, which form homodimeric or heterodimeric complexes via their SH2 domains. These complexes translocate to the nucleus, where they bind to specific enhancer sequences and influence gene transcription ²⁶. Thus far, six mammalian STAT proteins (plus several isoforms) have been identified ²⁷. Two homologS exist of STAT 5 (STAT5A and STAT5B) that are encoded by different genes. Expression of STAT proteins is ubiquitous, except for STAT4, which is expressed in several tissues including spleen, heart, brain, peripheral blood and testis ²⁸. While STAT1, STAT3 and STAT5 are activated by multiple receptors, activation of STAT4 and STAT6 is restricted to the receptors for IL-12 and IL-4/IL-13, respectively ²⁹⁻³¹. Phosphorylated tyrosines and flanking amino acid residues in the activated cytokine receptor determine this specificity by providing docking sites for the SH2 domains of STATs ^{32,33}. The tyrosine phosphorylation of the receptor proteins is also likely to be directly mediated by JAKs.

Negative regulatory mechanisms of cytokine signaling

Of equal importance to the positive mechanisms initiated by cytokine signals are the negative regulatory mechanisms that serve to dampen or terminate cytokine signals ^{34,35}. Three classes of negative regulatory proteins have been discovered: phosphatases, PIAS and SOCS proteins – their importance being vividly demonstrated by mice lacking these inhibitors. Each of these protein families appears to act at a distinct point and at a particular time in the cytokine signaling cascade (Fig. 2). Additionally, alternatively spliced cytokine receptor variants have emerged as important negative regulators of cytokine signaling ³⁶⁻³⁸.

The SOCS family of cytokine signal suppressors

One recently identified protein family of inhibitors of cytokine signaling is the SOCS (suppressor of cytokine signaling) family. The first member of this family, CIS (cytokine-inducible SH2-domain-containing protein), was identified as an immediate-early gene, induced by IL-3, that inhibited signaling and proliferation ³⁵. Using different strategies, three other family members, termed SOCS1, JAB (JAK binding protein) and SSI1 (STAT-induced STAT inhibitor 1), were subsequently separately cloned ^{39,40}. The SOCS family now includes eight members, CIS and SOCS1-SOCS7 ⁴¹.

The mRNA and protein expression for SOCS members is rapidly induced by a variety of stimuli, including cytokines and growth factors. Importantly, SOCS expression is reduced in mice lacking various STAT genes but, in addition, there are examples of SOCS induction in response to stimuli that do not activate STATs, such as lipopolysaccharide or IL-1. Functioning as a classic negative feedback loop, SOCS proteins are structurally conserved but inhibit signaling by different mechanisms. SOCS-box-containing proteins can be divided into five subfamilies of proteins with SH2 domains, WD-40 repeats, ankyrin repeats, SPRY domains or GTPase domains⁴¹. The function of the SOCS-box has not been established but several lines of evidence point to a role in ubiquitin-mediated protein degradation, potentially through the binding of the elongin BC complex⁴². The elongins bind to E3 ligase complex of CUL 2 and Skp1 and this may regulate protein turnover. The function of SOCS proteins other than CIS and SOCS1-SOCS3 are currently not well understood.

CIS

CIS, the first member of the SOCS family to be identified, is induced by Epo, IL-3, GH, IL-2 and by PrI, and it competes with STATs for the receptor phosphotyrosine residues that serve as a docking site. CIS transgenic mice have low birth weight, stunted growth and defective mammary gland development, possibly due to a complete block of PrI signaling, a phenotype similar to that observed with Stat5-/- mice ⁴³. However, the lack of a clear

phenotype in the CIS-/- mice suggests that, unlike other SOCS family members (see below), it may be redundant ⁴⁴.

SOCS1

SOCS1 mRNA is induced by many cytokines, including IL-6, IL-2, IL-4, LIF, IFN- α/β , IFN- γ , GH and G-CSF. SOCS1 inhibits JAK1, JAK2 and TYK2 but affects JAK3 kinase activity minimally. Mutational analysis of SOCS1 and SOCS3 has established that both the SH2 domain and an amino-terminal kinase-inhibitory region (KIR), but not the SOCS-box, are essential for blocking JAK activity and cytokine signaling. Interessingly, the KIR is not found in other SOCS ⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷ although SOCS4 and SOCS5 have amino-terminal regions with sequences similar to KIRs. SOCS1-/- mice, though born healthy, rapidly succumbed to a complex, multiorgan disease characterized by leukocytic infiltration and necrosis with severe B cell lymphopenia. SOCS1-/- mice have activated STAT1 in the liver, have elevated expression of IFN- γ - inducible genes, are hypersensitive to IFN- γ and have elevated circulating levels of this cytokine ^{48,49}. Accordingly, mice lacking both SOCS1 and IFN- γ are healthy, as are doubly deficient SOCS1-/- Rag2-/- mice.

SOCS2

SOCS2-/- mice are born at the expected Mendelian ratio, survive weaning and are healthy and fertile as adults ⁵⁰. Male SOCS2-/- mice grow more rapidly than their wild-type counterparts; SOCS2-/- females are also heavier, but less dramatically so. With the notable exception of the brain, most organs in SOCS2-/- animals are proportionately large and the long bones are 7-15% longer. The increased weight of SOCS2-/- animals is not due to increased fat; rather the animals are if anything leaner than normal, a phenotype similar to that of GH transgenic mice. The mechanism of SOCS2 action in regulating body size is not entirely clear but an important mechanism of GH action is the induction IGF1 (insulin-like growth factor 1). Notably, SOCS2-/- animals exhibit elevated expression of IGF1 mRNA in a number of tissues, including the heart, lung and spleen.

SOCS3

Like SOCS1, SOCS3 can inhibit STAT activation in response to many cytokines, including GH, leptin, IL-2, IL-4 and IL-10; SOCS3 is also induced in response to most four--helical cytokines tested. SOCS3 only partially inhibits JAK activation but its effect is enhanced in the presence of receptors, suggesting that SOCS3 inhibits cytokine responses by binding to phosphorylated components of the receptor complex ^{51,52}. For gp130, an SH2domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 2 (SHP-2)-interaction site (YEPY757STV) is also a SOCS3 contact site; SOCS3 may compete for the SHP2-gp130 interaction site ^{53,54}. SOCS3-/- mice die during mid-gestation, (between day 11.5 and day 16.5) though the basis of this embryonic lethality is unclear. Some mice display marked erythrocytosis, consistent with the finding that a SOCS3 transgene results in severe anemia ⁴⁴. However, reconstitution of irradiated mice with SOCS3-/- fetal liver results in normal hematopoiesis, suggesting that the critical role of SOCS3 may be limited to embryogenesis. Clearly, many questions remain regarding the physiological role of SOCS3.

PIAS: negative regulators of STATs

In mammals, the PIAS (protein inhibitors of activated STATs) proteins were first discovered as transcriptional coregulators of the JAK/STAT pathway ⁵⁵. Four members have been identified: PIAS-1, -3, -X and -Y. They share homology amongst themselves but have no previously characterized motifs ⁵⁶. PIAS proteins may not be specific for STAT interaction, as PIAS haven been shown to interact with a number of different pathways ⁵⁷; the *in vivo* relevance of this family of proteins will need to be assessed by the production of the relevant knockout mice.

Phosphatases in attenuating cytokine mediated signals

SHP-1

Given the importance of tyrosine kinases in initiating signaling, it comes as no surprise that tyrosine phosphatases are also important inhibitors. For

instance, SHP-1 is an important negative regulator, as illustrated by the `motheaten mice' phenotype. The lack of SHP-1 affects almost all hematopoietic lineages and results in the characteristic motheaten appearance of the coat and fatal pneumonitis resulting from unchecked neutrophil and macrophage proliferation ⁵⁸. Several hematopoietic receptors, including the IL-4R, EpoR, GHR and IL-2R have been shown to recruit SHP-1. The mechanism by which SHP-1 inhibits signaling has not been entirely elucidated but it presumably occurs via SH2-phosphotyrosine interaction. SHP-1 may directly dephosphorylate and inactivate JAKs or dephosphorylate other key tyrosines on the cytokine receptors that are involved in signaling. Loss of SHP-1 expression has been implicated in human lymphoproliferative disease and may be involved in malignant transformation, as reported with HTLV-1 associated leukemia and other tumors.

SHP-2

The action of SHP-2 is more complicated. Though it has been reported to inhibit signaling by some cytokines, it also acts as an adaptor protein, enhancing PI-3'K and Ras activation. SHP-2 binds the receptor and recruits Grb-2 and SOS, thus initiating Ras activation. SHP-2 does not bind all receptors directly; it also binds docking proteins such as Gab-2^{59,60}.

SHIP

Two phospholipid phosphatases, SHIP (SH2-containing inositol phosphatase) and PTEN, target PIP-3 but at different positions on the inositol ring ⁶¹. Normally PTEN antagonizes the activation of PI3'-K and PKB/Akt by growth factors. Many tumors and cell lines have PTEN mutations, resulting in activation of the Akt/PKB and phosphatidylinositol PI3'-K pathway. This can antagonize the apoptosis induced by cytokine withdrawal.

CD45 and putative STAT phosphatases

Recently, it has been shown that the absence of CD45 leads to augmented JAK and STAT phosphorylation in hematopoietic cells. Whether the major role of CD45 is to statically influence JAKs or whether there is a dynamic

component of regulation is not known. Whether other receptor phosphatases affect JAKs in nonhematopoietic cells will also need to be determined ⁶². Finally, STATs are dephosphorylated over time and this presumably reflects the activity of a STAT phosphatase. The identity of the major STAT phosphatase and its intracellular location remains enigmatic.

Dominant-negative receptor isoforms

Most members of the family of hematopoietic growth factor receptors have been shown to be capable of giving rise to soluble forms ⁶³. Because most of these soluble receptors, when expressed as recombinant proteins, act to neutralize their cognate ligands, they are considered to function as receptor antagonists ⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶. A different class of dominant-negative isoforms has been described for the erythropoietin receptor (EpoR) and the common β -receptor subunit of the granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor (β -GMR). EpoR-T is an intracytoplasmic truncated splice variant and believed to function by forming a non-functional heterodimer with EpoR ⁶⁷. Recently, Wagner et al. have

characterized the intracytoplasmic truncated variant of β -GMR (β -GMR_{IT}) as a dominant-negative isoform ⁶⁸. They demonstrated that β -GMR_{IT} is trafficking to the plasma membrane and that surface expression of the α/β -GMR complex remains unchanged in the presence of β -GMR_{IT}. In analogy to EpoR-T, they proposed that the inhibitory effect of β -GMR_{IT} was due to the formation of non-functional complexes between α -GMR and the truncated β -GMR form. The vast number of cytokine receptor isoforms suggests that the play an important role in modulating cytokine receptor signaling.



Fig. 2. Overview of Cytokine Signaling: Positive and Negative Regulation.

Cytokines bind to homodimeric or heterodimeric receptors, which bind Janus kinases (JAKs). JAKs are activated by transphorylation and they in turn phosphorylate cytokine receptors, allowing STATs to bind via SH2-phosphotyrosine interactions. STATs themselves are phosphorylated, permitting STAT dimerization and translocation to the nucleus where STATs bind DNA and regulate gene expression. This process is regulated at multiple steps, some of which are summarized here: tyrosine phosphatases such as SHP-1, CD45, and PTP1b may regulate phosphorylation of receptors and JAKs. Dimerized STATs can be bound by PIAS members, which have been found to be SUMO E3 ligases; the depicted sumoylation of STATs, however, is a speculative, albeit reasonable, possibility. Additionally, cytokine stimulation induces the transcription of a family of SH2 containing proteins known as SOCS proteins. SOCS proteins inhibit signaling by multiple means: (1) binding and inhibiting JAKs, (2) binding cytokine receptors and blocking STATs recruitment, and (3) promoting ubiquitination and degradation of the JAK/receptor complex. STATs are dephosphorylated in the nucleus, but the identity of the predominant nuclear STAT phosphatase (N-PTP) remains to be determined.

Thrombopoietin and Thrombopoietin receptor c-mpl

Thrombopoietin (TPO) and its receptor c-mpl support all of the developmental stages necessary for megakaryocytopoiesis, i.e. the generation of

thrombocytes or platelets ⁶⁹. The first evidence for the existence of a humoral thrombopoietic growth factor came from studies of the murine myeloproliferative leukemia virus (MPLV) ⁷⁰. The viral oncogene, v-mpl, was recognized to encode a truncated but novel member of the cytokine receptor superfamily ⁷¹. Cellular homologs were cloned from human and mouse tissues ⁷²⁻⁷⁴. The mpl ligand, TPO, was cloned soon thereafter ⁷⁵. The Nterminal portion of TPO has marked homology to erythropoietin and is predicted to display the structure typical for helical cytokines ⁷⁶. The gene encoding mpl is located on human chromosome 1p34 and is composed of 12 exons ⁷⁷ (Fig. 3). The corresponding murine gene is on chromosome 4 and has a similar organization ⁷⁸. Four distinct mRNA species exist in humans. The predominant form encodes the full-length receptor. The Mpl-K variant is due to a read through beyond the exon 10 splice donor site and encodes a protein that diverges form the native Mpl sequence after the ninth cytoplasmic amino acid and terminates within intron 10 with 66 predicted cytoplasmic residues ⁷³. Mpl-del, a third isoform, arises as a consequence of alternative splicing between exons 8 and 9 and encodes a protein with an in-frame deletion of 24 amino acids ⁷⁹. The fourth mRNA species is the only one found both in human and murine cells. It results from splicing of exon 8 directly to exon 11, eliminating the juxtamembrane WSXWS motif and the transmembrane domain. The resulting isoform mpl-tr lacks the cytoplasmic domain and terminates instead in a short stretch of residues of novel sequence due to an altered reading frame at the splice acceptor site of exon 11^{72,74}. Additionally, an alternative splice acceptor site in exon 4 of murine mpl (but not human) generates an isoform with an in-frame deletion of 60 residues in the extracytoplasmic domain ⁸⁰ (Fig. 3).

Both TPO ⁸¹ and mpl ^{82,83} knockout mice are viable but have a 90% reduction in platelet counts. A reduction in progenitor cell numbers and a decrease in megakaryocyte ploidy cause the thrombocythemia in these mice. However, the megakaryocytes and platelets produced in the absence of TPO or mpl appear to be morphologically and functionally normal, indicating that *in vivo* the main role of TPO is to control their numbers, rather than their maturation. Analysis of these gene-targeted mice provides substantial evidence to a model where the circulating TPO level is directly regulated by platelet mass through binding to mpl receptors at the platelet surface. This elegant feedback mechanism allows a tight regulation of the amount of TPO available to stimulate megakaryopoiesis ⁸⁴. In addition to its effects on megakaryopoiesis, TPO also affects hematopoietic stem cells ⁸⁵ as measured by the reduction of repopulating capacity of bone marrow cells from mpl-deficient mice ⁸⁶.



Fig. 3 Alternative mpl splice variants. The gene encoding c-*mpl* is composed of 12 exons ⁷⁷. In humans four distinct mRNA species are known. The predominant form encodes the full-length protein. The human Mpl K-form is due to a readthrough beyond the exon 10 splice donor site ⁷³. Mpl-del, a third isoform, arises as a consequence of alternative splicing between exons 8 and 9 ⁷⁹. The fourth mRNA species is the only one found both in human and murine cells. It results from splicing of exon 8 directly to exon 11, eliminating the transmembrane domain (TM), which is encoded by exon 10 ^{72,74}. Additionally, an alternative splice acceptor site in exon 4 of murine *mpl* (but not human) generates an isoform (mpl-II) ⁸⁰.

Thrombopoietin signaling

Like other class I cytokine receptors, the TPO receptor mpl makes a single pass through the cell membrane. The extracellular domain consists of two CRH domains, which are most similar to the CRH of EpoR. The cytoplasmic portion of mpl is highly conserved across species and lacks any intrinsic enzymatic function. Instead, JAK family members associate with mpl through interaction with box 1 and box 2. The family member JAK2 is the predominantly phosphorylated JAK after TPO activation of purified murine megakaryoctes ⁸⁷. TPO signaling leads to the activation of STAT3 and 5 . Recently, it has been demonstrated that members of the Src family of tyrosine kinases are also activated by mpl signaling ⁸⁸.

Many if not most of the secondary signaling pathways activated by TPO are also activated in response to binding of other hematopoietic growth factors to their cognate receptors, making mpl signaling a good representative of cytokine signaling in general ⁸⁹.

Specificity of cytokine signaling

In principle, each cytokine receptor could activate a unique signaling pathway, but this does not appear to happen. One theme that has emerged from studies of cytokine receptors and receptor tyrosine kinases is that different receptors stimulate similar collections of intracellular signaling pathways. For instance, 34 known or predicted type I cytokine receptors exist ⁹⁰, but only four Janus kinases²⁵. Given this similarity of response, an important question has arisen about the role of cytokine receptor signaling in cell differentiation. There are two basic models for how unique responses might be generated by different cytokine receptors with apparently similar intracellular signaling events. The first model postulates that there are intrinsic differences in the intracellular signaling pathways activated by cytokine receptors. These differences could either be quantitative (strength or duration of the signal) or qualitative (a different combination of intracellular pathways being activated). In this model, the outcome of a specific cytokine signaling event is unique. The instructive model of differentiation proposes that such unique signals bring about the induction of lineage specific genes resulting in a distinct developmental outcome. The second model postulates that cytokine receptors generally signal in similar ways, but cells interpret these signals based on their distinct developmental histories. In this model, the primary reason for the existence of so many cytokines and their cognate receptors is to allow the temporally and spatially appropriate activation of general signaling pathways. It suggests that cytokine receptors employ similar generic signals that permit the expression of predetermined, tissue-specific differentiation programs. Examples supporting both the instructive ^{91,92} and the permissive ⁹³⁻⁹⁵ model of cytokine function exist. In several of the experiments addressing the validity of the instructive versus the permissive model, intracellular domains of

cytokine receptors were swapped and the function of chimeric receptors was tested. It can be argued that the outcome of the experiments was dependent on the arbitrary choice of the novel intracellular domain in the chimeric receptor. Therefore, expression profiling of different cytokine receptors remains an important task in studying cytokine receptor biology. Furthermore, our understanding of the regulatory mechanisms of cytokine receptor signaling is far from complete. The importance of studying the regulation of cytokine signaling is emphasized by the existence of a number of pathological conditions with mutations in cytokine receptors or associated signaling molecules ⁹⁶.

RESULTS I:

ALTERNATE C-MPL ISOFORMS IN SIGNAL ATTENUATION

A truncated isoform of c-mpl with an essential C-terminal peptide targets the full-length receptor for degradation

Jörn Coers, Chrisitina Ranft and Radek C. Skoda*

Department of Research, Experimental Hematology, Basel University Hospitals, Hebelstrasse 20, 4031 Basel, Switzerland.

Running title: An isoform of c-mpl targets the full-length receptor for degradation Key words: Mpl, thrombopoietin, splicing, receptor, degradation,

Abstract

Thrombopoietin and its cognate receptor c-mpl are the primary regulators of megakaryopoiesis and platelet production. They also play an important role in the maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells. Here, we have analyzed the function of a truncated mpl receptor isoform (mpl-tr), which results from alternative splicing. The mpl-tr variant is the only alternate mpl isoform conserved between mouse and humans, suggesting a relevant function in regulating mpl signaling. Despite the presence of a signal peptide and the lack of a transmembrane domain, mpl-tr is retained intracellularly. Our results provide evidence that mpl-tr exerts a dominant-negative effect on thrombopoietin-dependent cell proliferation and survival. We demonstrate that this inhibitory effect is due to downregulation of the full-length mpl protein. The C terminus of mpl-tr, consisting of 30 amino acids of unique sequence, is essential for the suppression of TPO-dependent proliferation and mpl protein downregulation. Cathepsin inhibitor-1 (CATI-1), an inhibitor of cathepsin-like cysteine proteases, counteracts the effect of mpl-tr on mpl protein expression, suggesting that mpl-tr targets mpl for lysosomal degradation. Together, these data suggest a new paradigm for the regulation of cytokine receptor expression and function through a proteolytic process directed by a truncated isoform of the same receptor.

Introduction

Cytokine receptor signaling has profound effects on cell survival, proliferation and differentiation of the receiving cell ⁹⁷. It is therefore not surprising that components of the signaling cascade are tightly regulated at several levels. An important mechanism for controlling gene expression is alternative splicing allowing the synthesis of structurally and functionally distinct protein isoforms ⁹⁸. Many alternative splice variants of different cytokine receptors have been described, but the function of most of the resulting protein isoforms remains unknown.

Cytokine receptor isoforms may be classified according to the presence or absence of a transmembrane domain. Isoforms lacking a transmembrane domain are often termed 'soluble cytokine receptors' and can fulfill different physiological functions ^{63,99}. In general, soluble receptors may function as agonists by stabilizing their ligands, e.g. growth hormone and tumor necrosis factor ^{100,101}, or contrarily act as antagonists by competing with the membrane bound receptor for ligand binding, e.g. epidermal growth factor and interleukin (IL)-1 ^{102,103}. Soluble receptors can arise from alternative splicing or from proteolytic receptor shedding on the cell surface. Isoforms generated by alternative splicing often contain additional protein sequence due to unspliced intron sequence and/ or a shift of the reading frame. Generally, no biological function has been attributed to these additional stretches of amino acids.

Thrombopoietin (TPO) and its receptor "cellular homolog of myeloproliferative leukemia" (c-mpl) are the primary regulators of megakaryopoiesis ⁶⁹. The c-mpl gene is composed of 12 exons (Fig. 1A) ⁷⁷. In the mouse, two distinct alternate mRNA isoforms are known. The transmembrane variant mpl-II is due to usage of a cryptic splice acceptor in exon 4 resulting in a in-frame deletion of 60 amino acids ⁸⁰. No function has yet been assigned to this isoform. The second mRNA variant encodes a truncated soluble receptor, mpl-tr, and is the only one found both in human and mouse. This variant results from splicing of exon 8 directly to exon 11, eliminating the juxtamembrane extracellular part and the transmembrane domain ^{72,74}. Due to an altered reading frame at the splice acceptor site of exon 11, mpl-tr protein terminates in a short stretch of novel amino acid sequence (Fig. 1).

Results I

Mpl-tr mRNA accounts for approximately 30% of mpl mRNA in mouse spleen ⁷⁴. In spite of the presence of a signal sequence and the lack of a transmembrane domain, mpl-tr is not secreted into the cell supernatant when ectopically expressed in cell line ⁷⁴. In human, two alternate mRNA mpl species are known in addition to mpl-tr. The mpl-K variant is due to a readthrough beyond the exon 10 splice donor site ⁷³. The resulting K-form of the receptor diverges from the native sequence after the ninth cytoplasmic amino acid and terminates within intron 10. Mpl-del, a second isoform, arises as a consequence of alternative splicing between exons 8 and 9 and encodes a protein with an in-frame deletion of 24 amino acids and unknown function ⁷⁹. Because of the lack of secretion of mpl-tr, we analyzed whether mpl-tr plays a physiological role intracellularly. Here we demonstrate that mpl-tr specifically inhibits TPO-dependent proliferation and survival. We show that mpl-tr is responsible for initiating protein downregulation of the full-length mpl receptor by a cathepsin-like cysteine protease activity. As a consequence, the amount of total mpl protein in the cell is drastically reduced. Further, our data show that for this effect a short peptide sequence at the C terminus of mpl-tr is essential. The ability of mpl-tr to antagonize mpl function represents a novel mechanism by which cytokine signaling is regulated.

Materials and Methods

DNA constructs

The plasmid pCD4 (pMICD4) is a gift from Dr. Harvey A. Lodish. It contains an intraribosomal entry site (IRES) followed by a truncated cDNA of the human CD4 gene and is derived from the retroviral expression vector pMX ¹⁰⁴. To generate pCD4-mpl-tr, mpl-tr was cloned into the restriction sites Xhol and blunted BamH1 of the multiple cloning site of pCD4. For the generation of the mpl-tr mutants, site-directed mutagenesis was performed using the QuikChange XL mutagenesis kit (Stratagene, Cedar Creek, TX) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The following primers were used: GAAGGCCGTGAGGACTGGAAGTAGACTGAGGCAAGCTTTGTGG (sense), CCACAAAGCTTGCCTCAGTCTACTTCCAGTCCTCACGGCCTTC (anti-sense) for the stop codon in Δpep_{30} ; GAAGGCCGTGAGGACTGGAAGAGACTGAGGCAAGCTTTGTGG (sense), CCACAAAGCTTGCCTCAGTCTCTCCAGTCCTCACGGCCTTC (anti-sense) for the frame shift in tr-pepmol; GCCCTAAGTCCTTCTTAAGGCCACGGTTACCGATAGCTGTG (sense), CACAGCTATCGGTAACCGTGGCCTTAAGAAGGACTTAGGGC (antisense) for the stop codon in tr-pep_{mpl}. Mpl, mpl-tr and pep₃₀ cDNAs were cloned into the 5myc-pcDNA1 vector (gift from Dr. Eva Reinhard, Biozentrum, University of Basel), which contains at its 5' end a sequence encoding a HA-signal sequence followed by 5 myc epitopes ¹⁰⁵. For stable transfections, myc-tagged mpl cDNA was cloned into the pGD expression vector ¹⁰⁶ as a *Xhol-Not*l fragment. For transient transfections into human kidney 293T cells, mouse mpl, myc-mpl and mpl-tr cDNAs were subcloned into the pcDNA3 expression vector (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) as Xhol-Notl fragments.

Cell transfection and culture

BaF3 cells were cultured as described ⁸⁴. UT-7 cells were grown in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) and 2ng/ ml recombinant human GM-CSF (PromoCell, Heidelberg, Germany). For transfections of BaF3 and UT7 cells, $0.5 - 1 \times 10^7$ cells were electroporated at 270 V and 975 µF at ambient temperature in the presence of 20 µg plasmid. UT-7/myc-mpl cells were cultured in the presence of 450 µg/ml G418. A pool of stably transfected UT-7/myc-mpl cells was used for the transfection with different pCD4 constructs. The BaF3/mpl cell clone used in this study (TM17) has been described ⁸⁴. The BaF3/mpl clone TM17 was used for transfections with different pCD4 constructs. Cells expressing human CD4 were selected by the usage of CD4 microbeads according to the manufacture's protocol (Miltenyi, Auburn, CA). For transient transfections of 293T cells, the transfection reagent FuGENE was used according to the manufacturer's protocol (Roche, Switzerland).

Results I

Proliferation assay

An XTT proliferation kit (Roche, Switzerland) was used according to the manufacture's protocol to determine cytokine-dependent cell proliferation. In brief, cells were plated in 96-well plates at 10^4 cells per well in 100 µL of medium containing the indicated concentrations of cytokine. After 3.5 days of stimulation for BaF3 cells and 5 days of stimulation of UT7 cells, 50 µL of a 1mg/mL stock solution of XTT with 5 mmol/L phenazine methosulfate, an electron coupling agent, was added to each well. The product of XTT reduction by viable cells, reflecting the number of cells per well, was measured at 4 hours at 450 nm.

Protein expression analyses

Surface expression of myc-mpl was analyzed by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis. For this analysis, 5×10^5 cells were incubated with the mouse monoclonal antibody 9e10 directed against the N-terminal myc-tag of myc-mpl for 60 minutes on ice followed by incubation with the fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled goat antimouse antibody (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA). Untransfected UT7 cells served as a control. Total amounts of c-mpl and mpl-tr were determined by immunoblot analysis using a rabbit polyclonal antibody directed against mpl, as described ⁷⁴. The same polyclonal antibody and 9e10 were used for the detection of myc-mpl protein by immunoblot analysis. To normalize for protein loading, the membranes were reprobed using a mouse monoclonal antibody AC-40 directed against actin (Sigma, St. Louis, MO).

Puls-chase analysis

293T cells cultured in 60-mm dishes were transiently transfected with 3 μg myc-mpl and 3 μg mpl-tr expressed off the pcDNA3 expression vector. Pulse–chase analysis was begun 40 h post-transfection. To perform the pulse–chase, cell monolayers were washed twice with warm phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and starved of methionine and cysteine by incubation for 40 min at 37°C in 1 ml of methionine/cysteine-free DMEM (Gibco-BRL), supplemented with 5% dialyzed FCS (Gibco-BRL). Following amino acid starvation, cellular proteins were pulse-labeled by incubating each plate of cells with 400 μCi of methionine/ cysteine (Tran35S-label; NEN) for 30 min at 37°C. The radioactive medium was then removed, the cells washed twice in warm PBS, re-fed with DMEM supplemented with 2 mM methionine and 2 mM cysteine, and incubated for the indicated times. Cells were collected, and labeled proteins recovered by denaturing immunprecipitation using the 9E10 antibody and the method of Hofmann *et al.* ¹⁰⁷. Immune complexes were analyzed on 10% SDS–PAGE gels. The dried gels were quantitated on a Molecular Imager FX (BIO-RAD, Hercules, CA) using Quantity One software (BIO-RAD, Hercules, CA).

Apoptosis

For quantification of apoptosis, UT-7/myc-mpl cells were grown at 2×10^5 cells/mL in the presence of either 2 ng/mL of human GM-CSF or 2 ng/mL or 20 ng/mL of human TPO (gift

Results I

from Dr. Frederic J. de Sauvage). After 48 hours, cells were washed twice and stained with annexin V with the use of the annexin V-FITC kit (Roche, Switzerland). FITC positive cells were quantitated by flow cytometry.

Generation of cDNA and Quantitative-Polymerase chain reaction (Q-PCR)

RNA was extracted from cell lines by means of Trizol reagent (Life technologies, Rockville, MD). RNA was treated with RNase-free Dnase (Promega, Madison, WI) for 90 minutes at 37 C, heat-inactivated and then purified with RNAeasy (Qiagen, Germany) according to manufactures protocol. For reverse-transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), 1µg of RNA was reverse-transcribed after random hexamer priming in a 30-µL reaction mix containing 100 U of omniscript RT (Qiagen, Germany). The reaction was performed for 90 minutes at 37 C followed by 30 minutes at 40 C and denaturing at 95 C for 10 minutes. The cDNA was diluted 1:10 and used for Q-PCR. The differential quantification of mpl and mpl-tr was performed on an ABI Prism 7700 sequence detector (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA), as described ¹. The sequences for the isoform specific primers and for MGB probes were as follows: for the exon 10/11 boundary of murine c-mpl:

GCAATTTCCTGCGCACTACA, GGAAGCGAGGGCCACAA, GAGACTGAGGCATGC (probe); for mpl-tr: AGCGAGGGCCACAAAGC, CAGCTCAAGAGACCTGCTACCA, CCTCAGTCTCCTTCCAGT (probe). The ΔC_T values were derived by subtracting the threshold cycle (C_T) values for mpl and mpl-tr from the C_T value for mouse ribosomal protein L19 (RPL19), which serves as an internal control ^{1,108}. All reactions were run in duplicates.

Results

Co-expression of mpl-tr with c-mpl inhibits TPO-dependent mitogenic and survival signaling. To study the effect of mpl-tr on TPO-dependent proliferation, we used two cytokine-dependent cell lines for cell growth assays: the murine cell line BaF3 and the human megakaryoblastic cell line UT-7. Both cell lines do not express mpl protein endogenously. To assay potential effects of mpl-tr on the function of the full-length mpl protein, we used BaF3 cells stably transfected with murine mpl (BaF3/mpl)⁸⁴ (Fig.1). These cells were subjected to a second round of transfection with an expression vector containing the cDNA for murine mpl-tr. The presence of an IRES followed by a truncated form of human CD4 in the vector allowed selection of mpl-tr expressing cells using magnetic anti-CD4 microbeads.

pep₃₀



ΡM

Fig. 1. Schematic representation of the c-mpl gene and of mpl and mpl-tr protein. (A) The known alternate splice variants of human and mouse c-mpl are depicted in a schematic drawing of the exon/ intron structure of c-mpl. (B) The extracellular domain of mpl protein consists of two cytokine receptor modules, one proximal and one distal to the plasma membrane (PM). A black oval represents the transmembrane domain and white boxes the cytoplasmic portion. Horizontal lines indicate the position of the conserved cysteines. The black bars indicate the positions of the conserved WGXWS and WSXWS motifs. The myc-mpl variant has five consecutive myc epitopes added in frame to the N!terminus of the mature mpl protein. The mpl isoform mpl-tr lacks the juxtamembrane extracellular portion and the transmembrane domain. Due to an altered reading frame, the C!terminus comprises a stretch of 30 residues of novel sequence termed pep_{30} .



Fig. 2. Effect of mpl-tr on proliferation of cytokine-dependent cell lines. We used two cytokine-dependent cell lines for cell growth assays: the murine IL-3 dependent cell line BaF3 and the human GM-CSF-dependent cell line UT-7. Both cell lines do not express mpl protein endogenously. Upon expression of mpl BaF3 and UT-7 cells proliferate in response to TPO. The isoform mpl-tr was expressed off a retroviral vector containing an IRES followed by a truncated form of human CD4, used as a quantitative selectable marker. (A) BaF3 cells stably transfected with mpl (BaF3/mpl) were additionally transfected with pCD4 or pCD4-mpl-tr and sorted with anti-CD4 microbeads. Proliferation of transfected and parental BaF3 cells was determined by a XTT assay with increasing concentrations (ng/ml) of IL-3 or TPO, as indicated. Error bars indicate the standard deviation on triplicate samples. (B) UT-7 cells stably transfected with myc-mpl (UT-7/myc-mpl) were additionally transfected and parental UT-7 cells of GM-CSF and TPO is shown. Annotation as above. (C) BaF3/mpl cells were were cultured with increasing concentrations (ng/ml) of IL-3 or TPO in the presence of mpl-tr conditioned media (filled diamonds) or control media (open diamonds).

Results I

This procedure was repeated 3-4 times to enrich for CD4 positive cells and expression of CD4 was confirmed by flow cytometry (data not shown). The sorted cells were cultured with different concentrations of either

IL-3 or TPO. As expected, parental BaF3 cells failed to respond to TPO (Fig. 2A). On the other hand, BaF3/mpl cells and BaF3/mpl cells transfected with the parental pCD4 plasmid proliferated in dependence on TPO concentration. In contrast, BaF3/mpl cells expressing mpl-tr failed to show a proliferative response to TPO, behaving similar to parental BaF3 cells. Importantly, mpl-tr did not have a general inhibitory effect on proliferation, because in the presence of IL-3, BaF3/mpl cells expressing mpl-tr grew as efficiently as control cells. The same result was obtained when mpl-tr was expressed in human UT-7 cells that were stably transfected with mpl. In this experiment we used a mpl construct with 5 myc-tags at the N terminus (UT-7/myc-mpl) (Fig. 1). The myc-mpl protein conveyed TPO-responsiveness to UT-7 cells, demonstrating that the myc-tag did not interfere with mpl function (Fig. 2B). When mpl-tr was expressed in UT-7/myc-mpl cells, TPO-mediated proliferation was abolished, but GM-CSF-dependent proliferation remained unchanged. To test whether the observed inhibitory effect could be mediated by secreted mpl-tr protein, medium conditioned by mpl-tr-expressing cells was transferred onto BaF3/mpl cells. TPO-dependent proliferation of BaF3/mpl cells was not inhibited by the presence of this conditioned media (Fig. 2C) demonstrating that no secreted inhibitory activity exists. Since mpl signaling exerts an anti-apoptotic effect, we analyzed the effect of mpl-tr on TPOdependent cell survival. UT-7/myc-mpl cells transfected with either mpl-tr or control vector were cultured with GM-CSF or with TPO. After 48 hours, cells were incubated with annexin V and analyzed by flow cytometry. In the presence of GM-CSF, mpl-tr had no effect on the number of annexin Vpositive cells. However, with TPO, most cells co-expressing mpl and mpl-tr stained positive for annexin V (Fig. 3). This indicates that mpl-tr expression inhibits the anti-apoptotic signal delivered by TPO.

Mpl-tr mediates downmodulation of mpl protein expression in a posttranscriptional manner. To investigate the inhibitory mechanism exerted by mpl-tr, we analyzed the effects of mpl-tr on mpl protein expression. First, we asked whether mpl protein surface expression was affected by the presence of mpl-tr. Cells were stained with anti-myc antibodies (Fig. 4A). As expected,



Fig. 3. Effect of mpl-tr on cell survival. UT-7/myc-mpl cells were transfected with pCD4 (open bars) or pCD4-mpl-tr (black bars) and sorted with anti-CD4 microbeads. Cells were cultured in the presence of GM-CSF or TPO at the indicated concentrations for 48 hours, stained with FITC-labeled annexin V and analyzed by flow cytometry. The results of 3 independent experiments are shown. Error bars indicate the standard deviation.

Fig. 4. Analysis of mpl protein expression in UT-7 cell line. (A) UT-7/myc-mpl cells stably transfected with pCD4 (thick line) or pCD4-mpl-tr (thin line) or the parental UT-7 cells (dotted line) were incubated with the mouse monoclonal anti-myc antibody 9E10 and a secondary FITC-labeled goat antimouse antibody to detect myc-mpl on the plasma membrane. Cells were analyzed by flow cytometry and one representative result is shown. (B) The same UT-7/myc-mpl cells transfected with pCD4 or pCD4-mpl-tr as in (A) were cultured either on 2ng/ml GM-CSF or 2ng/ml TPO for 24 hours and total mpl protein expression in total cell lysate was determined by immunoblot analysis. Proteins of 93 kDa corresponding to myc-mpl and of 55 kDa for mpl-tr were detected. The same membrane was probed for actin to control for equal loading. To determine an effect of mpltr on mpl mRNA expression, the amount of myc-c-mpl mRNA was determined by Q-PCR. The ΔC_T values were derived by subtracting the threshold cycle (C_T) values for c-mpl from the C_T value for RPL19, which serves as an internal control. All reactions were run in duplicates. The ΔC_{T} values are shown underneath the corresponding lanes. (C) 293T cells were transiently transfected with myc-mpl or transiently co-transfected with myc-mpl and mpl-tr or control plasmid, respectively.



UT-7/myc-mpl cells showed marked myc-mpl surface expression. In contrast, the staining of UT-7/myc-mpl cells expressing mpl-tr did not significantly differ from the control staining of the parental UT-7 cells, indicating that mpl-tr interferes with myc-mpl cell surface expression. We then asked whether the lack of detectable myc-mpl surface expression correlated with a decrease in total myc-mpl protein. Immunoblot analysis of total cell lysates demonstrated a massive reduction of myc-mpl protein in cells that expressed mpl-tr (Fig. 4B). The decrease in myc-mpl protein was observed irrespective of whether the cells were grown with TPO or GM-CSF. Importantly, mpl-tr did not alter mpl mRNA levels, as indicated by the unchanged ΔC_T values for mpl (Fig. 4B). Expression of mpl-tr also led to a dramatic decrease in expression of the untagged mpl protein in BaF3/mpl cells without affecting mRNA levels showing that mpl-tr targets mpl protein regardless of the presence of an N-terminal myc-tag (Fig. 6C). To determine whether this phenomenon was limited to hematopoietic cells, we performed transient co-transfections of mpl and mpl-tr cDNAs into human 293T cells. As shown in Fig. 4C, expression of mpl-tr in 293T cells lowered the amount of mpl protein without altering mpl mRNA expression.

Mpl-tr mediates dose-dependent reduction of mpl protein expression and a decrease of mpl protein half-life while steady-state levels of mpl-tr remain unchanged. To quantify the effect of mpl-tr on mpl expression, we transiently co-transfected 293T cells with a constant amount of plasmid encoding mpl and varying amounts of plasmid for the expression of mpl-tr. In this experiment mpl protein amount was affected by mpl-tr in a dosedependent manner (Fig.5 A). Measuring mRNA levels by Q-PCR confirmed that mRNA expression correlated with the amount of plasmid DNA transfected. For example, the mpl-tr (ΔC_T) value for cells transfected with 0.1 µg of mpl-tr was –4. Cells transfected with 30 times the amount of mpl-tr (3 µg) had a mpl-tr (ΔC_T) value of –9. This corresponds to a decrease of 5 CTs which equals 2⁵ = 32 times higher expression of mpl-tr (Fig.5 A).



Fig. 5. Dose response, protein turnover, and sensitivity to protease inhibitors of mpl downregulation. (A) 293T cells were transiently co-transfected with varying amounts of plasmid DNA encoding mpl and mpl-tr (numbers above the lanes indicate DNA amount in mg). Mpl, mpl-tr and actin proteins were detected by immunoblot analysis. The mRNA expression of c-mpl and c-mpl-tr was determined by Q-PCR: ΔC_T values for mpl and mpl-tr are shown below the corresponding lanes of the immunoblots. The amount of mpl DNA was kept constant while the amount of mpl-tr DNA varied. (B) In this experiment, mpl DNA was varied and the amount of mpl-tr DNA was kept constant. (C) Pulse-chase analysis of the turnover of myc-mpl protein in the presence and absence of mpl-tr. 293T cells transiently transfected with pcDNA3-myc-mpl alone (-) or in combination with pcDNA3-mpl-tr (+ mpl-tr) were metabolically labeled with of (48) methionine/ cysteine and then chased in the presence of excess cold methionine and cysteine for 3, 6, 9, and 12 h. The amount of labeled myc-mpl was determined by immuno-precipitation with 9E10 and SDS-gel analysis. (D) UT-7/myc-mpl cells stably transfected with pCD4-mpl-tr were treated with protease inhibitors at a final concentration of 25 mM each or DMSO as indicated. After 6-8 hours of incubation, total cell lysates were subjected to immunoblot analysis. (E) UT-7/myc-mpl cells stably transfected with pCD4 were treated as described for the pCD4mpl-tr transfected cells. (F) 293T cells were transiently co-transfected with mpl and mpl-tr and then treated with CATI-1 or DMSO for 6-8 hours.
In the converse experiment, we transfected 293T cells with a constant amount of mpl-tr and varied the concentration of mpl. We found that steady-state expression of mpl-tr was not altered by the presence of increasing amounts of mpl (Fig. 5B). Since mpl-tr affects the steady state levels of mpl protein, we determined the half-life of mpl by a pulse-chase experiment (Fig. 5C). In the presence of mpl-tr, the half-life of mpl was decreased from 5-6 hours to 2-3 hours (Fig. 5C).



Fig. 6. Functional analysis of the C-terminal peptide of mpl-tr. (A) Schematic draw of mpl-tr protein and two mpl-tr mutants used in this study. The amino acid sequence of the junction and the C-terminal 30 amino acids are shown. In the tr- Δpep_{30} mutant, all C-terminal 30 amino acids of mpl-tr are removed. In the tr-pep_{mpl} mutant, the pep₃₀ peptide is replaced by 30 amino acids derived from the mpl reading frame of exon 11. (B) Proliferation of BaF3/mpl cells stably transfected with pCD4 (open square), pCD4-mpl-tr (filled triangle), pCD4- Δpep_{30} (open triangle), and pCD4-trpep_{mpl} (filled diamond) in the presence of increasing concentrations of IL-3 or TPO (numbers indicate concentration in ng/ml). Error bars indicate the standard deviation. (C) Immunoblot analysis of total lysates from the same cells as in (B). Expression of mpl mRNA is indicated by the ΔC_T values below the corresponding lanes.

The cysteine cathepsin inhibitor I (CATI-1) restores mpl protein expression in the presence of mpl-tr. To identify the mechanism that underlies diminished mpl protein expression in the presence of mpl-tr, we treated mpl-tr transfected UT-7/myc-mpl cells with the cathepsin inhibitor CATI-1, the proteasome inhibitor MG132 or the calpain inhibitors ALLN or EST. Inhibitors were added at a final concentration of 25 μ M each and cells were cultured for 6-8 hours in the presence of GM-CSF. Only CAPI-1 restored mpl protein expression (Fig. 5D), a weak mpl band was detectable with MG132 treatment, whereas the other inhibitors had no effect. None of the inhibitors changed the steady-state mpl protein levels in the UT-7/myc-mpl cells lacking mpl-tr (Fig. 5E). To confirm these results in a different cell system, we also treated 293T cells with CATI-1 and determined mpl protein expression. Similar to UT-7/myc-mpl, 293T cells co-transfected with mpl and mpl-tr showed a rescue of mpl protein expression in the presence of CATI-1 (Fig. 5F). These results argue that mpl-tr mediates mpl protein degradation by a cathepsin-like protease activity.

The C-terminal peptide sequence of mpl-tr is necessary but not sufficient for the inhibition of cell proliferation and for mpl protein **degradation.** The amino acid sequence of mpl-tr is identical to the N terminus of mpl except for a stretch at the C terminus of mpl-tr, 30 amino acids in length (Fig. 1). We therefore speculated that this unique C-terminal peptide in mpl-tr could be of functional importance. To test this hypothesis, we made two mutants of mpl-tr: in the first mutant, Δpep_{30} , we introduced a stop codon at position 427, removing the entire C-terminal peptide (Fig. 6A). In the second mutant, tr-pep_{mpl}, the sequence of the C-terminal peptide was changed by adding two base pairs, which restored the reading frame of full-length mpl and by introducing a stop codon terminating the reading frame after 30 amino acids (Fig. 6A). With these mpl-tr mutants we stably transfected BaF3/mpl cells and assayed TPO-dependent proliferation. As shown in Fig. 6B, only mpl-tr abrogated mpl-mediated cell growth, whereas tr- Δpep_{30} and tr-pep_{mpl} did not interfere with TPO-dependent proliferation. As expected, the mpl-tr mutants did not interfere with the proliferative responses to IL-3 (Fig. 6B). Immunoblot analysis showed that Δpep_{30} and tr-pep_{mpl} were expressed at levels similar to mpl-tr (Fig. 6C). This indicates that the degree of expression does not explain the failure of the mutants to inhibit TPO-dependent growth. Importantly, the levels of mpl protein in cells expressing the mpl-tr mutants were similar to BaF3/mpl control cells, but mpl was undetectable in cells expressing mpl-tr.

These results demonstrate that the C-terminal peptide sequence from mpl-tr is required for the ability of mpl-tr to promote a decrease in mpl protein and to inhibit TPO-dependent cell proliferation. Furthermore, these results illustrate that the function of mpl-tr in growth inhibition directly correlates with its role in mpl protein reduction. To determine whether pep_{30} is sufficient to interfere



Fig. 7. Pep₃₀ sequence alone is not sufficient to inhibit mpl function. (A) Schematic drawing myc-tagged of pep₃₀ and mpl-tr (not to scale). (**B**) Proliferation of BaF3/mpl cells expressing vector alone (pCD4), myc-pep₃₀ and myc-mpl-tr. **(C)** Immunoblot of total cell lysates probed with antimyc (9E10), antimpl and anti-actin antibodies.

with TPO-induced proliferation and to mediate mpl degradation, we generated a myc-tagged versions of pep₃₀ and mpl-tr (Fig. 7A). Myc-pep₃₀ did not affect TPO-dependent proliferation (Fig. 7B) nor alter the expression levels of mpl protein (Fig. 7C), whereas myc-mpl-tr behaved comparable to untagged mpltr. Thus, pep₃₀ sequence alone is not sufficient to inhibit mpl function.

Discussion

Alternatively spliced cytokine receptor variants are emerging as regulators of cytokine signaling ^{36-38,68,109,110}. The c-mpl locus gives rise to the full-length mpl protein and the mpl-tr isoform, which is present in both human and mouse ^{72,74,77}. Here, we characterized mpl-tr as a specific inhibitor for TPO-dependent proliferation and described a novel mechanism of receptor protein downmodulation mediated by an alternate isoform of the same receptor through a cathepsin-like protease activity.

Alternatively spliced isoforms are frequently found among members of the cytokine receptor superfamily and most family members have been shown to be capable of giving rise to soluble forms ⁶³. So far, two functions have been assigned to soluble cytokine receptor isoforms: soluble receptors can prolong the half-life of the ligand and activate signal transduction by associating with a transmembrane receptor complex, as exemplified by the soluble IL-6 receptor ^{111,112}. Alternatively, soluble receptors can act as antagonists of their membrane-bound counterparts by binding and neutralizing the ligand, e.g. IL-5 or GM-CSF ^{65,66,113,114}. In either model, the function of the soluble receptor is dependent on its secretion. However, the serum levels of some soluble receptor are low or undetectable ^{63,115}, suggesting additional functions of soluble receptors as non-secreted forms.

Because the deletion in mpl-tr removes the transmembrane domain, mpl-tr is expected to give rise to a secreted form, which might antagonize mpl signaling by sequestering TPO. However, this model cannot explain the observed dominant-negative effect of mpl-tr for three reasons: 1) mpl-tr could not be detected in the cell supernatant ⁷⁴; 2) high concentrations of TPO did not titrate out the effect of mpl-tr (Fig. 2); and 3) media conditioned by mpl-tr expressing cells did not affect TPO-dependent growth of BaF3/mpl cells (Fig. 2C).

We demonstrated that over-expression of mpl-tr leads to a dramatic decrease in mpl protein amounts, which can explain the dominant negative effect of mpl-tr on TPO-dependent cell proliferation and survival. The decrease in mpl protein was not due to differences in c-mpl mRNA expression (Fig. 4 and 5). A **Results I**

specific inhibitor for cysteine protease cathepsins, CATI-1, can counteract the effects of mpl-tr and restore full-length mpl protein expression. In contrast, inhibitors of Ca²⁺-dependent cysteine proteases, ALLN and EST, had no detectable effect on mpl protein amounts. It is therefore tempting to speculate that in the presence of mpl-tr, mpl traffics to the lysosome where it is degraded. The small increase in mpl expression in the presence of the proteasomal inhibitor MG132 may be explained by the finding that some receptor trafficking events from endosomes to lysosomes require a functional proteasome ^{116,117}.

The observed effects of mpl-tr appear to specifically target the mpl protein, since IL-3 and GM-CSF dependent cell proliferation and survival were not affected. This specificity could be based on an inherent capability of the extracellular domains of cytokine receptors to form dimers. It has been shown by crystallography that Epo-R form dimers in the absence of ligand ¹⁹. In analogy to the structure-function studies performed for Epo-R, we expect that the extracellular portion of mpl-tr is sufficient to allow hetero-dimerization with the full-length form of mpl. So far, we have been unable to detect this physical interaction through co-immunoprecipitation (data not shown), possibly because the interaction is only transient.

We demonstrated that the unique sequence at the C terminus of mpl-tr is essential for mediating mpl degradation. In one possible scenario, the C terminus of mpl-tr prevents the secretion of mpl-tr and directs the putative mpl/mpl-tr dimer to traffic along the endosomal-lysosomal route. Increasing acidification of the endosomal vesicle could cause the hetero-dimer to disassemble allowing mpl-tr to be recycled. This model would explain why mpl-tr protein expression is apparently not affected by the presence of mpl protein (Fig. 5B). Further structure function analysis the C-terminal sequence of mpl-tr should allow us to define a minimal functional peptide motif.

Alternatively, mpl-tr may interfere with proper folding of mpl. In both mammalian cells and in yeast it has been shown that a post-ER quality control mechanism appears to be responsible for targeting and lysosomal/ vacuolar degradation of misfolded membrane proteins ¹¹⁸⁻¹²¹. The presence of a cytosolic portion may be a prerequisite for the detection of partly unfolded mpl by the post-ER quality surveillance system. Since mpl-tr only contains the

40

luminal portion of mpl, it may evade detection by the quality control system. This would explain why mpl-tr steady state levels are not altered in the presence of full-length mpl.

Cytokine receptor variants may be important in the regulation of receptor function. Interestingly, Nakamura et al. demonstrated that transgenic mice overexpressing the intracytoplasmic truncated erythropoietin-receptor isoform EpoR-T reveal mild anemia ¹⁰⁹. Because overexpression of EpoR-T diminishes the number of erythrocytes in the mouse, these results suggest a role of cytokine receptor variants as regulators of proliferation and differentiation *in vivo*.

In this study, we have demonstrated that an alternate mpl isoform (mpl-tr) exerts a dominant negative effect on proliferation and survival. Because mpl-tr is an abundant c-mpl splice variant accounting for about 30% of total mpl mRNA in mouse spleen ⁷⁴, mpl-tr is likely to play a physiological role in megakaryopoiesis. Differential expression has been shown for alternatively spliced isoforms of cytokine receptors like IL-5 receptor and GM-CSF receptor ^{110,122}. The relative expression of different isoforms of the same cytokine receptor can determine cell differentiation and cell lineage expansion ^{110,123}. In analogy to isoforms of other receptors, we speculate that the relative expression of c-mpl-tr varies with different cell types and developmental stages and that this serves to modulate mpl function.

Substitution of the endogenous *mpl* locus by an mpl transgene causes thrombocytosis in the mouse

Jörn Coers, Sandra Ziegler, Johannes Schenkel, Frederic J. de Sauvage, Carl W. Jackson and Radek C. Skoda*

Department of Research, Experimental Hematology, Basel University Hospitals, Hebelstrasse 20, 4031 Basel, Switzerland.

F.J. de Sauvage, Department of Oncology, Genetech Inc., 460 Point San Bruno Blvd., South san Francisco, CA 94080, USA

Carl W. Jackson, St Jude Children's Research Hospital, Memphis, USA

Running title: Absence of c-mpl isoforms causes thrombocythosis in the mouse Key words: Mpl, thrombopoietin, splicing, receptor, thrombocythosis,

Abstract

Multiple mechanisms for the downmodulation of cytokine receptor signaling are known. These include post-translational modifications of JAK and STAT molecules, dephosphorylation of receptor tyrosines and the effects of dominant-negative cytokine receptor isoforms. Thrombopoietin (TPO) and its receptor c-mpl are essential for normal megagkaryopoiesis and play an additional role in regulating hematopoietic stem cell numbers in vivo. We have recently characterized the alternate mpl variant mpl-tr as a dominant-negative isoform, which specifically inhibits TPO-dependent cell proliferation and survival signaling. To test for the *in vivo* function of alternative mpl isoforms, we generated mice expressing full-length mpl as a transgene in a mpl knockout background. These mice express mpl full-length as the only mpl isoform and develop severe thrombocytosis with platelet numbers, elevated about five times higher than normal. The reintroduction of the endogenous mpl allele restores normal platelet counts and we attribute this to the in vivo effect of dominant-negative mpl isoforms. A mpl knock-in allele, which does not express mpl-tr but still expresses the second known alternate variant of murine mpl, mpl-II, normalizes platelet numbers, similar to the endogenous mpl allele. This result demonstrates that the absence of mpl-tr is not sufficient to cause thrombocytosis. We propose that mpl-II is an additional dominantnegative mpl isoform and attenuates the expansion of the megakarocytic lineage in vivo.

43

Introduction

Of the many cells in the body, the hematopoietic cells are among those with the highest rate of self-renewal and turnover. The production and destruction of these cells are tightly controlled by a number of hematopoietic growth factors. Interestingly, many of these hematopoietic growth factors have primarily lineage-restricted effects as demonstrated in knockout analyses. For example, gene deletion of erythropoietin (EPO) or of its receptor Epo-R lead to a specific reduction in erythrocytes ¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶. Similarly, the disruption of G-CSF and G-CSF-R expression solely affects granulopoiesis ¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹. Finally, thrombopoietin (TPO) and TPO-R deficiencies result in a profound reduction of platelet and bone marrow megakaryocyte numbers, but do not significantly alter megakaryocyte differentiation ^{82,130,131}. Although it is clear that the primary function of TPO is to regulate platelet numbers, several lines of evidence indicate that this cytokine modulates multiple aspects of hematopoiesis. Importantly, all hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) are positive for mpl expression and genetic elimination of mpl reduces the numbers of murine HSCs by 7-8 fold ⁸⁶. In humans, null mutations in mpl lead to congenital amegakaryocytic thrombocytpenia, a disorder that almost invariably leads to aplastic anemia ¹³²⁻¹³⁴. Together, these findings suggest that mpl activity supports mostly the expansion of HSC and megakaryocytic precursors, but has little importance in megakaryocytic differentiation. In this context, it is worthwhile remembering that the c-mpl gene was first discovered as the cellular homolog of the retroviral oncogene v-mpl ^{71,72,74}, emphasising the primary role of mpl as a transducer of a proliferation signal. Because cytokines like mpl are potent growth factors, stringent mechanisms of signal attenuation are essential for ensuring an appropriate, controlled cellular response. Several protein tyrosine phosphatases including SHIP-1, CD45, and PTP1b have been shown to be negative regulators of cytokine signaling ^{62,135}. Members of the suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) family of proteins act in a negative feedback loop, inhibiting the cytokine activated Janus kinase/ signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/ STAT) signaling pathway to modulate cellular responses ¹³⁶. Thirdly, protein

Results I

inhibitors of activated STAT (PIAS) bind activated STAT dimers and block transcription in a process that may involve sumoylation of STATs ⁵⁷. An additional mechanism of modulating the cytokine response is the expression of alternative cytokine receptor variants, which act as dominantnegative isoforms ^{68,109,137}. Mechanistically, dominant-negative receptor variants can form non-functional heterodimers with the full-length receptor or, when expressed as secreted 'soluble' isoforms, compete with the receptor for ligand binding ⁶³. We have recently discovered a third mechanism, in which the mpl isoform mpl-tr mediates protein degradation of the full-length receptor by a cathepsin-like cysteine protease activity (Coers et al., *in press*). Altered expression of alternative spliced mRNA variants has been linked to a number of diseases ¹³⁸. We were therefore interested in determining whether mpl isoforms are important for normal megakaryopoiesis. To address this question we generated mice which express c-mpl under the control of the mpl promoter in a mpl knockout background, thereby deleting all alternate isoforms while retaining full-length mpl receptor expression. These mice have platelet numbers elevated five fold compared to wild type and show additional characteristics which are reminiscent of human essential thrombocythemia (ET), a myeloid disorder characterized by a persistent increase in circulating platelets. Expression of the endogenous mpl allele in these thrombocthemic mice restores the wild type phenotype, showing that the mpl allele contains a dominant-negative property. A mpl knock-in allele, which does not express mpl-tr but retains expression of the alternate isoform mpl-II⁸⁰, acts similar to the endogenous mpl allele in reducing the number of platelets. This demonstrates that an additional dominant-negative mpl isoform other than mpl-tr must exist and we propose that this isoform is the recently described mpl variant mpl-II.

45

Materials and Methods

Generation of transgenic mice

To generate the transgenic construct, a 2kb *Hind* III-*Apa* I promoter fragment was isolated from a lambda FIX II genomic DNA library and subcloned into pKS II. The mpl cDNA was added as a blunt ended fragment into an EcoRV site. At the 3' end an SV40 polyadenylation signal was added. The transgenic construct was excised as a *Xho I-Not I* fragment. The resulting 5kb fragment, which contains no vector sequences, was used for oocyte microinjection. We have generated 5 transgenic founder mice in the B6D₂F₁ strain (BRL, Switzerland) by standard oocyte injection.

Blood and tissue analysis

Blood was obtained by cardiac puncture without anticoagulants. Approximately 500 μ l of blood was immediately mixed with EDTA and blood counts were performed with an automated blood counter (Technicon H-3, Bayer Diagnostics, Tarrytown, NY). For mouse TPO ELISA (mouse TPO Quantikine kit, R&D Systems), the remaining blood was either also mixed with EDTA to obtain plasma or allowed to coagulate and serum was collected. For histology, freshly dissected tissues were fixed in Optimal*Fix (American Histology Reagent Co., Stockton, CA). Fixed specimens were embedded in paraffin, sectioned, and stained by the Transgenic Pathology laboratory at the University of California at Davis. Megakaryocyte frequency was determined by two-color flow cytometry as described in (Arnold et al., 1997). In brief, bone marrow cells from one femur and one tibia were isolated in CATCH (0.84 mM adenosine, 2 mM theophilline, 0.38% sodium citrate, 3.5 % BSA and mM Hepes in Hanks BSS (GIBCO) at pH 7.0). Cells were filtered through a 100 µm nylon mesh. Megakaryocytic cells were stained using the monoclonal 4A5 rat anti-mouse platelet antibody and a Tago FITC-goat anti rat IgG F(ab')2 antibody. Staining was performed for each antibody at 4°C for 30 minutes. Samples for electron microscopy were processed essential as described ¹³⁹. In brief, spleen tissue was diced into pieces of roughly one square millimeter fixed for 1 hour in 3% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 mol/L phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, washed, and embedded in Epon. Ultrathin sections were collected on grids and imaged using a Philips Morgani 268D electron microscope. Representative fields of sections performed on the entire samples were chosen for illustration.

Clonal culture of hematopoietic progenitors

Clonal cultures of hematopoietic cells were performed as described ¹⁴⁰. Briefly, to assay for myeloid and granulocytic progenitors, 5x10⁴ bone marrow cells for wild type and knockout animals or 2.5x10⁴ bone marrow cells for transgenic animals were placed in 0.3% agar in Iscove's modified Dulbecco's medium (IMDM) supplemented with 20% horse serum and 10mg/ml BSA (Boehringer Mannheim) and stimulated with Hemostim M2100 at a final

concentration of 2% (StemCell Technologies, Inc.) and 100ng/ml human G-CSF (Roche). These conditions resulted in optimal stimulation of neutrophil (G), neutrophil-macrophage (GM), and macrophage (M) colony forming cells. To assess the number of megakaryocytic (Meg) progenitors, $2x10^5$ and $1x10^5$ bone marrow cells, respectively were grown in 0.3% agar under serum free conditions ¹⁴⁰ and were stimulated with 2% Hemostim M2100 and 10% of serum free conditioned media of a TPO expressing NIH/3T3 cell line ⁸⁴. Finally, to assess erythroid colony growth $5x10^4$ and $2.5x10^4$ bone marrow cells were cultured in 2.7% methylcellulose in IMDM supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1mg/ml BSA and stimulated with 2% Hemostim M2100 and 2.7 U/ml EPO (Eprex). The cultures were incubated for 7 days at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO₂. Myeloid, granulocytic and erythroid colonies were scored for morphology, whereas CFU-Meg were identified using a histochemical staining for acetylcholinesterase. Colonies containing at least five acetylcholinesterase positive cells were scored as CFU-meg ¹⁴¹.

RNA isolation and ribonuclease protection assay

Spleen tissue was homogenized in 4 M guanidium isothiocyanate with a Polytron homogenizer and RNA samples were prepared by the acid phenol method ¹⁴². For ribonuclease (RNase) protection analysis ¹⁴³, we constructed a riboprobe for the detection of the transgenic and the endogenous mpl mRNA by subcloning a 368 bp PCR fragment of mouse mpl cDNA into pBluescript. As primers we used 5'-CTCGCTTCCAGACCTACACC-3' and 5'-GGATAAGGTAGT GTGTAGGA-3'. The resulting vector was digested with Hind III, transcribed with T7 RNA polymerase and hybridized to 30µg of total RNA at 50°C as described ¹⁴³. This riboprobe protects a 368 nucleotides (nt) fragment for the endogenous mpl cDNA and a shorter 318 nt fragment for transgenic mpl transcripts. RNA loading was normalized with a riboprobe for mouse hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyl transferase (HPRT), a house keeping gene. A. Sca I - Hind III fragment representing nucleotides 679 to 840 of mouse HPRT cDNA ¹⁴⁴ was subcloned into pBluescript. This probe protects a 161 nt fragment. HPRT riboprobe was mixed with the mpl riboprobe and added as an internal standard to each sample. Protected fragments were separated on 6% polyacrylamide / 8M urea sequencing gels. Dried gels were exposed to phosphorimager screens and quantitations of radioactive bands were performed on a phosphorimager 425 using the ImageQuant software (Molecular Dynamics Inc., Sunnyvale, CA).

Platelet and megakaryocyte isolation

For platelet isolation, blood was drawn by cardiac puncture into a syringe containing 3,8% Citrate. Platelet rich plasma (PRP) and afterwards pure platelets were isolated by centrifugation at 350g and 1300g, respectively, for 10 minutes. Platelets were then washed with PBS and purity was determined by automated blood counter (Technicon H-3, Bayer Diagnostics, Tarrytown, NY). For megakaryocyte isolation, two femurs per mouse were flushed with CATCH medium (129 mM NaCl, 8.614 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.6 mM KH₂PO₄, 0,4% Na-

citrate, 11.1 mM glucose, 1mM adenosine, 2 mM theophilline, 2.3 μ M PGE1 and 1% BSA). 4ml of a single bone marrow cell suspension was then mixed with 3 ml of Percoll/ PBS (1.02g/ ml, Pharmacia), gently layered on top of 4 ml Percoll/ PBS (1.05 g/ml, Pharmacia) and spun for 20 minutes at 400g. The interface was then collected and washed with CATCH buffer. Finally the purity of the megakaryocyte preparation was assessed by acetylcholine esterase stain of a cytospin.

Protein expression in platelets and megakaryocytes

Isolated platelets and megakaryocytes were lysed by boiling 5 minutes at 94° C in 2xSDS Page loading buffer at a concentration of $2x10^6$ platelets/µl and 50'000 megakaryocytes/ µl. Protein lysates were then separated by SDS Page and transferred to nitrocellulose by Western Blot. The membranes were blocked with 4% non-fat dry milk in PBS/ 0.05% Tween 20 and incubated overnight at 4°C with 1:5'000 diluted biotinylated monoclonal mouse anti mpl antibody (kindly provided by F. de Sauvage). After three washes with PBS/ 0.05% Tween 20 the membranes were incubated with 1:1000 diluted horseradish peroxidase-coupled streptavidine and washed. Enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) was detected following the instructions of the manufacturer (Amersham, Buckinghamshire, England). Before reprobing the membranes were stripped for 30 minutes at 50°C in 62.5 mM Tris HCl (pH 6.8), 2% SDS, 100mM β -mercaptoethanol, blocked in 4% non-fat dry milk and incubated with biotinylated 4A5 rat anti-mouse platelet monoclonal antibody.

Results

Generation of transgenic mice expressing full-length mpl. To assess the contribution of alternate mpl isoforms to megakaryopoiesis and platelet production *in vivo*, we have generated transgenic mice expressing full-length mpl in a mpl knockout background. The transgenic construct consists of a 2kb mpl promoter, which directs expression specifically to the megakaryocytic lineage ¹⁴⁵, murine mpl cDNA and an SV40 polyadenylation signal at the 3' end of the constructs for stability of the construct (Fig. 1A). The construct was then injected into oocytes. We obtained five founders and detected mpl transgene (mpl-TG) expression in three (Table 1). These mice are viable, fertile and show no overt abnormalities. They were then backcrossed into the mpl knockout background.

Analysis of transgene expression in mouse tissues. To verify that the mpl-TG was expressed properly, we isolated RNA from mouse spleens. To distinguish between the mpl-TG and endogenous mpl, an RNase protection assay was performed. The riboprobe protects a 368 nt fragment for the endogenous mpl transcrpt and a shorter 318 nt fragment for the mpl-TG transcript (Fig. 1B). RNA loading was normalized with a riboprobe for mouse hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyl transferase (HPRT), a house-keeping gene. Fig 1C shows that the mpl-TG is expressed at levels comparable to endogenous mpl in non-transgenic wild type controls. To our surprise we could also detect endogenous mpl mRNA in mpl knockout mice. This is explained by the gene-targeting strategy used for the generation of these mice, which consisted of an insertion of a *neo*-casette in exon 3 of mpl⁸². Further analysis showed that the mpl mRNA expressed in these mpl knockout mice lacks exons 1 and 2 of mpl (data not shown), which are upstream of the neo-cassette insertion. It is therefore likely that the mpl mRNA found in these mice is expressed off the promoter of the neo-cassette. When tested for proper targeting, protein expression and responsiveness to TPO, these mice proved to be true knockouts⁸¹ (and data not shown).



Fig. 1. Transgene expression (**A**) A 2kb *Hind* III-*Apa* I mpl promoter fragment drives the expression of the mpl TG. (**B**) To distinguish between the TG and endogenous mpl, an RNase protection assay was performed. The riboprobe protects a 368 nt fragment for the endogenous mpl cDNA and a shorter 318 nt fragment for transgenic mpl transcripts. (**C**) RNA from mouse spleen tissue of the indicated genotpye was used for an RNase protection assay. Protected fragments corresponding to endogenous mpl and mpl TG mRNAs are depicted. Loading was normalized with a riboprobe for mouse HPRT. (**D**) Immunoblotting blotting for mpl protein in isolated megakaryocytes.

number of TG strains	number of strains expressing	platelet	npl ko/ko	
	the TG	backgro	und (x 10 ⁶	/ml)
		а	b	b
5	3	5034	6165	3367

Table 1. Five transgenic founder mice were obtained after oocyte injection. Three of the five resulting mouse strains tested positive for TG expression and were backcrossed into the mpl ko/ko background. All three lines had clearly elevated platelet numbers.

Next, we isolated megakaryocytes from the bone marrow of mpl-TG mice and wild type controls. In Western blot analysis a strong signal of approximately 80 kDa was detected in wild type megakaryocytes, as expected. This band was absent in the knockout (Fig. 1D). As observed in Fig.1D, the transgenic version of mpl protein is expressed at levels similar to the non-transgenic wild type molecule in megakaryocytes.



Fig. 2 Platelet counts and megakaryocytic precursors in transgenic mice. (A) Platelet counts in circulating blood from wild type (wt), and transgenic (TG) and non-transgenic mpl (-) knockout mice (ko/ko). (B) Frequency of megakaryocytes in bone marrow from the same mice was determined by flow cytometry. (C) CFU-Meg assays were performed to determine the number of megakaryocytic precursors.

Blood cell counts and progenitor analysis. To investigate the effect of the removal of alternate mpl isoforms on the production of platelets, complete blood cell counts were performed. While the absence of mpl in knockout mice leads to a 90% reduction in platelet count ^{82,83}, mice expressing the full-length receptor as a mpl-TG in the mpl knockout background have elevated platelet levels compared to wild type mice (Fig. 2A and Table 1). The presence of the mpl-TG leads to a five fold increase in platelet numbers compared to normal. Similarly, the megakaryocyte percentage (Fig. 2B) and the frequency of megakaryocytic precursors (Fig. 2C) in the bone marrow is increased in transgenic animals. The aberration in cell numbers is restricted to the megakaryocytic lineage and circulating blood cell numbers are otherwise normal (Table 2). Further, we found that all the hematopoietic progenitor

numbers are elevated in TG-mpl expressing mice compared to the wild type control (Table 3). This increase in progenitor frequency in the transgenic mice is probably due to mpl expression on hematopoietic stem cells, as previously described ^{86,146}. Consequently, enhancement of the HSC pool through mpl-TG signals can explain the increase in progenitor numbers. The expression off the mpl promoter is, however, downregulated in lineage restricted progenitor cells other than the megakaryocytic progenitor cells ⁸⁶ and therefore no further amplification of blood cells different from the megakaryocytic lineage is likely to be supported by the mpl-TG. This would explain why the numbers of circulating blood cells in mpl knockout mice expressing the mpl-TG are in the normal range (Table 2).

		mpl locus										
	+/+				+ / ko				ko / ko			
TG		HGB	WBC	platelets		HGB	WBC	platelets		HGB	WBC	platelets
	n	g / dl	x(10 ⁶ /ml)	x(10 ⁶ /ml)	n	g / dl	x(10 ⁶ /ml)	x(10 ⁶ /ml	n	g / dl	x(10 ⁶ /ml)	x(10 ⁶ /ml)
non e	12	14.1 ± 0.1	14.3 ± 0.7	1'180 ± 50	5	12.3 ± 0.5	7.4 ± 0.8	1'665 ± 40	5	14.2 ± 0.9	6.7 ± 1.7	208 ± 30
mpl	10	14.5 ± 0.2	13.1 ± 2.1	1'390 ± 70	5	14.5 ± 0.7	10.9 ± 0.5	1944 ± 100	5	12.9 ± 0.4	9.5 ± 0.8	5'248 ± 320

Table 2. Blood was obtained from non-transgenic and transgenic mice by cardiac puncture and analyzed as described in Materials and Methods. Shown are the concentrations of hemoglobin (HGB), and the numbers of white blood cells (WBC) and platelets. The mice were either homozygous for the endogenous mpl allele (+/+), or heterozygous (ko/+) or homozgous (ko/ko) for the mpl knockout allele.

Histopathology of mpl-TG mice. Morphologically and functionally, platelets and megakaryocytes in transgenic mice are normal. We could not observe changes in platelet activation or in megakaryocyte ploidy, a measure for the maturation stage of megakaryocytes (data not shown). Histopathological analysis of transgenic mice, however, revealed not only an increase of megakaryocytes in bone marrow but in spleen (Fig. 3). Furthermore, the spleen sections contained aggregates of small particles (Fig. 3). To identify

the nature of these particles, electron microscopic analysis of spleen sections was performed. In mice carrying the mpl-TG but not in wild type controls, we detected areas containing densely packed platelets, as identified by size, morphology, and the presence of usually one identifiable dense granule per platelet ¹³⁹ (Fig. 4). Moreover, the spleens in mpl-TG animals are enlarged (data not shown), which can be explained by the congestion of the spleen with platelets and the increase in megakaryopoiesis.



Fig. 3 Platelet-like particles are found in the spleen of transgenic mice. Representative sections show an increase in the number of megakaryocytes (big arrow) in spleen of transgenic (ko/ko TG-mpl) compared to wild type mice (wt). The small arrow points at aggregates of small platelet-like particles, which are only found in transgenic mice.

TPO levels in circulation and c-mpl expression on platelets. In

experimental murine models, it has been shown that TPO over-expression causes thrombocythosis *in vivo* ^{147,148}. Further, mutations in the TPO gene, which result in elevated TPO plasma levels, are the underlying cause of one form of hereditary thrombocythemia in humans ^{149,150}. We therefore tested whether TPO levels in circulation were altered in mice expressing the mpl-TG. We found that this was not the case (Fig. 5A). Therefore, higher levels of circulating TPO do not cause the observed thrombocytosis. Contrarily, it would have been expected that thrombocythemic mice have reduced TPO plasma levels due to increased platelet numbers, because platelets have been shown to play a key role in plasma clearance of TPO ⁸⁴. It has been demonstrated that platelets actively bind TPO via mpl, and internalize and

degrade the protein ^{151,152}. This situation, where thrombocytosis is accompanied by normal TPO levels, resembles human ET. In patients with ET, for reasons not yet understood, expression of c-mpl protein is dramatically reduced in platelets, which may account for the normal or slightly elevated TPO levels in circulation ¹⁵³. We therefore tested mpl-TG protein expression on platelets (Fig 5B). Despite the equal expression levels on megakaryocytes, mpl-TG protein expression is reduced on platelets. The expression of mpl-TG mRNA levels is, however, similar to endogenous mpl mRNA in non-transgenic wild type controls (data not shown). This indicates that the transgenic protein is less stable or less efficiently translated. Factor independent growth of megakaryocytic progenitors as a second possible explanations for the observed thrombocytosis could also be ruled, because CFU-Meg cultures of bone marrow cells derived from transgenic aimals are TPO-dependent (data not shown).

mpl locus	TG	n	total number of cells/ femur (x 10 ⁶)	CFU-G per 5 x 10⁴ cells	CFU-GM per 5 x 10⁴ cells	CFU-M per 5 x 10 ⁴ cells	BFU-E per 5 x 10⁴ cells
+ / +	none	3	26.7 ± 4.5	4.3 ± 0.7	3.3 ± 0.9	56 ± 5.8	5.3 ± 1.6
ko / ko	none	3	31.1 ± 3.2	2.5 ± 0.8	1.5 ± 0.3	52 ± 3.4	3.5 ± 0.8
ko / ko	mpl	3	18.5 ± 1.4	12.0 ± 3.1	6.0 ± 1.2	147 ± 20.6	9.7 ± 3.2

Table 3. Bone marrow cells form different mouse strains were cultured as described under Materials and Methods. Colony forming units (CFUs) for neutrophil (G), neutrophil-macrophage (GM), and macrophage (M) as well as burst forming units for erythrocytes (E) were scored. Bone marrow cells from three mice were analyzed for each genotype.







Fig. 4 Electronmicrographs of spleen. Spleen tissues of wild type and transgenic knockout mice were processed for electron microscopy. In transgenic but not in wild type spleen, areas with densely packed platelets were identified. The large arrow indicates the boundaries of platelets. The small arrow points at a dense granule within a platelet.

Endogenous mpl locus restores platelet count to wild type levels. Mice expressing full-length mpl as a transgene in a mpl knockout background lack all alternate mpl isoforms. To address the question whether the observed thrombocythemia is caused by the absence of alternative mpl isoforms, we reintroduced the endogenous mpl locus into the thrombocythemic mice, which are homozygous for the mpl knckout allele. The resulting transgenic mice, which are heterozygous for the endogenous locus, show platelet numbers similar to their non-transgenic littermates (Fig. 6A). Along the same lines, no difference exists between the number of megakaryocytic precursors of transgenic and non-transgenic ko/+ mice, as assessed by CFU-Meg assays (Fig. 6B). These results suggest that the endogenous mpl locus exerts a dominant-negative effect over the mpl-TG.



Fig. 5 TPO serum levels are normal in transgenic mice. (A) Serum TPO levels were determined as described in Materials and Methods. Because platelets sequester and thereby diminish the concentration of TPO through binding of TPO to mpl protein, TPO serum levels are elevated in mpl knockout mice. However, transgenic mice, albeit having five times higher platelet numbers compared to wild type mice, show TPO levels that are similar to wild type mice. (B) Immunoblotting for protein shows mpl that thromobocythemic transgenic mice (ko/ko TG-mpl) express mpl protein at much lower levels than wild type mice (wt).

Lack of mpl-tr is not sufficient to cause thrombocythosis. Two murine alternate mpl isoforms have been identified: mpl-tr⁷⁴ and mpl-II⁸⁰. We have recently characterized one of these variants, mpl-tr, as a dominant-negative regulator of mpl function (Coers et al, *in press*). One possible way to explain the observed thrombocythemic phenotype is the absence of mpl-tr. To test this hypothesis, we took advantage of the existence of the mpl allele, $\Delta 60$. This allele was generated using the knock-in approach to replace exons 11 and 12 encoding the intracellular region of c-mpl with a cDNA fragment encoding only the first half of the cytoplasmic signaling domain ¹⁵⁴ (Fig. 7A).



Fig. 6 Endogenous *mpl* locus reverts thrombocythemic phenotype in transgenic mice. (A) The platelet counts of non-transgenic (white boxes) and transgenic (black boxes) mice in the absence (ko/ko) and presence (ko/+) of the endogenous mpl locus are shown. Platelet counts were determined of at least 5 mice for each genotype. (B) The same mice were analyzed for the number of megakaryocytic precursors in the bone marrow, as determined in CFU-Meg assays, as described in Materials and Methods.

Mice homozygous for $\Delta 60$ have, by and large, normal platelet counts, showing that the last 60 C-terminal amino acids of mpl are not essential for normal mpl function *in vivo* ¹⁵⁴. Because the splice acceptor for the generation of mpl-tr is removed in the $\Delta 60$ allele, mpl-tr is expected to be absent in mice homozygous for $\Delta 60$ (Fig 7A). Using 3' RACE, we could confirm lack of mpl-tr (data not shown). We also confirmed the expression of the mpl-II variant in $\Delta 60$ homozygous mice (data not shown). Next, transgenic ko/ko mice were backcrossed with mice homozygous for $\Delta 60$ to obtain transgenic and non-transgenic mice with a ko/ $\Delta 60$ mpl genotype. Like the wild type mpl alelle, the $\Delta 60$ allele reduced platelet counts of mpl-TG animals by about 70 % (Fig. 7B), demonstrating that a dominant-negative mpl isoform different from mpl-tr must exist.

57

А





Fig. 7 Absence of mpl-tr does not cause thrombocythemia. (A) Schemata of the 3' region of the mpl locus: the boxes represent exons. A line connecting exon 8 with exon 7 indicates the splicing event generating the dominant negative variant mpl-tr. In the $\Delta 60$ allele, exons 10 and 11 are removed. As consequence, mpl-tr is not generated from this allele. (B) Platelet numbers are shown of non-transgenic (white boxes) and transgenic (black boxes) mice expressing different combinations of mpl alleles, as indicated. As shown, platelet numbers are five times the wild type counts in the absence of the endogenous mpl (ko/ko). When the wild type allele (ko/+) or the $\Delta 60$ (ko/ $\Delta 60$) allele is backcrossed into these mice, platelet numbers decrease by about 70% to numbers similar to platelet counts in wild type mice (+/+).

Discussion

The precise mechanism by which hematopoietic progenitor cells proliferate, mature and enter blood circulation is not known. Cytokines can stimulate cell proliferation ⁹³⁻⁹⁵ or instruct cell fate determination ^{91,92}. The cytokine thrombopoietin and its receptor c-mpl are the principal regulators of megakaryopoiesis ^{74,155-157}. Mice deficient in TPO or its receptor continue to produce functional platelets, albeit at much lower levels ^{82,83,131}, suggesting that c-mpl mainly controls quantitative aspects of megakaryopoiesis. Consistently, studies done in knock-in animals, where the intracellular domains of c-mpl and G-CSF-R have been interchanged, also indicate that TPO supports thrombopoiesis primarily by promoting proliferation of megakaryocytic progenitors ⁹⁴. Because hyperproliferation of the megakaryocytic lineage is often observed in

myeloproliferative disease, it is of particular interest to understand how the TPO signal is attenuated. One negative regulator of megakaryopoiesis is transfoming growth factor-beta ¹⁵⁸, which reduces TPO-induced STAT5 and ERK1/ERK2 activity ¹⁵⁹. Additionally, interferon-alpha directly inhibits TPO induced cell growth, possibly by inducing SOCS-1 expression and inhibiting JAK2 ¹⁶⁰. However, the *in vivo* importance of these hormone in regulating thrombopoiesis in largely undetermined.

Alternatively spliced cytokine receptor variants have emerged as important regulators of cytokine signaling ³⁶⁻³⁸. Recently, we have characterized the alternate mpl isoform mpl-tr as a dominant-negative regulator of TPO dependent proliferation and survival signaling. To test for the importance of alternate mpl isoform *in vivo*, we generated transgenic mice, which express only the full-length mpl isoform. Interestingly, these mice show an expansion of the number of megakaryocytic progenitors and have five times elevated platelet counts. We have found that the reintroduction of the endogenous mpl allele restored platelet counts to normal, demonstrating that the mpl allele contains a dominant-negative regulator of thrombopoiesis.



Fig. 8 The three known mouse mpl isoforms are shown in a schematic drawing. The full-length mpl receptor consists of two cytokine receptor homology modules (CRH) in the extracellular portion, transmembrane domain and a an intracellular signaling domain. An alternative splice acceptor site in exon 4 generates the isoform mpl-II with an inframe deletion of 60 amino acids between the two conserved cysteine pairs in the distal CRH. The deleted region is probably important in ligand binding. The third isoform, mpl-tr, is due to alternative splicing of exon 8 directly to exon 11, eliminating the juxtamembrane WSXWS motif, the transmembrane domain, and the intracellular domain. Due to a frame-shift at the splicing site, the C-terminus of mpltr consists of a peptide of unique sequence, 30 amino acids in length. This peptide is required for the anti-proliferative response mediated by mpl-tr.

Two different mpl knockout alleles exist. Alexander et al. generated a genuine mpl knockout allele, removing a 2.6 kb fragment was removed bearing exons 1 to 5 and the core mpl promoter ⁸³. Expression of the mpl TG in mice homozygous for this mpl null allele causes severe thrombocythosis (Kaushansky, personel communication), in agreement with our observation. The knockout allele used in this study has a neo-cassette inserted in mpl exon 3⁸². It is unlikely that the chromatin organisation in the vicinity of the mpl gene is drastically altered by either the neo-cassette insertion or by the deletion of five mpl exons. However, both knockout alleles lack components that restrict the expansion of the megakaryocytic lineage. Therefore, the inhibitory regulator of thrombopoiesis must be expressed by the endogenous mpl locus. We propose that dominant-negative mpl isoforms constitute this inhibitory effect on megakaryopoiesis. In this study, we used the mpl knock-in allele $\Delta 60$, which does not give rise to the mpl-tr isoform (Fig. 7A). We show that the $\Delta 60$ allele, like the endogenous mpl allele, contains an element inhibiting megakaryocytic proliferation. This result suggests that an additional dominantnegative mpl isoform other than mpl-tr must exist. An alternative splice

acceptor site in exon 4 generates the isoform mpl-II, which is expressed by both the endogenous mpl and the Δ 60 knock-in allele (Fig. 7A). The mpl-II isoform has an in-frame deletion of 60 amino acids between the two conserved cysteine pairs in the distal cytokine receptor homology domain (CRH) of mpl (Fig. 8) ⁸⁰. This region constitutes the dimer interface homology region ¹⁶¹. It has been shown that the distal CRH is required for TPO binding but not for receptor dimerization and signaling ¹⁶². The importance of the deleted portion of mpl in receptor activation is supported by the finding that the introduction of cytosine residues in this region renders mpl constitutively active ¹⁶¹. We propose that this recently described isoform acts as a dominant-negative by binding to full-length mpl, thus forming a heterodimer, which fails to bind ligand. This concept will require experimental proof in the future.

Interestingly, the increased platelet levels in the thrombocythemic mice are accompanied by decreased mpl protein expression on platelets. It has been hypothesized that TPO levels in circulation are mainly controlled by platelet ^{84,163-165} mass through c-mpl mediated uptake and metabolism. According to this model the highly elevated platelet levels would lead to TPO plasma levels below the detection limit of the ELISA. However, TPO levels in the thrombocythemic mice were normal. It is therefore not only the platelet and megakaryocyte mass but also the c-mpl expression level on platelets that regulates the TPO serum concentration. It is to date not clear, why the transgenic protein is less stable in platelets, especially because expression levels in megakaryocytes are normal. The combination of a thrombocytosis accompanied with normal TPO levels in circulation and reduced c-mpl expression on platelets has been observed in 17 out of 17 patients with ET ¹⁵³ and less frequently in sporadic cases of polycythemia vera and chronic idiopathic myelofibrosis¹. With our mpl knockout mice expressing mpl-TG we have an animal model at hand that allows us to study the basis of the decreased c-mpl expression on platelets and which may also allow the testing of future ET therapies.

RESULTS II:

Cloning of a GATA-1 regulated gene encoding a novel SIAH-interacting protein

Jörn Coers, Nico Ghilardi and Radek C. Skoda*

Department of Research, Experimental Hematology, Basel University Hospitals, Hebelstrasse 20, 4031 Basel, Switzerland.

Running title: Identification of a novel GATA-1 regulated gene Key words: GATA-1, SIAH, GASIP, thrombopoietin, platelets

Abstract

A few common hematopoietic progenitor cells produce many vastly different cell types. The diversification of cell types is controlled through the use of both lineage-restricted and more widely expressed transcriptional regulators and the combinatorial actions of these regulators specify gene expression. The differentiation of megakaryocyte precursors is dependent on the proper function of the GATA-1 transcription factor. Mice lacking GATA-1 selectively in megakaryocytes have dramatically fewer platelets but more megakaryocytes, altered platelet size and shape and prolonged bleeding times. Further, GATA-1-null megakaryocytes hyperproliferate in vitro, suggesting that GATA-1 is both a differentiation factor and negative regulator of megakaryocyte cell proliferation. However, GATA-1 regulated genes which are responsible for this growth inhibition are presently unknown. The cytokine thrombopoietin and its cognate receptor c-mpl are the main stimulators of megakaryocyte proliferation. In this study we have identified a novel gene, GASIP, which is dramatically downregulated in mpl-transfected hematopoietic cell lines, identifying mpl as a negative regulator of GASIP expression. The presence of juxtaposed GATA and Ets-binding cis-elements in the GASIP promoter are typical for a megakaryocytic gene. Indeed GASIP expression in platelets is robust and correlates with mRNA levels of GATA-1, but not GATA-2 or -3, identifying GATA-1 as a positive regulator of GASIP expression. The finding that mpl and GATA have opposite effects on both proliferation and on GASIP expression, make GASIP a candidate GATA-1 target gene involved in growth inhibition. To investigate the potential role of GASIP in growth regulation, we screened for potential protein binding partners. Interestingly, we identified the p53-inducible tumor suppressor seven in absentia homologe (SIAH) as a GASIP interacting protein. We speculate that GASIP may contribute to the anti-proliferative effect of SIAH.

Introduction

The hematopoietic system consists of eight distinct cell lineages that are derived from a common precursor in an ongoing process that involves the selective activation of gene expression programs characteristic of individual cell types. Several transcriptional regulators are involved in hematopoietic gene regulation. Phenotypes of c-Myb-, AML-1-, GATA-2- and SCL-1deficient mice reveal a profound failure of definite hematopoiesis ¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁷⁰. In contrast, GATA-1, PU.1, E2A, C/EBP α , C/EBP β , and C/EBP ϵ knockouts have more selective phenotypes ¹⁷¹⁻¹⁷⁹. One theme to emerge from gene targeting experiments and complementary studies in cell differentiation in vitro is that cell-restricted expression of lineage specific genes is achieved through the use of both lineage restricted and more widely expressed transcriptional regulators. Several advances have highlighted the particular importance of the erythro-megakaryocytic transcriptional regulator of the GATA family of zincfinger proteins, GATA-1, in megakaryocyte and platelet differentiation. The rat platelet factor 4 and human glycoprotein IIB genes are regulated in part through isolated GATA sites or the combination of juxtaposed GATA and Ets-binding *cis*-elements ^{180,181}. Additionally, virtually every examined gene with elevated expression in megakaryocytes reveals functional GATA and Ets *cis*-elements ^{182,183}. This holds true for the c-mpl gene, which encodes the thrombopoietin receptor, the most important regulator of platelet homeostasis ^{74,82,155-157}. To a large extent, c-mpl expression in megakaryocytes is regulated by GATA- and Ets-family transcription factors ^{78,184}. Mice lacking GATA-1 selectively in megakaryocytes ¹⁸⁵ and humans with critical GATA-1 point mutations ^{186,187} have defects that reveal many of the requirements for this factor in thrombopoiesis. Absent or impaired GATA-1 function is associated with thrombocytopenia and defective platelets as a result of a unique megakaryocyte differentiation arrest ¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁸⁸. These and other findings indicate that GATA-1 must regulate a portion of the program of gene expression that regulates cell replication, drives cytoplasmic maturation in megakaryocytes, and coordinates the development of platelet organelles. Other features, including proplatelet formation and regulation of platelet size and numbers,

may either be directly under GATA-1 control or simply reflect the failure of the cells to progress beyond an early differentiation block.

The cytokine thrombopoietin and its cognate receptor c-mpl are the key regulators of the quantitative aspects of thrombopoiesis. Accumulating evidence also points to an important function of mpl in hematopietic stem cell (HSC) self-renewal and expansion ⁸⁵. It has recently been shown that TPO regulates the expression of the homeobox transcription factor Hoxb4¹⁸⁹, which has been demonstrated to function in regulating the HSC pool¹⁹⁰⁻¹⁹³. The goal of our study was to identify other genes which are transcriptionally regulated by mpl. We cloned a gene that is downregulated in hematopietic cell lines when mpl is expressed. The expression of this gene, which has been named GASIP for GATA-1 regulated SIAH Interacting Protein, appears to be under the transcriptional control of GATA-1 in vivo. Contrarily to mpl, GATA-1 is negative regulator of megakaryocyte cell proliferation. The finding that mpl and GATA have opposite effects on both proliferation and on GASIP expression, make GASIP a candidate GATA-1 target gene involved in growth inhibition To gain insights into the potential function of GASIP protein, we performed Yeast-Two-Hybrid screens. Notably, we identified the tumor suppressor SIAH as a binding partner of GASIP protein and we speculate that GASIP may contribute to the anti-proliferative effect of SIAH. Additionally, we identified cytoskeletal proteins, the RNA binding protein hnRBP E1 and the E3 ubiquitin ligase and tumor supressor SIAH as GASIP interacting proteins. The interactions of GASIP with filamin, actinin and a kinesin suggest a potential function of GASIP in cytoskeletal rearrangements.

Materials and Methods

Cloning of murine and human GASIP cDNA

The fragment obtained by differential display was used to screen a mouse cDNA library. 5 independent clones were obtained and sequenced. A genomic clone was isolated from a bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) library (Genome systems, St. Louis). The clone address is 212: A20. The murine GASIP sequence was used to search the cDNA clone database at the Deutsches Ressourcenzentrum für Genomforschung (<u>www.rzpd.de</u>) and several clones were obtained. The IMAGp998E0411679 clone was found to have an insert encoding the entire hGASIP cDNA.

Expression analyses

Blood samples were processed as described elsewhere ¹. Northern blot analysis was performed as described by standard textbooks. The probe was amplified from the sequence fragment out of the DD-RT-PCR screen using TCAGCAAAAACACACCATAC (sense) and ATTCGTTTCCAGAAGCATTG (antisense). For quantitative polymerase chain reaction (Q-PCR) RNA was extracted from cell lines by means of Trizol reagent (Life technologies, Rockville, MD). RNA was treated with RNase-free Dnase (Promega, Madison, WI) for 90 minutes at 37 C, heat-inactivated and then purified with RNAeasy (Qiagen, Germany) according to manufactures protocol. For reverse-transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), 1µg of RNA was reverse-transcribed after random hexamer priming in a 30-µL reaction mix containing 100 U of omniscript RT (Qiagen, Germany). Differential guantification was performed on an ABI Prism 7700 sequence detector (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA), as described ¹. The following primers were used for SYBR-PCR: mGASIP: GATCATGGCTCGTCTGCAAGA (sense), GACACTGATGCTGACGTGGAA (antisense); hGASIP: GACCAATGGAGATAAGCTCCGA (sense), GGCACCCGGGCTAGGTTA (antisense); human MPL: AGCCCTGAGCCCGCC (sense), TCCACTTCTTCACAGGTATCTGAGA (antisense); GATA-1: GCCCAAGAAGCGCCTGAT

(sense), TGGTCGTCTGGCAGTTGGT (antisense); GATA-2:

CCTCTACTACAAGCTGCACAATGTTAA (sense), CCGAGTCTGGATCCCTTCCT (antisense); GATA-3: GGCTCTACTACAAGCTTCACAATATTAACA (sense),

TTGCTAGACATTTTTCGGTTTCTG (antisense). To prevent influence from genomic DNA amplification, all primers were designed across exon-intron junctions. The GASIP primers were designed to detect both of two putative splice variants. The ΔC_T values were derived by subtracting the threshold cycle (C_T) values for GASIP, MPL and GATA-1 to -3 from the C_T value for mouse or human ribosomal protein L19 (RPL19), which serves as an internal control ^{1,108}. All reactions were run in duplicates.

Sequence analyses

Primers specific for the mGASIP cDNA were used to identify the location of introns. Using long range PCR, the sizes of the introns were determined except for intron 2. The size of intron 2 was determined by sequencing portions of the mGASIP genomic BAC clone and constructing a contig. For the alignment of the sequences "Sequencer" software (Gene Codes Inc., Ann Arbor, MI) was used.. Exons of hGASIP were identified by a Blast ¹⁹⁴ search with the human GASIP cDNA sequence in the human genome database at the NCBI (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genome/seq/HsBlast.html</u>). Intron sizes given by the AceView analysis (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/AceView/</u>) were compared with the numbers obtained by a Blast search of Celera's assembled sequence of the human genome (<u>http://public.celera.com</u>). Sequences of the putative promoter regions of GASIP were obtained by sequencing of the mGASIP genomic BAC clone and by identifying the region upstream of the first hGASIP exon in the human genome database. Potential binding site of transcriptional regulator were identified using the softwares TFSEARCH ¹⁹⁵ and TESS (<u>http://www.cbil.upenn.edu/tess</u>).

Analyses of GASIP protein interactions

A human bone marrow cDNA library was screened with the indicated portions of GASIP as a bait using the Matchmaker system III (Clontech), following the manufacturer's instructions. Transformants were obtained under high stringency conditions using growth media lacking Ade/His/Leu/Trp. The specificity of the interaction was confirmed using a β -galactosidase-DNA binding domain hybrid (G4-DB-hybrid) of the laminin protein as bait and two β galactosidase activation domain hybrids as prey for negative controls. Selected clones were individually streaked out onto new plates and prey plasmids were isolated, amplified in E. coli and retransformed into yeast strains. The original interaction was reconfirmed by natural mating, followed by growth on selective media as well as screening for β -galactosidase activity, as described in the manufacturer's manual. HA-tagged GASIP and myc-tagged SIAH-2 were ¹⁹⁶ methionine labeled by transcription and translation using the TNT kit (Promega Corp., Madison, WI). After synthesis, the lysate was diluted with 87.5 μl incubation buffer (10% glycerol, 100 mM KCl, 20 µM Tris/HCl, pH 7.9, 0.5% NP40, and 1% BSA without EDTA and dithiothreitol). The reactions were incubated with anti-myc, anti-HA antibodies or no antibodies, respectively, at 4°C O/N and then 20µl of protein A/G agarose beads (Promega Corp., Madison, WI) were added. After one hour of incubation, the beads were washed three times with the incubation buffer. SDS-PAGE lysate buffer was added and the reaction was bioled for minutes. The protein complexes were analyzed by electrophoresis through a 10% polyacrylamide gel containing. Gels were dried and exposed to film.

Results

Cloning of mouse GASIP (<u>GA</u>TA-1 regulated <u>SIAH Interacting Protein</u>).

To identify mpl-regulated genes, we generated stable transfections of the murine IL-3-dependent BaF3 cell line with cDNAs encoding murine c-mpl or, as a control, human IL-4R. Cell clones were cultured in the presence of TPO or either IL-4 or IL-3, and mRNA expression of cells grown in the presence of these different cytokines was compared by the differential display method. The screen yielded four differentially regulated sequence fragments after confirmation by Northern blot analysis (data not shown). One of the four sequences corresponds to the mast cell carboxypeptidase A gene, which has previously been shown to be differentially regulated by individual cytokines ^{196,197}. Of the three remaining sequences, two are regulated by IL-4R signals and only one is specifically regulated by c-mpl. The sequence of this fragment shares 100% homology with the cDNA clone MGC:32254 (accession number BC025223). Next, by screening a mouse cDNA library, cDNA clones were obtained. The gene product encoded by these cDNA clones will be referred to as GASIP (GATA-1 regulated SIAH Interacting Protein) from now on. A genomic clone was isolated from a BAC library. Sequence analysis of the murine genomic GASIP clone identified seven exons spanning \sim 54 kb of mouse genomic DNA, the size of the individual introns and the genomic sequence surrounding the transcriptional start site (Fig. 1). The mouse GASIP (mGASIP) cDNA is identical the transcript represented by the TIGR consensus sequence TC255155, which is localized to the piebald deletion region of mouse chromosome 14¹⁹⁸.

Downregulation of GASIP in mpl transfected hematopoietic cell lines. Next, we confirmed the c-mpl mediated downregulation of GASIP by Q-PCR. The expression of GASIP is reduced by more than $10 \Delta C_T$ values, which is equivalent to a 2¹⁰ fold reduction in GASIP mRNA expression, in BaF3 cells expressing either murine or human TPO-R (Fig. 2A). Interestingly, five c-mpl expressing BaF3 clones downregulated GASIP in the absence of TPO and three cell clones

Results II

-600	C/EBP MYB TCTGTGCTACTTAATACTACCCCTTAGCCGC <u>ATCTTTTTCAAAACAG</u> ACCCAAAGCA <u>TCTGTTGTTG</u> CCTTTTTTGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG	-481
-480	$Nhe \mid$ attagcaggtggcaataccctgaagtctaaaagtgctcttgtaagagg <u>Gctagc</u> tattggccctgggtacgtttttcccctgccacagacacctgctacttctttagatcccggcccctgg -	-361
-360	SP-1 CCAAT CTGTAGTCCTAGAAGTGGGGTTCTCTCGCCCAAAGCGGAAGAGGTGCGGAGGGGGGGG	-241
-240	CTEC SP-1 AP-1 [⁺ inr GGGAGGGTCCCCGCCGCGCGCGCGCGCGCCGCCGCCGCCGCGCGCCTCGGCGCAGAGCGCAGAGAGCAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAG	-121 9
-120	ETS GATA Sac II GATA GGTGCAGAGCTGCGCGGGGCTGCTTCTTCTTCCTC <u>GCCGGAGGCTG</u> GGCCCTGGT <u>GCTGATGCTG</u> GTAGGCTGCGCGGAGCTGGGCCCCGCGTAGCCTCCTCC <u>GCCG</u> CGCTCGGGGCCCC <u>GCG</u> double	-
1	GATA <u>ATGATGGCG</u> AGCAGGTGAAATGCGCCTCGCCGGGGCGGCCGGGGCCGGGGGGGG	120
121		240
	K Q N E Q L R S R A A S A A A P H L L V L Q P P P P S A P P P A G A C S P L A	
241	ACGCACAGGGCCCCGGCCACGACCCCCCGGGCCCCGGGGCGCCCGGGCCCCGCGTCCCCGGGCACCACTGCCCAGCCCCCGCCCCCCCC	360
	тнкара 5 тт 5 р 6 р 6 а L 6 р агр 6 т 1 С L р 5 р ар 5 L L С 5 L 0 Р а 	
361	GACGCGCCCTTCGTCTACTCCAAGCCGGCGGCGGCGGCGTTCTTCGGCGGAGGGCGCCGCGGGAACCCGGGGGCGCGCGC	480
401		600
401	T L L D E V E P L D L E S L A A W S E E D D Y T W L Y V G S S K T F T S P E K S	000
601	$\label{eq:construct} II \stackrel{\text{II}}{\bigtriangledown} \stackrel{\text{26.0}}{\sim} .$	720
	PSPLQWCRHVLDNPTPEMEAARRSLRFRLEQGYTSRGSPL	
721	AGTCCGCAGTCATCCATCGACAGTGAGCTGAGGATCCTCGGAGTTGGAGGATGACCTCATATATCCATGGGATCATACGGACCTTACTGATGTTCAGATCATGGCTCGCCAGAAA	840
	III = 2.3	
841	E S L R Q D Y A S T S A S V S R N S S S V S L S S G K K G T C S D Q E Y D R Y S	960
961	CTGGAGGACGAGGAAGAGTTTGACCATCTGCCGCCACCCCAGCCCCGTCTTCCGAGGTGTTCACCTTTCCAAAGAGGGATCCCCCACTCACAGACTTTCTCCCAGCATCCGGGATTGCAGG	1080
	LEDEEEFDHLPPPQPRLPRCSPFQRGIPHSQTFSSIRDCR 	
1081	AGGAGCCCCAGTATTCCCCCCTCAAATAACTTCCAGCAGCCCAAGTATTACCCACCTCAAGCCCAGAACGAGAACCAAATAGGACCAATGGAGAGATAAGCTACGAAGA	1200
1201	AGCATGCCTAATCTGGCCCGGATGCCGAGCACCGCTGCGGCCAGCAGCAGCCAGC	1320
1321	$V \equiv 7.2$	1440
	V S R V P S C I P S P G Q I Q H R V H S V G H F P V P I R Q P L K A T A Y V S P	
1441	actgttcaaggcagcagcagcagcagcagcaggggggggg	1560
	TVQGSSSSGSSGSSGGGGGGGGMPLSNGTQLYSTTGIPTPNK $VI = 1,2,8$	
1561	GCTGCGGCTTCTGGGATCCTGGGTCGCAGCGCCCTTCCGAGACCTTCACTGGCAATAAATGGGAGTAACCTGCCTCGGAGCAAGATTGCACAGCCTGTCAdAAGCTTCCTGGCAGCCTCCC	1680
	AAASGILGRSALPRPSLAINGSNLPRSKIAQPVRSFLQPP 	
1681	AAGCCTCTGTCTTCACTCAGCACACTGAGGGATGGAAAATTGGAGAGGAGGGGGGGG	1800
1801	TGGCTGGGTAACCATGGATGCTGGGATGCTTTCCCCTTCACGCTAACCACGCCACGGCATCGTTTTCAGTGGACCAATCACCAGAGACTAACGAGCTCACCTACTCTCTGCCTGAGATA	1920
1921	${\tt ctgcggcgttcccaaacccgcggcgcggtatcgttaccttagatctaggaagtttttgtagaactgctccgtatctgaatactttttgagagaga$	2040
2041	${\tt ccatatgaggttttaaaagtaccttgttcattttacatgttttaaacaccttccattacatgttttaatacattgcatatttacaactaggttctataacatggtttg}$	2160
2161	AATTTTAATTTTTTATAGTTTACAGGAATTTTATTTTTTTGTGCCTATTTCTTTTTTATGCCTATGTGAACCACTATGGAACAACTTAAATTTTTGTGCCCATAAAAATATTTTTGTGGGTAAGG	2280
2281		2400
2401		2520
2641	ALTORITICONTACTINALIANAGONICARACIGINALIGUITIATIAACAAIGUITUGGAAAGGAAIGUITTTAAATAAATUTTTTTGATAGACUTTTTACAAAAACUCATTTGC	∠04U

coiled coil PEST domain

required TPO for a transient reduction in GASIP mRNA (data not shown). To examine whether downregulation of GASIP mRNA following ectopic expression of a cytokine receptor is specific to mpl, we assessed GASIP expression in a number of clones transfected with cDNAs encoding mGCSF-R, mIL-4R, mOB-R or mEPO-R, respectively. Downregulation of GASIP was not found in any of these cell lines (Fig. 2A and data not shown). Interestingly, a chimeric receptor consisting of the intracellular portion of mpl and the extracellular domain of GCSF-R triggered a reduction in GASIP expression. This is in contrast to a second chimeric receptor with the intracellular domain of GCSF-R and the extracellular portion of mpl, which did not affect GASIP expression (Fig. 2A), suggesting that the downregulation of GASIP is dependent on the intracellular domain of mpl. We were further able to observe ligand independent downregulation of GASIP mRNA following ectopic expression of TPO-R in FDCP-1 cells, a second IL-3 dependent cell line (Fig. 2B), thus excluding mpl-dependent GASIP regulation as a BaF3 specific phenomenon. In the human cell line UT7/TPO, which expresses endogenous mpl and which is responsive to TPO, stimulation with TPO triggers only a moderate and transient reduction in GASIP mRNA expression by two to three fold (data not shown).

Sequence analysis of GASIP protein. We decided to study GASIP in more detail for two reasons. First, the reduction in GASIP expression in the presence of mpl might indicate that GASIP is inhibitory to the proliferation or differentiation of megakaryocytes, and secondly, the unusual mode of regulation suggests an alternative ligand-independent mechanism of mpl function. The cDNA of

Fig. 1. (opposite page) Composite genomic and cDNA sequence for mouse GASIP. The sequence shown is composed of genomic sequence (position – 600 to +554) and of cDNA sequence (position -128 to +2734; the polyA-tail is not shown). The sequence of the overlapping region from -128 to +554 is identical. Potential binding sites for transcription factors surrounding the transcription initiator site (Inr) are indicated. Important restriction sites are included in this diagram. The positions of introns are indicated by open triangles and the intron sizes in kb are stated above the triangles. The amino acid sequence for the identified longest ORF is shown. Indicated are amino acid sequence stretches for putative coiled coil and PEST domains.

Results II

mGASIP is 2862 nucleotides long (Fig. 1), which is in the same size range as the 2.9 kb mRNA detected by Northern blot analysis (data not shown). The longest ORF encodes a protein of 579 amino acids with a calculated molecular weight of 61 kDa. It is characterized by a high proportion of serine and threonine residues (20%) and proline residues (12%). The N-terminus contains a stretch of 30 amino acids, which are predicted to form a coiled coil. The central region of the protein has a predicted PEST domain (Fig. 1). However, in spite of three proline rich clusters, GASIP shows no particular domain or sequence motif or homology to any characterized protein.



Fig. 2. Expression of mGASIP in BaF3 and in FDCP-1 cells transfected with the indicated cDNAs. (A) BaF3 cell clones transfected with mouse (mpl-1 and -2) and human (Mpl-1 and -2) TPO-R and control constructs are shown. Expression levels of GASIP are in given as ΔC_T values. High ΔC_T values indicate low expression. For instance, the GASIP (ΔC_T) value in parental BaF3 cells is about 8, but in mpl-transfected BaF3 cells the GASIP (ΔC_T) value goes up to 18. This equals a decrase in GASIP expression by 2¹⁰ fold in mpl expressing cells. (B) Shown are the GASIP (ΔC_T) values in parental FDCP-1 cells and in mpl transfected FDCP-1 cells.

Human and mouse GASIP are highly conserved. The human ortholog was cloned as described in Materials and Methods. The human GASIP (hGASIP) cDNA is 3146 nucleotides long (Fig. 3) and its longest ORF encodes a protein, which is 641 amino acids in length. Human and murine GASIP are highly
Results II

-600	CTAACAGAGAGCTGGGAAGGGAGCAAACCAGCGGGCCGGT	GGTGCACTACTCGAGGGCCA	GCACCTGCAGCTGCTT	C/EBP CTTTGGGAACCCCCTGG	MYB PCCCCGCAACCGCCTCAGAGACCCGCG
		SP-1	ССААТ		
-480	CAGTTCACTGTCCCACCAAGCGGCAGGAGGAGGAGGTGCTTG	GGCGGGAAAGTTCAGGCCAGG	CTFC	GGATTAGGTAGCGAGG	SP-1 AP-1
-360	GGGCTGCCGGCCCCGCCCCTGGGTGGGCTTCCCCACGGT	TCTCCGCCCCCCCCCCCA	CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	rcttgccccgccccgct(CGGGGCCGCGGCTAAAACCCCGGAGCC -241
-240	GCCGCGACGCCCAGGGGACTGGAGG <u>GACGCAC</u> TGAGCATG	TGCAGATCAGCTCGGTGGTG	ETS GCTGCCGCG <u>GCCGGAGC</u>	GA GCGAGGGCCCGGT <u>GCTGA</u>	TA <u>\TGCGA</u> ACCGCCGGCTCGGCCTCAGCC -121 double GATA
-120	CGCGCGTGGTCGGCCCCCAGGCCGGGGCGACAGGGAAGG double	AGCCGTAGCCTCCCCGTGGCC	CCGAGGAGCCGGCGCGCG	GCGGCGCGCACTCCCCG	Gegeegeegeegeeceteggegeeegeegeegeegeegeegeegeegeegeegee
1	GATA ATGATGACGGGAGGAGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG	GCTCTGGAGCGGGCTCCGGGG SGAGSG	CCGGTGGTGAACGCGGA ? V V N A E	AGCTGGAGGTGAAGAAG L E V K K 1	TGCAGGAGCTGGTGCGCAAGCTGGAG 120
121	AAGCAGAACGAGCAGCTGCGGAGTCGAGCGGCCAGCGCGG	CCGCCGCCCCGCACCTGCTGC			CCGCTGGGGCCTGCAGACCTTTGGGT 240
0.4.1					
241	P R S P P A A T A T A A A S	G G L G L G I G I	LALGAG	G G G G G S G	GTAGTGGCAGCGGCGGCGGTGGCTCCAGC 360 3 S G S G G G S S
361	CCCGCGTTCCCGGGCACCTTCTGCCTGCCTGCCCGCGC P A F P G T F C L P S P A F	CCTCCCTGCTTTGCAGCCTGC	GCGCAGCCACCCGAGGC A Q P P E A	CGCCCTTCGTCTACTTCA PFVYFI	AAGCCGGCAGCAGGCTTCTTCGGCGCG 480 X P A A G F F G A
481	66066766066600666666666666666666666666				AATTGCTGCATCTGCAGAGCGTAGCC 600
401	G G G G P E P G G A G T P F	G A A A A P I	S P P P T	L L D E V I	L L D L E S V A
601	CCCTGGCGGGACGAGGACGACTACACCTGGTTATACATTC	GCTCTTCAAAGACGTTCACC	FCATCAGAGAAATCCCT	FGACTCCTTTGCAGTGG	rgtagacatgtcctagataacccaact 720
	AWRDEDDYTWLYIG	S S K T F T S IIa = 23.4	SSEKSL	TPLQWO	CRHVLDNPT
721	CCTGAGATGGAAGCAGCGAGACGTTCCCTGTGCTTTAGAC		CGGAGTCTCTTCTCTTC	CAACTGCCTCACTGGCT	TTTCCTTATAGTCCTGTTGCAAGACTC 840
	PEMEAARRSLCFRI	E Q A S R W I	SLFSS II	TASLAI	PYSPVARL
841	AGCCCTTATAGCAATGGCATTAATACTCCCAGCTTCTCTA S P Y S N G I N T P S F S K	AAACCTCAAATAAAGCAATAG TSNKAII	CTAACACCTGAAAAAAC L T P E K T	G Y T S R	GCTCCCCACTCAGTCCCCAGTCATCT 960
961	ATCGACAGTGAGCTGAGTACTTCAGAATTGGAGGATGAT	CTATCTCCATGGGATATAAA	TTACAGGACCTCACTG	ATGTTCAGATCATGGCT	CGTCTGCAAGAAGAAGAAGTCTCAGGCAA 1080
	I D S E L S T S E L E D D S	I S M G Y K I	LQDLTD	VQIMAI	l Q E E S L R Q
1081	GATTATGCTTCTACTTCAGCATCTGTATCAAGACATAGTT D Y A S T S A S V S R H S S	CCAGTGTGTGTCATTGAGTTCAG S V S L S S (GGAAAAAAAGGGACATO G K K G T C	GTAGTGATCAAGAATATC S D Q E Y I	JACCAATACAGTCTGGAGGATGAAGAG 1200) Q Y S L E D E E
1201	GAATTTGATCATTTGCCACCACCTCAGCCTCGTCTTCCAA	GATGTTCCCCTTTCCAAAGAG	- GAATTCCCCATTCAC	AGACTTTCTCCAGCATT	CGGGAGTGTAGGAGGAGCCCCAGTTCC 1320
	EFDHLPPPQPRLPF	CSPFQRO	G I P H S Q	TFSSII IV=6	₹ E C R R S P S S
1321	CAGTATTTTCCTTCAAATAATTACCAGCAGCAACAGTATT	ATTCACCTCAAGCCCAAACTC	CCAGATCAGCAACCAA		AGCTCCGAAGAAGTATGCCTAACCTA 1440
	Q Y F P S N N Y Q Q Q Q Y Y	S Р Q А Q Т I	P D Q Q P N	RTNGDI	(LRRSMPNL
1441	GCCCGGGTGCCAAGTACAACTGCCATTAGTAGCAACATTA A R V P S T T A I S S N I S	GTTCTCCGGTCACCGTGCGAA S P V T V R 1	AATAGTCAGAGTTTTGA NSQSFD	ACTCAAGCTTGCATGGAC	CTGGAAATGGAATTTCAAGAATACAA 1560 A G N G I S R I Q
1561	$\sqrt{\nabla}^{7.5}$ TCTTGTATTCCATCACCGGGACAGCTTCAACACAGGGTCC	ACAGCGTGGGGGCATTTCCCA	GTGTCTATCCGACAGCO	CTCTTAAAGCCACAGCC	PATGTGAGTCCAACCGTTCAAGGCAGC 1680
	S C I P S P G Q L Q H R V H	SVGHFPV	SIRQP	LKATAY	V S P T V Q G S
1681	AGTAACATGCCTTTATCAAACGGCTTACAGCTGTATTCCA S N M P L S N G L Q L Y S N	ACACAGGAATCCCCACACCGA	AACAAAGCTGCAGCTTC N K A A A S	CTGGGATAATGGGTCGCA G I M G R S	AGTGCACTCCCAAGACCTTCGTTGGCA 1800 S A L P R P S L A
1801	ATAAATGGGAGTAACCTGCCTCGAAGCAAAATTGCACAAC I N G S N L P R S K I A Q F	VI = 2.0 CTGTTAGAAGTTTTCTTCAGO V R S F L Q I	CCTCCAAAGCCTCTGTC P K P L S	CTTCACTCAGCACTCTG/ S L S T L H	AGGGATGGAAATTGGAGAGATGGTTGC 1920 R D G N W R D G C
1921	TACTAATGCAGTTTTATGTACCTTGAAAAATGGGAAAGAA	GTAAAAATGAGGGTTGTGTT	ACCTAGCTGGCTGGGT#	AGCAGTGGATGTTGGGAT	аттстттсссттттстстттаатат 2040
2041	ATTTACTGCATTGTTTCTCAATGGACCAGTCACCAGAGAC	TAATTATTGCACTTAAATAT	TTGCCTGAGATACTGC	ACATTCTCAAACCCAT	GTTGCAGTATTGTGACACTTAGATCT 2160
2161	AGGAAGTTTTTGTAGAACTGCTCTGTACCTGAATACTTTT	TGAGAGAATTAAGATGTATCA	ATAATGCTTTGCCAT#	ATGAGTTTTTTTAAAGTAA	ACTTGTTCAATTTACTCACGTGTTCTA 2280
2281	AACATCTTTCCATTACATGTTCTGTATTTTAATACATTGC	ATATTGACAACTAGGTTCTA	TAATGTATGCTTTGAA	ATTTACTTTTTTATAGT?	TTACAGGAATTTTATTTTTTTGTGCCTA 2400
2401	TTTCTTTTTACACCTATGTGAACCACTATGGAACAACTTA	AATTTTGTGCCATAAAAATA	TTTTTGTGGTAAGGTAC	CTATTTTTTTAGCTCTA	GGATATATCAGCAAAAACACATCATG 2520
2521	CAATTTGAGACACATAATTTTGTGTTGAATGAGCACAACA	TAATTTGAAGCATTGCAAGGA	AGATAACCAGACAGCAG	GAATTAAATGGTCCTGT	TTTTTCATTTTTAATTTATTGTCATA 2640
2641	CATGGGTTTCATATTTATAACGGCATCATGAGCTCATTGC	ACTTAATACCTGCAATGTTTC	GCTACTGTACCACAATT	IGATTTTCAATACTTTA	TACGAAGGATGAAACTGTAATGTTTT 2760
2761	ATTAACAATGCTTCTGGAAATGAATGCATTTTAAAGCAAA	TAAATCTTTTTGATAGACCT	TTTACAAAATCCATTTC	GCACTAATGAATGCTTT	TTATGGCATATAACTTAATATTTGTT 2880
2881	AUTGTGTACACTGCTGTTTTGGAATGTTCAGAAATAAAGA	CTCTATTTCAGC 2932			

coiled coil ----- PEST domain

conserved with over 80% identity on protein level (data not shown). Genomic sequence of hGASIP, which encompasses ~ 65 kb and maps to chromosome 13q22.3, was obtained by searching the public database of the human genome.



Fig. 4. Intron/ exon structure of mouse and human GASIP. The additional exon, found in the cDNA of human GASIP is termed 2b. The GASIP loci map to the piebald deletion region of mouse chromosome 14 and the orthologous region of human chromosome 13. The length of mouse and human GASIP introns in kb is shown.

The intron/ exon structure of hGASIP is very similar to its murine ortholog (Fig. 3) with the exception of one additional exon which we termed exon 2b (Fig. 4). This is probably due to alternative splicing, because the exon 2b is also found in the murine genomic GASIP locus and a mouse EST clone (GenBank Acc: BE656090) containing this sequence exists. Searches in the human and mouse EST databases did not identify any GASIP cDNAs extending at the 5' end of the sequence shown here, suggesting that we have obtained the complete human and mouse GASIP cDNAs.

GASIP and GATA-1 expressions correlate. Next, we investigated the effect of human MPL on GASIP expression *in vivo*. We determined GASIP expression in platelets obtained from healthy human individuals. Here, expression levels of GASIP mRNA correlated positively with the amount of MPL mRNA: individuals

Fig. 3 (Opposite page). Composite genomic and cDNA sequence for human GASIP. The sequence shown is composed of genomic sequence (position – 600 to +629) and of cDNA sequence (position –207 to +2932; the polyA-tail is not shown). The sequence of the overlapping region from –207 to +629 is identical. Potential binding sites for transcription factors surrounding the transcription initiator site (Inr) are indicated. Important restriction sites are included in this diagram. The positions of introns are indicated by open triangles and the intron sizes in kb are stated above the triangles. The amino acid sequence for the identified longest ORF is shown. Indicated are amino acid sequence stretches for putative coiled coil and PEST domains.



Fig. 5 Correlation of GASIP and GATA-1 mRNA expression. (A) Expression of hGASIP and MPL mRNA positively correlate in platelets. Expression levels are shown as ΔC_T values. High ΔC_T values indicate low expression. Each dot represents the values of one healthy human individual. (B) Mpl expression is dependent on the transcription factor GATA-1, which explains why GATA-1 and MPL mRNA levels positively correlate in platelets. Expression levels are shown as ΔC_T values and each dot represents the values of one healthy human individual. (C) Similar to MPL mRNA expression, the GASIP mRNA levels are higher the more GATA-1 is expressed, suggesting transcriptional control by GATA-1. In contrast, GATA-2 and GATA-3 expression levels show no significant correlation with the amount of GASIP mRNA.

with high expression of MPL (low ΔC_T value) also showed high expression of GASIP and individuals with low expression of MPL (high ΔC_T value) had accordingly less GASIP mRNA (Fig. 5A). This result appeared to conflict with our *in vitro* data. To clarify whether TPO-R protein expression has a positive effect on GASIP expression in the megakaryocytic lineage *in vivo*, we looked at GASIP and MPL expression in patients who suffer from sporadic

Results II

myeloproliferative disease (MPD). We chose MPD patients, who have drastically diminished MPL protein expression but normal MPL mRNA expression in platelets¹. In these patients GASIP mRNA expression still positively correlates with MPL mRNA levels (data not shown), suggesting that MPL protein expression and thus signaling through TPO-R is not responsible for the observed correlated expression of MPL and GASIP. An alternative explanation for the observed linear relationship between GASIP and MPL expression would suggest that GASIP could positively regulate MPL transcription. However, overexpression of GASIP in UT7/TPO cells had no effect on MPL expression (data not shown). We thus speculated that TPO-R and GASIP are transcriptionally regulated in a similar fashion. Alignment of the sequences surrounding the transcriptional start sites of both murine and human GASIP allowed us to identify conserved putative binding motifs for transcription factors. This analysis revealed a conserved CAAT box and potential binding motifs for members of the GATA, Ets, and C/EBP families of transcription factors amongst others (Fig. 2 and 3). Particularly, the combination of juxtaposed GATA and Ets-binding *cis* elements found in the GASIP promoter is characteristic of megakaryocytic genes like mpl. Indeed, the expression of MPL mRNA correlates with the expression levels of GATA-1 in platelets of healthy individuals (Fig. 5B). Similarly, the mRNA expression of GASIP correlates with the expression level of GATA-1, but not GATA-2 or -3 (Fig. 5C), suggesting GATA-1 to be a regulator of GASIP transcription. To compare the expression of GASIP in different hematopoietic cell lineages, the blood from healthy donors was fractionated into platelets, adherent and nonadherent mononuclear cells and granulocytes. The lowest expression of GASIP is found in macrophages and lymphoid cells, which make up most of the non-adherent mononuclear cells (Fig. 6A). In platelets the average GASIP (ΔC_T) value is ~ 4 compared to ~7.5 in the lymphiod compartment and ~8.5 in macrophages (Fig. 6A), which means that the expression of GASIP is about 10 - 20 times higher in platelets than in mononuclear cells. In granulocytes the average GASIP (ΔC_T) value is ~ 2, which translates into a GASIP expression of about 50 to 100 times that found in mononuclear cells (Fig. 6A).



Fig. 6 GASIP expression in blood The blood from six lineages. healthy individuals was separated into granulocyets (GR), mononuclear cells (MN) and platelets (Pl), as described ¹. Macrophages (M Φ) were isolated form the mononuclear cell fraction by allowing them to adhere to tissue culture dishes for two hours. RNA from the different cell fraction was isolated and Q-PCR was performed. Each dot represents the ΔC_T value of the indicated cell type from one healthy human individual.

GASIP interacts with seven in absentia homolog (SIAH). Finally, to gain a better understanding of potential biological functions of GASIP, we screened a human bone marrow expression library for protein-protein interaction with GASIP in a Yeast-Two-Hybrid screen. One GASIP 'bait' construct for the Nterminus and two 'bait' constructs for the C-terminus were used (Fig. 7). To avoid false positives, the screen was performed with two independent selection markers. Additionally, clones were screened for lacZ expression as a third maker. The obtained 'prey' plasmids were isolated out of the yeast strain, amplified in *E. coli*, and sequenced. The purified plasmids were then re-transformed into yeast and tested for unspecific activation of a G4-DBlaminin control 'bait' construct and interaction with different GASIP constructs (Table 1). This approach allowed the identification of true positives and a summary of the results of the Two-Hybrid screens is shown in Fig. 7 and Table 1. We identified three different cytoskeleton-associated proteins, filamin, actinin alpha, and the kinesin KIF4, the RNA binding proteins hnRNP E1 and the E3 ubiquitin ligase SIAH-1 and -2. This is in agreement with the finding that SIAH interacting proteins are able bind to both family members due to the high degree of homology between SIAH-1 and -2. To further verify the interaction of GASIP with SIAH, tagged versions of both proteins were transcribed and translated in vitro. Immunoprecipitation of GASIP precipitates SIAH and GASIP is co-immunoprecipitated with SIAH (Fig. 8), confirming GASIP as a SIAH interacting protein.



Fig. 7 Summary of the results obtained from the Yeast-Two-Hybrid screen. Three 'bait' constructs were used consisting of a GAL4-DNA-binding domain (G4-DB) fused to the indicated portions of GASIP protein. These constructs were screened against a human bone marrow cDNA library expressed as GAL4-activation domain (G4-AD) fusion proteins. When a protein-protein interaction occurs, the G4-AD activates expression of reporter genes. In screens with the three different 'baits' proteins were identified as GASIP interacting proteins as listed.



Fig. 8 In vitro translated radioactively labelled HA-tagged GASIP and myctagged SIAH-2 fusion proteins were tested for protein interaction. The two fusion proteins were mixed in binding buffer and immunoprecipitated (IP) with either anti-myc or anti-HA antibodies. Protein A/G agarose beads alone (beads) did not result in any protein precipitation. HA-GASIP and myc-SIAH-2 coimmunoprecipitate in the presence of either anti-HA or anti-myc antibody. The amounts of *in vitro*-translated proteins added to the binding reaction are shown in the lanes marked 'input.'

G4-DB-hybrid 'bait'	G4-AD-hybrid 'prey'	Growth on LWHA-plates	β-Gal staining
laminin	SIAH-2 (146-324)	-	-
GASIP (262-579)	SIAH-2 (146-324)	+	+++
laminin	SIAH-2 (1-324)	-	-
GASIP (211-579)	SIAH-2 (1-324)	+	+++
GASIP (211-346)	SIAH-2 (1-324)	-	-
GASIP (262-579)	SIAH-2 (1-324)	+	+++
GASIP (262-386)	SIAH-2 (1-324)	-	-
GASIP (262-346)	SIAH-2 (1-324)	-	-
GASIP (348-579)	SIAH-2 (1-324)	+	+++
GASIP (384-579)	SIAH-2 (1-324)	+	+++
laminin	SIAH-1 (1-313)	-	-
GASIP (262-579)	SIAH-1 (1-313)	+	+++
GASIP (211-579)	SIAH-1 (1-313)	+	+++
GASIP (262-386)	SIAH-1 (1-313)	-	-
GASIP (384-579)	SIAH-1 (1-313)	+	+++
SIAH-2 (1-324)	GAL4	-	-
laminin	GASIP (1-579)	-	-
SIAH-2 (1-324)	GASIP (1-579)	+	++
laminin	actinin α -3 (1-901)	-	-
c13 (262-579)	actinin α -3 (1-901)	+	++
c13 (211-579)	actinin α -3 (1-901)	+	+++
c13 (262-386)	actinin α -3 (1-901)	-	-
c13 (262-346)	actinin α -3 (1-901)	-	-
actinin α -3 (1-901)	GAL4	+	+++
laminin	filamin (2174-2692)	-	-
GASIP (262-579)	filamin (2174-2692)	+	++
GASIP (211-579)	filamin (2174-2692)	+	++
GASIP (262-386)	filamin (2174-2692)	-	-
GASIP (262-346)	filamin (2174-2692)	-	-
GASIP (348-579)	filamin (2174-2692)	+	++
laminin	KIF 4 (776-1232)	-	-
GASIP (262-579)	KIF 4 (776-1232)	+	++
GASIP (211-579)	KIF 4 (776-1232)	+	++
GASIP (211-346)	KIF 4 (776-1232)	-	-
GASIP (262-386)	KIF 4 (776-1232)	-	-
GASIP (262-386)	KIF 4 (776-1232)	-	-
GASIP (262-346)	KIF 4 (776-1232)	-	-
GASIP (348-579)	KIF 4 (776-1232)	-	-
laminin	hnRNP E1 (21-356)	-	-
GASIP (1-106)	hnRNP E1 (21-356)	+	+++
laminin	PP2A (1-590)	-	-
GASIP (1-106)	PP2A (1-590)	+	++

Table 1. (Opposite page) A human bone marrow cDNA library was screened for GASIP protein interactions. Selected clones were individually streaked out onto new plates and prey plasmids were isolated, amplified in *E. coli* and retransformed into yeast strains. The original interaction was reconfirmed by natural mating, followed by growth on selective media lacking Ade/His/Leu/Trp (LWHA) as well as screening for β -galactosidase (β -Gal) activity, as described in the manufacturer's manual. Growth on selective plates is indicated (+). Very high (+++), high (++) or no (-) β -Gal activity was determined. The specificity of the interaction was confirmed using a β -galactosidase-DNA binding domain hybrid (G4-DB-hybrid) of the laminin protein (laminin) as bait and β -galactosidase activation domain hybrids (GAL4) as prey for negative controls. Additional relevant mating tests are listed. The numbers in brackets indicate the stretch of amino acid sequence that is encompassed by the specific construct. The SIAH-1-, one of the SIAH-2- and the actinin-constructs encode full-length proteins.

Discussion

Mechanisms of thrombopoiesis are of considerable interest in hematology and cell biology, in part because of the variety of human thrombocytopenia syndromes and because megakaryocyte differentiation encompasses many unusual attributes like polyploidy, a unique set of organelles and the regulated fragmentation of the cytoplasm to generate platelets.

Genetic studies have recently provided rich insights into the molecular and transcriptional regulation of megakaryocyte differentiation and thrombopoiesis. Three transcription factors, GATA-1, FOG-1, and NF-E2, are essential regulators of distinct stages in megakaryocyte differentiation, extending from the birth of early committed progenitors to the final step of platelet release.

Much of the attention in transcriptional regulation of megakaryocyte genes has focused on the GATA family of zinc-finger proteins, which activate transcription by engaging the DNA consensus sequence (A/T) GATA (A/G) in the *cis*-regulatory elements of many lineage-restricted genes. Mice lacking GATA-1 selectively in megakaryocytes ¹⁸⁵ and critical GATA-1 point mutations in human disease ^{186,187} cause defects that reveal at least some of the requirements for this transcription factor in thrombopoiesis. First, platelet counts are about 15% of the normal, platelet size is increased at least twofold, platelet shape is spherical rather than discoid, and the bleeding time is prolonged ¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁸⁸. Second, GATA-1-null megakaryocytes proliferate excessively in vitro, and their substantial accumulation in vivo appears to reflect primary growth dysregulation rather than a secondary response to thrombocytopenia ^{185,188}. This finding suggests that GATA-1 is a negative regulator of cell proliferation in early megakaryocyte progenitors. In this study we have identified a novel gene, GASIP, which is downregulated in hematopoietic cell lines, which express the c-mpl. However, the expression level of GASIP positively correlates with the expression level of MPL in platelets of human individuals. The phenomenon can be explained by the presence of juxtaposed GATA and Ets-transcription factor binding sites in both the mpl and the GASIP promoters, suggesting that the two genes are

transcriptionally regulated in a similar fashion in megakaryocytes. It is known that GATA-1 binds to the mpl promoter and, in concert with FOG-1, activates mpl transcription. Indeed, the expression levels of MPL positively correlates with the expression of GATA-1 in platelets (Fig. 5) and the same is true for GASIP expression (Fig. 5), indicating that GASIP is regulated by GATA-1. Importantly, TPO-R stimulates the proliferation of megakaryocytic precursors, but appears to be dispensable for most aspects of megakaryocytic differentiation. In contrast, as described above, GATA-1 is a negative regulator for the proliferation of early megakaryocytic precursors, though GATA-1 regulated genes, which are responsible for this growth inhibition, are presently unknown. Possibly, GASIP is one of these genes, explaining why mpl transfected cell lines reduce GASIP expression. Using purified megakaryocytes, future work will clarify whether the mpl-dependent GASIP downregulation is TPO-dependent in vivo. We expect TPO to be required to transiently downregulate GASIP in megakaryocytes and foresee that this downregulation contributes to the proliferative signal that is mediated by TPO. The mRNA amounts in platelets are probably representative of megakaryocytic steady state mRNA levels. We think that the steady state expression of both GASIP and mpl mRNA is controlled by GATA-1, which would explain the positive correlation of GASIP and MPL expression in platelets.

Interestingly, we have identified the p53 regulated tumor suppressor SIAH ¹⁹⁹⁻ ²⁰⁴ as a binding partner of GASIP protein. The biological significance of this interaction awaits clarification. Interestingly, the pool of myeloid progenitor cells is expanded in the recently described SIAH-2 knockout mouse ²⁰⁵. Additional effects of GATA-1 malfunction include a vast increase in numbers of tissue megakaryocytes revealing an abnormally small and immature cytoplasm that harbors few platelet granules amid highly disorganized internal membranes ^{185,188}. Thus, absent or impaired GATA-1 results in a unique megakaryocyte differentiation arrest. This shows that, in addition to attenuating cell replication in precursors, GATA-1 also drives cytoplasmic maturation in megakaryocytes and co-ordinates development of platelet organelles. Other features, including proplatelet formation and regulation of platelet size and numbers, may either be directly under GATA-1 control or

simply reflect failure of the cells to progress beyond an early differentiation block. Synthesis of platelet-specific organelles is mediated by a variety of regulators of intracellular vesicle membrane fusion, and platelet release is coordinated through extensive and dynamic reorganization of the actin and microtubule cytoskeletons. The interactions of GASIP with actinin- α 3, filamin and the kinesin Kif 4A suggest a possible role of GASIP in this process. Finally, we found the highest expression of GASIP in granulocytes. Notably, forced GATA-1 expression induces the formation of eosinophil granulocytes in hematopoietic progenitors from human cord blood ²⁰⁶ and GATA-1 is required for the differentiation of eosinophils *in vivo* ^{206,207}. Yu et al. describe a double GATA binding motif as a regulatory element in the GATA-1 promoter that selectively governs expression of GATA-1 in eosinophils ²⁰⁷. Interestingly, the GASIP promoter also contains a double GATA motif (Fig. 1 and Fig. 3). This may explain the high expression of GASIP in granulocytes and suggests that GASIP is an important GATA-1 target gene with a possible role in eosinophil formation.

PERSPECTIVES

Many aspects of cell behavior, such as growth, motility, differentiation, and apoptosis, are regulated by signals which cells receive from their environment. Such signals are critical during many physiological processes like embryonal development, wound healing, hematopoiesis, and in the regulation of the immune response. Extracellular stimuli such as hormones, growth factors, and cytokines bind to and activate receptors at the cell surface. However, signal transduction cascades are not simple one-way streets. They are modulated at every step. Signals conveyed from receptors are relayed, amplified, and integrated, resulting in the expression of target genes in the nucleus and subsequent biological responses, which also depend on the activity of other signaling events and/or the 'history' of a cell. In the first part of my thesis, I studied the importance of alternate cytokine receptor isoforms as regulators of signaling exemplified by the thrombopoietin receptor. In a second project, I studied the role of mpl signaling in regulating the expression of a novel gene with a potential function in cell differentiation and proliferation.

Aberrations of cytokine signaling in disease

A number of pathological conditions have been identified with mutations in cytokine receptors or associated signaling molecules. As could be expected on the basis of the knockout models, mutations leading to a complete loss of receptor function often give rise to severe disease phenotypes. Examples are deleterious mutations in the leptin receptor, causing a syndrome characterized by obesity and various forms of severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID).

An important issue to be addressed is to what extent cytokine receptor signaling contributes to tumorigenesis. Thus far, several reports link aberrations in the JAK/STAT pathways to malignant phenotypes. In mammals, JAKs and STATs are known to be constitutively activated in

Perspectives

hemopoietic cells transformed by diverse oncogenic tyrosine kinases ^{208,209} and in a variety of lymphomas and leukemias ²¹⁰⁻²¹². Expression of a constitutively active STAT3 molecule in immortalized fibroblasts causes cellular transformation ²¹³. Further, JAK2 and STAT5B have been identified as fusion partners in translocations in leukemias. In the Tel-JAK2 fusion protein the kinase domain of JAK2 is constitutively activated leading to constitutive activation of STAT proteins ²¹⁴. STAT5B has been found to be fused to the retinoic receptor alpha gene in patients with acute promyelocytic-like leukemia ²¹⁵. Together these data are indicative of a role for constitutive activation of the JAK-STAT pathways in leukemogenesis. It has been shown that transforming mutations can also occur in cytokine receptors. Moreover, several mutations in the EPO-R have been identified as the molecular lesion resulting in human erythroid malignancies ^{216,217}. Last but not least, the thrombopoietin receptor was originally identified as a homolog of the viral oncogene v-mpl⁷³, emphasizing the oncogenic potential cytokine receptors in general.

Cytokine receptor splice forms and hematopoietic malignancies

In my thesis work, I have charaterized the alternate mpl isoform mpl-tr as a dominant-negative regulator of TPO signaling and provided circumstantial evidence that a second alternative mpl variant, mpl-II, is an additional dominant-negative isoform. Dominant-negative cytokine receptor isoforms have also been identified for other cytokine receptors, but their importance *in vivo* is not well defined, and most spliced isoforms have not been studied at all. The importance of the mpl isoforms in regulating platelet counts suggests a major regulatory function for alternate cytokine receptor isoforms in general. Notably, many cancer-associated gene are regulated by alternative splicing ¹³⁸. Although the functions of most spliced isoforms are not well defined, some have antagonistic activities associated with cell death mechanisms. More recently, it has become apparent that carcinogenesis induces changes in the ratio of alternatively spliced isoforms that might affect cellular behavior and tumorigenesis. *Bcl-x*, a member of the *Bcl-2* family of apoptotic regulators,

Perspectives

produces two alternatively spliced isoforms, Bcl-xL and Bcl-xS, with antiapoptotic and pro-apoptotic activities, respectively. The Bcl-xS protein is upregulated in cells undergoing apoptosis and is downregulated in tumor cells, whereas the Bcl-xL protein is predominantly expressed in many lymphoma cells ²¹⁸. Another example of the involvement of alternative splicing regulation in cancer is the CD44 family of surface glycoproteins, which has a role in cell adhesion and migration as well as in cell-matrix interactions. In many human malignancies, certain CD44 splice variants predominate and in the serum of gastric carcinoma patients, elevated levels of CD44v5 were found to correlate with increased tumor invasion and metastasis ²¹⁹. Differences in the levels of alternatively spliced transcripts were suggested to arise from differences in the mechanism regulating alternative splicing. The possibility that changes in the regulation of alternative splicing might lead to disease was studied in a mouse model for mammary gland tumorigenesis ²²⁰. In this model, tumorigenesis was accompanied by changes in the relative levels of CD44 transcripts, and a profound change in the repertoire and levels of several splicing factors from the SR protein family. These results indicate that changes in splicing regulation might have a significant role as a genetic modifier of tumorigenesis. Interestingly, it has been shown that many alternate cytokine receptor splice forms are differentially expressed during cell differentiation and in cancerous cells ^{110,123,221-223}, suggesting disruptions in proper cytokine receptor splicing as a possible cause of hematopoietic malignancies.

A mouse model of essential thrombocythemia

The mouse model analyzed in this work emphasizes the importance of splice isoforms as inhibitory regulators *in vivo*, because the deletion of the dominant-negative mpl isoforms causes thrombocytosis. The mouse phenotype resembles in many ways human essential thrombocythemia (ET). For instance, the increased platelet levels in the thrombocythemic mice are accompanied by decreased mpl protein expression on platelets and normal TPO levels. The combination of a thrombocytosis accompanied with normal TPO levels in circulation and reduced c-mpl expression on platelets has been observed in ET ¹⁵³ and less frequently in sporadic cases of polycythemia vera

85

and chronic idiopathic myelofibrosis ¹. We have therefore an animal model at hand that allows us to study the basis of the decreased c-mpl expression on platelets and which may also allow the testing of future ET therapies.

m mpl-tr	ETEACFVALAS <mark>RP</mark> T <mark>PGPRPVP</mark> QRHCSPKSF*
h mpl-tr	ETEACPVALTS <mark>RPAPGPRPVP</mark> *
rat Kremen	RPAPGPRP SP
m Kremen	RPAPGPRSGP
h Kremen	RPAPSPGLGP
consensus	RPxPxPxxxP

Fig. 1 Alignment of the C-terminus of mpl-tr with a short peptide sequence, 10 amino acids in length, contained in the extracellular domain of the protein Kremen. The unique sequenc at the C-terminus of mpl-tr is due to a shift of the reading frame at the alternate splice junction of exon 8/11. The mouse mpl-tr petide is terminated after 30 and the human form after 21 amino acids. The sequence in Kremen homologous to mpl-tr is conserved amongst the species rat, mouse (m) and human (h). A consensus sequence is depicted.

Receptor isoform-mediated proteolysis as a novel regulatory mechanism

Mechanistically, dominant-negative receptor variants can form non-functional heterodimers with the full-length receptor or, when expressed as secreted 'soluble' isoforms, compete with the receptor for ligand binding ⁶³. In this work I have discovered a third mechanism, in which the mpl isoform mpl-tr mediates protein degradation of the full-length receptor by a cathepsin-like cysteine protease activity, suggesting the lysozome as the degradative compartment. Future studies, using an array of different protease inhibitors and lysomotropic agents as well as inhibitors of protein trafficking and studies on the subcellular localization of mpl in dependence on mpl-tr expression should clarify the precise mode of mpl destruction.

I have also been able to demonstrate that the unique sequence at the Cterminus of mpl-tr is essential for its function. Interestingly, the wild type form of mpl-tr fails to be secreted ⁷⁴. In contrast, truncated mpl forms consisting of the extracellular domain only, therefore lacking the unique C-terminus of mpl-

Perspectives

tr, are readily secreted into the cell culture supernatant ^{74,75}. In one possible scenario, the C-terminus of mpl-tr prevents the secretion of mpl-tr and directs the putative mpl/mpl-tr dimer to traffic instead along the endosomal-lysosomal route. Increasing acidification of the endosomal vesicle would cause the dimer to disassemble allowing mpl-tr to be recycled. This model would explain why mpl-tr expression is apparently not affected by mpl protein. Preliminary fluorescent microscopy studies show that mpl-tr is located to the ER, the site of mpl-tr synthesis, but also to other unidentified vesicular structures. Interestingly, the C-terminal mpl-tr peptide motif appears to be present in the Kremen (Krm) protein (Fig. 1). Kremen functions in a sophisticated mechanism of Wnt signal inhibition, whereby an activating coreceptor, LDLreceptor-related protein 6 (LRP6), is segregated and removed by internalization²²⁹. LRP6 clearance was observed as a consequence of ternary complex formation in Krm- and LRP6-transfected cells provided with Dickkopf (Dkk) protein. After application of Dkk1, the membrane localization of tagged versions of LRP6 and Dkk1 diminished quickly. The proteins were instead subsequently enriched in intracellular vesicles, with a slight reduction in LRP6 levels. This decrease was interpreted as degradation and it will be important to verify this hypothesis with further studies. It will be especially interesting to determine whether Krm is being recycled or whether it is also being degraded. A functional role of the Kremen peptide sequence, which aligns with the mpl-tr C-terminus, would suggest that Kremen, in analogy to mpl-tr, is recycled. Further structure function analysis of the C-terminal sequence of mpl-tr will hopefully allow us to define a minimal functional peptide motif. It will be of interest to determine if such a peptide motif is also present in other receptor isoforms or proteins other than Kremen that mediate proteolysis.

Characterization of a novel mpl- and GATA-regulated gene

In the second part of my thesis work, I have characterized a novel gene, which has been named GASIP for <u>GA</u>TA-1 regulated <u>SIAH Interacting</u> <u>Protein</u>. GASIP is downregulated in hematopietic cell lines when mpl is expressed. So far it is not clear, which signaling events initiated by mpl lead to GASIP repression. Moreover, downregulation of GASIP in mpl-expressing cell

87

Perspectives

lines can occur in both a TPO-dependent and –independent fashion and studies on primary megakarycocytes should clarify the role of mpl signaling in regulating GASIP. The expression of GASIP appears to be to some extent under the transcriptional control of GATA-1 in vivo. In contrast to mpl, GATA-1 is a negative regulator of megakaryocyte cell proliferation ^{185,188}. However, target genes of GATA-1, which mediate the anti-proliferative effect, have remained elusive. The finding that mpl and GATA have opposite effects on both proliferation and on GASIP expression, make GASIP a candidate GATA-1 target gene involved in growth inhibition. In one possible model, GATA-1 constitutively activates GASIP transcription in the megakaryocytic precursors and together with other factors GASIP would exert an anti-proliferative effect and/or play a role in differentiation. Contrarily, activation of TPO-R triggers the repression of anti-proliferative genes and GASIP could be such a target gene for repression. The potential function of GASIP in the megakaryocytic lineage will be tested by generating mice which express GASIP as a transgene under the control of the mpl promoter. To assure overexpression of GASIP, the 3' UTR of GASIP, which is AU-rich and probably exerts a negative effect on mRNA stability, has been removed in the transgenic construct (Fig. 2A). The highest expression of GASIP was found in granulocytes. Interestingly, the assembly of transcription factor binding sites in the GASIP promoter resemble the composition of the arch-typical eosinophilic promoter of the eos47 gene. The promoter of the eos 47 gene (encoding EOS47, the avian ortholog of the mammalian melanotransferrin gene) consists of binding sites for Myb-, Ets-, C/EBP-, and GATA-type transcription factors ^{224,225}, all elements also contained in the GASIP promoter (Fig.3). Further, the double GATA site in the GASIP promoter appears to be specific for eosinophil expression ²⁰⁷. An available embryonic stem cell clone containing a gene-trap insertion in intron 2 of GASIP (Fig. 2B) will allow the generation of a mouse with a GASIP gene disruption. Such a mouse would be a valuable tool in studying a putative function of GASIP in eosinophilic granulocytes.

88



Fig. 2. Tools for the *in vivo* analysis of GASIP function. (A) The construct used for the over-expression of GASIP in the megakaryocytic lineage. A 2kb mpl promoter fragment has been cloned in front of mGASIP cDNA followed by a SV40-derived polyA signal (not shown). The AU-rich 3'UTR of GASIP, which probaly functions as a negative regulator of mRNA stability, has been removed. Several transgenic founders are available. (B) A gene-trap vector insertion in intron 2 of mGASIP has been identified in 3 independent mouse ES clones. These cells will allow the study of GASIP gene disruption in a mouse model. The presence of the lacZ gene in the vector insertion will be useful for GASIP expression studies.



Fig. 3. Alignment of the GASIP and EOS47 promoter. The promoter of the eosinophilic EOS47 gene contains several transcription factor elements, which are also found in the GASIP promoter. Of particular importance in eosinophilic lineage commitment are members of the C/EBP family of transcription factors and GATA-1.

To gain insights into the potential function of GASIP protein, I performed Yeast-Two-Hybrid screens. Notably, the tumor suppressor SIAH was identified as a binding partner of GASIP protein and one could speculate whether GASIP could contribute to the anti-proliferative effect of SIAH. Additionally, cytoskeletal proteins and the RNA binding protein hnRNP E1 were found to be GASIP interacting proteins. The binding of GASIP to filamin, actinin and a kinesin suggests a potential function of GASIP in cytoskeletal rearrangements with potential importance in the differentiation of both megakaryocytes and granulocytes.

Of particular interest is the interaction of GASIP with the heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein E1 (hnRNP E1). The hnRNPs E1 and E2 proteins share over 80% homology, which makes it likely that GASIP also interacts with hnRNP E2. Both, hnRNPs E1 and E2, function as regulators of cytoplasmic mRNAs of key factors in erythroid and granulocytic differentiation. In erythroid-precursor cells, hnRNP E1 regulates translation of reticulocyte 15-lipoxygenase (LOX) mRNA specifically, through the differentiation-control element (DICE) in the 3' UTR of the LOX ^{226,227}. LOX is a key enzyme in erythroid-cell differentiation. It catalyses the dioxygenation of intact phospholipids in mitochondrial membranes and participates in their breakdown in the final steps of erythrocyte maturation.

By a similar mechanism, hnRNP E2 inhibits the translation of C/EBPalpha, the principal regulator of granulocytic differentiation. Importantly, the BCR-ABL oncoprotein induces expression of hnRNP E2, which blocks the production of C/EBP and causes an arrest in granulocytic differentiation ²²⁸. Because GASIP interacts with hnRNP through its N-terminus and with the E3-ubiquitin ligase SIAH through its C-terminus, it is feasible that GASIP, hnRNP E1/2 and SIAH can form a complex. In a highly speculative model, GASIP would recruit hnRNP E1/2 for ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis and thus promote differentiation and inhibit proliferation

REFERENCES

1. Kralovics R, Buser AS, Teo SS, Coers J, Tichelli A, van_der_Maas AP, Skoda RC. Comparison of molecular markers in a cohort of patients with chronic myeloproliferative disorders. Blood. 2003;102:1869-1871

2. Abdel_Meguid SS, Shieh HS, Smith WW, Dayringer HE, Violand BN, Bentle LA. Three-dimensional structure of a genetically engineered variant of porcine growth hormone. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1987;84:6434-6437

3. Kondo M, Wagers AJ, Manz MG, Prohaska SS, Scherer DC, Beilhack GF, Shizuru JA, Weissman IL. BIOLOGY OF HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS AND PROGENITORS: Implications for Clinical Application. Annual Review of Immunology. 2003;21:759-806

4. Godin I, Cumano A. The hare and the tortoise: an embryonic haematopoietic race. 2002;2:593-604

5. Dzierzak E. Embryonic beginnings of definitive hematopoietic stem cells. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 1999;872:256-262; discussion 262-254

6. Akashi K, Traver D, Miyamoto T, Weissman IL. A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. Nature. 2000;404:193-197

7. Kondo M, Weissman IL, Akashi K. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Cell. 1997;91:661-672

8. Wells JA, de_Vos AM. Hematopoietic receptor complexes. Annual Review of Biochemistry. 1996;65:609-634

9. Skoda RC. Specificity of signaling by hematopoietic cytokine receptors: instructive versus permissive effects. Journal of Receptor and Signal Transduction Research. 1999;19:741-772

10. Grotzinger J. Molecular mechanisms of cytokine receptor activation. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta. 2002;1592:215-223

11. de_Vos AM, Ultsch M, Kossiakoff AA. Human growth hormone and extracellular domain of its receptor: crystal structure of the complex. Science. 1992;255:306-312

12. Clackson T, Wells JA. A hot spot of binding energy in a hormone-receptor interface. Science. 1995;267:383-386

13. Savino R, Ciapponi L, Lahm A, Demartis A, Cabibbo A, Toniatti C, Delmastro P, Altamura S, Ciliberto G. Rational design of a receptor super-antagonist of human interleukin-6. The Embo Journal. 1994;13:5863-5870

14. Savino R, Lahm A, Salvati AL, Ciapponi L, Sporeno E, Altamura S, Paonessa G, Toniatti C, Ciliberto G. Generation of interleukin-6 receptor antagonists by molecular-modeling guided mutagenesis of residues important for gp130 activation. The Embo Journal. 1994;13:1357-1367

15. Chow_ D, He_ X, Snow AL, Rose_John S, Garcia KC. Structure of an extracellular gp130 cytokine receptor signaling complex. Science. 2001;291:2150-2155

16. Kallen KJ, Grotzinger J, Lelievre E, Vollmer P, Aasland D, Renne C, Mullberg J, Myer_zum_Buschenfelde KH, Gascan H, Rose_John S. Receptor recognition sites of cytokines are organized as exchangeable modules. Transfer of the leukemia inhibitory factor receptor-binding site from ciliary neurotrophic factor to interleukin-6. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1999;274:11859-11867

17. Bravo J, Heath JK. Receptor recognition by gp130 cytokines. The Embo Journal. 2000;19:2399-2411

18. Idriss HT, Naismith JH. TNF alpha and the TNF receptor superfamily: structure-function relationship(s). Microscopy Research and Technique. 2000;50:184-195

19. Livnah O, Stura EA, Middleton SA, Johnson DL, Jolliffe LK, Wilson IA. Crystallographic evidence for preformed dimers of erythropoietin receptor before ligand activation. Science. 1999;283:987-990

20. Naismith JH, Devine TQ, Brandhuber BJ, Sprang SR. Crystallographic evidence for dimerization of unliganded tumor necrosis factor receptor. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1995;270:13303-13307

21. Livnah O, Johnson DL, Stura EA, Farrell FX, Barbone FP, You Y, Liu KD, Goldsmith MA, He W, Krause CD, Pestka S, Jolliffe LK, Wilson IA. An antagonist peptide-EPO receptor complex suggests that receptor dimerization is not sufficient for activation. Nature Structural Biology. 1998;5:993-1004

22. Remy I, Wilson IA, Michnick SW. Erythropoietin receptor activation by a ligand-induced conformation change. Science. 1999;283:990-993

23. Kawamura M, McVicar DW, Johnston JA, Blake TB, Chen YQ, Lal BK, Lloyd AR, Kelvin DJ, Staples JE, Ortaldo JR. Molecular cloning of L-JAK, a Janus family protein-tyrosine kinase expressed in natural killer cells and activated leukocytes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1994;91:6374-6378

24. Rane SG, Reddy EP. JAK3: a novel JAK kinase associated with terminal differentiation of hematopoietic cells. Oncogene. 1994;9:2415-2423

25. Ihle JN. The Janus protein tyrosine kinase family and its role in cytokine signaling. Advances in Immunology. 1995;60:1-35

26. Horvath CM, Darnell JE. The state of the STATs: recent developments in the study of signal transduction to the nucleus. Current Opinion in Cell Biology. 1997;9:233-239

27. Darnell JE. STATs and gene regulation. Science. 1997;277:1630-1635

28. Yamamoto K, Kobayashi H, Arai A, Miura O, Hirosawa S, Miyasaka N. cDNA cloning, expression and chromosome mapping of the human STAT4 gene: both STAT4 and STAT1 genes are mapped to 2q32.2-->q32.3. Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics. 1997;77:207-210

29. Jacobson NG, Szabo SJ, Weber_Nordt RM, Zhong Z, Schreiber RD, Darnell JE, Murphy KM. Interleukin 12 signaling in T helper type 1 (Th1) cells involves tyrosine phosphorylation of signal transducer and activator of transcription (Stat)3 and Stat4. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1995;181:1755-1762

30. Murata T, Noguchi PD, Puri RK. IL-13 induces phosphorylation and activation of JAK2 Janus kinase in human colon carcinoma cell lines: similarities between IL-4 and IL-13 signaling. Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950). 1996;156:2972-2978

31. Quelle FW, Shimoda K, Thierfelder W, Fischer C, Kim A, Ruben SM, Cleveland JL, Pierce JH, Keegan AD, Nelms K. Cloning of murine Stat6 and human Stat6, Stat proteins that are tyrosine phosphorylated in responses to IL-4 and IL-3 but are not required for mitogenesis. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 1995;15:3336-3343

32. Hou J, Schindler U, Henzel WJ, Ho TC, Brasseur M, McKnight SL. An interleukin-4-induced transcription factor: IL-4 Stat. Science. 1994;265:1701-1706

33. Heim MH, Kerr IM, Stark GR, Darnell JE. Contribution of STAT SH2 groups to specific interferon signaling by the Jak-STAT pathway. Science. 1995;267:1347-1349

34. Hilton DJ. Negative regulators of cytokine signal transduction. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : Cmls. 1999;55:1568-1577

35. Yasukawa H, Sasaki A, Yoshimura A. Negative regulation of cytokine signaling pathways. Annual Review of Immunology. 2000;18:143-164

36. Jones SA, Horiuchi S, Topley N, Yamamoto N, Fuller GM. The soluble interleukin 6 receptor: mechanisms of production and implications in disease. The Faseb Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies For Experimental Biology. 2001;15:43-58

37. Heaney ML, Golde DW. Soluble receptors in human disease. Journal of Leukocyte Biology. 1998;64:135-146

38. Ashman LK. The biology of stem cell factor and its receptor C-kit. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology. 1999;31:1037-1051

39. Nicholson SE, Hilton DJ. The SOCS proteins: a new family of negative regulators of signal transduction. Journal of Leukocyte Biology. 1998;63:665-668

40. Naka T, Fujimoto M, Kishimoto T. Negative regulation of cytokine signaling: STAT-induced STAT inhibitor. Trends in Biochemical Sciences. 1999;24:394-398

41. Hilton DJ, Richardson RT, Alexander WS, Viney EM, Willson TA, Sprigg NS, Starr R, Nicholson SE, Metcalf D, Nicola NA. Twenty proteins containing a C-terminal SOCS box form five structural classes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1998;95:114-119 42. Zhang JG, Farley A, Nicholson SE, Willson TA, Zugaro LM, Simpson RJ, Moritz RL, Cary D, Richardson R, Hausmann G, Kile BJ, Kent SB, Alexander WS, Metcalf D, Hilton DJ, Nicola NA, Baca M. The conserved SOCS box motif in suppressors of cytokine signaling binds to elongins B and C and may couple bound proteins to proteasomal degradation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1999;96:2071-2076

43. Matsumoto A, Seki Y, Kubo M, Ohtsuka S, Suzuki A, Hayashi I, Tsuji K, Nakahata T, Okabe M, Yamada S, Yoshimura A. Suppression of STAT5 functions in liver, mammary glands, and T cells in cytokine-inducible SH2-containing protein 1 transgenic mice. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 1999;19:6396-6407

44. Marine JC, McKay C, Wang D, Topham DJ, Parganas E, Nakajima H, Pendeville H, Yasukawa H, Sasaki A, Yoshimura A, Ihle JN. SOCS3 is essential in the regulation of fetal liver erythropoiesis. Cell. 1999;98:617-627

45. Yasukawa H, Misawa H, Sakamoto H, Masuhara M, Sasaki A, Wakioka T, Ohtsuka S, Imaizumi T, Matsuda T, Ihle JN, Yoshimura A. The JAK-binding protein JAB inhibits Janus tyrosine kinase activity through binding in the activation loop. The Embo Journal. 1999;18:1309-1320

46. Nicholson SE, Willson TA, Farley A, Starr R, Zhang JG, Baca M, Alexander WS, Metcalf D, Hilton DJ, Nicola NA. Mutational analyses of the SOCS proteins suggest a dual domain requirement but distinct mechanisms for inhibition of LIF and IL-6 signal transduction. The Embo Journal. 1999;18:375-385

47. Narazaki M, Fujimoto M, Matsumoto T, Morita Y, Saito H, Kajita T, Yoshizaki K, Naka T, Kishimoto T. Three distinct domains of SSI-1/SOCS-1/JAB protein are required for its suppression of interleukin 6 signaling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1998;95:13130-13134

48. Marine JC, Topham DJ, McKay C, Wang D, Parganas E, Stravopodis D, Yoshimura A, Ihle JN. SOCS1 deficiency causes a lymphocyte-dependent perinatal lethality. Cell. 1999;98:609-616

49. Alexander WS, Starr R, Fenner JE, Scott CL, Handman E, Sprigg NS, Corbin JE, Cornish AL, Darwiche R, Owczarek CM, Kay TW, Nicola NA, Hertzog PJ, Metcalf D, Hilton DJ. SOCS1 is a critical inhibitor of interferon gamma signaling and prevents the potentially fatal neonatal actions of this cytokine. Cell. 1999;98:597-608

50. Metcalf D, Greenhalgh CJ, Viney E, Willson TA, Starr R, Nicola NA, Hilton DJ, Alexander WS. Gigantism in mice lacking suppressor of cytokine signalling-2. Nature. 2000;405:1069-1073

51. Hansen JA, Lindberg K, Hilton DJ, Nielsen JH, Billestrup N. Mechanism of inhibition of growth hormone receptor signaling by suppressor of cytokine signaling proteins. Molecular Endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.). 1999;13:1832-1843

52. Cacalano NA, Migone TS, Bazan F, Hanson EP, Chen M, Candotti F, O_Shea JJ, Johnston JA. Autosomal SCID caused by a point mutation in the N-terminus of Jak3: mapping of the Jak3-receptor interaction domain. The Embo Journal. 1999;18:1549-1558

53. Schmitz J, Weissenbach M, Haan S, Heinrich PC, Schaper F. SOCS3 exerts its inhibitory function on interleukin-6 signal transduction through the SHP2 recruitment site of gp130. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2000;275:12848-12856

54. Nicholson SE, De_Souza D, Fabri LJ, Corbin J, Willson TA, Zhang JG, Silva A, Asimakis M, Farley A, Nash AD, Metcalf D, Hilton DJ, Nicola NA, Baca M. Suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 preferentially binds to the SHP-2-binding site on the shared cytokine receptor subunit gp130. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2000;97:6493-6498

55. Liu B, Liao J, Rao X, Kushner SA, Chung CD, Chang DD, Shuai K. Inhibition of Stat1-mediated gene activation by PIAS1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1998;95:10626-10631

56. Shuai K. Modulation of STAT signaling by STAT-interacting proteins. Oncogene. 2000;19:2638-2644

57. Jackson PK. A new RING for SUMO: wrestling transcriptional responses into nuclear bodies with PIAS family E3 SUMO ligases. Genes & Development. 2001;15:3053-3058

58. Zhang J, Somani AK, Siminovitch KA. Roles of the SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase in the negative regulation of cell signalling. Seminars in Immunology. 2000;12:361-378

59. Gadina M, Sudarshan C, Visconti R, Zhou YJ, Gu H, Neel BG, O_Shea JJ. The docking molecule gab2 is induced by lymphocyte activation and is involved in signaling by interleukin-2 and interleukin-15 but not other common gamma chain-using cytokines. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2000;275:26959-26966

60. Gu H, Maeda H, Moon JJ, Lord JD, Yoakim M, Nelson BH, Neel BG. New role for Shc in activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2000;20:7109-7120

61. Krystal G. Lipid phosphatases in the immune system. Seminars in Immunology. 2000;12:397-403

62. Irie_Sasaki J, Sasaki T, Matsumoto W, Opavsky A, Cheng M, Welstead G, Griffiths E, Krawczyk C, Richardson CD, Aitken K, Iscove N, Koretzky G, Johnson P, Liu P, Rothstein DM, Penninger JM. CD45 is a JAK phosphatase and negatively regulates cytokine receptor signalling. Nature. 2001;409:349-354

63. Heaney ML, Golde DW. Soluble cytokine receptors. Blood. 1996;87:847-857

64. Jostock T, Mullberg J, Ozbek S, Atreya R, Blinn G, Voltz N, Fischer M, Neurath MF, Rose_John S. Soluble gp130 is the natural inhibitor of soluble interleukin-6 receptor transsignaling responses. European Journal of Biochemistry. 2001;268:160-167

65. Tsuruoka N, Yamashiro K, Tsujimoto M. Purification of soluble murine interleukin 5 (IL-5) receptor alpha expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells and its action as an IL-5 antagonist. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 1993;307:133-137

66. Brown CB, Beaudry P, Laing TD, Shoemaker S, Kaushansky K. In vitro characterization of the human recombinant soluble granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor. Blood. 1995;85:1488-1495

67. Shimizu R, Komatsu N, Miura Y. Dominant negative effect of a truncated erythropoietin receptor (EPOR-T) on erythropoietin-induced erythroid differentiation: possible involvement of EPOR-T in ineffective erythropoiesis of myelodysplastic syndrome. Experimental Hematology. 1999;27:229-233

68. Wagner K, Kafert_Kasting S, Heil G, Ganser A, Eder M. Inhibition of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor function by a splice variant of the common beta-receptor subunit. Blood. 2001;98:2689-2696

69. Kaushansky K, Drachman JG. The molecular and cellular biology of thrombopoietin: the primary regulator of platelet production. Oncogene. 2002;21:3359-3367

70. Wendling F, Varlet P, Charon M, Tambourin P. MPLV: a retrovirus complex inducing an acute myeloproliferative leukemic disorder in adult mice. Virology. 1986;149:242-246

71. Souyri M, Vigon I, Penciolelli JF, Heard JM, Tambourin P, Wendling F. A putative truncated cytokine receptor gene transduced by the myeloproliferative leukemia virus immortalizes hematopoietic progenitors. Cell. 1990;63:1137-1147

72. Vigon I, Florindo C, Fichelson S, Guenet JL, Mattei MG, Souyri M, Cosman D, Gisselbrecht S. Characterization of the murine Mpl proto-oncogene, a member of the hematopoietic cytokine receptor family: molecular cloning, chromosomal location and evidence for a function in cell growth. Oncogene. 1993;8:2607-2615

73. Vigon I, Mornon JP, Cocault L, Mitjavila MT, Tambourin P, Gisselbrecht S, Souyri M. Molecular cloning and characterization of MPL, the human homolog of the vmpl oncogene: identification of a member of the hematopoietic growth factor receptor superfamily. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1992;89:5640-5644

74. Skoda RC, Seldin DC, Chiang MK, Peichel CL, Vogt TF, Leder P. Murine cmpl: a member of the hematopoietic growth factor receptor superfamily that transduces a proliferative signal. The Embo Journal. 1993;12:2645-2653

75. Bartley TD, Bogenberger J, Hunt P, Li YS, Lu HS, Martin F, Chang MS, Samal B, Nichol JL, Swift S. Identification and cloning of a megakaryocyte growth and development factor that is a ligand for the cytokine receptor Mpl. Cell. 1994;77:1117-1124

76. Kaushansky K, Karplus PA. Hematopoietic growth factors: understanding functional diversity in structural terms. Blood. 1993;82:3229-3240

77. Mignotte V, Vigon I, Boucher_de_Crevecoeur E, Romeo PH, Lemarchandel V, Chretien S. Structure and transcription of the human c-mpl gene (MPL). Genomics. 1994;20:5-12

78. Alexander WS, Dunn AR. Structure and transcription of the genomic locus encoding murine c-Mpl, a receptor for thrombopoietin. Oncogene. 1995;10:795-803

79. Li J, Sabath DF, Kuter DJ. Cloning and functional characterization of a novel c-mpl variant expressed in human CD34 cells and platelets. Cytokine. 2000;12:835-844

80. Sabath DF, Lofton_Day C, Lin N, Lok S, Kaushansky K, Broudy VC. Identification and characterization of an isoform of murine Mpl. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta. 2002;1574:383-386

81. de_Sauvage FJ, Carver_Moore K, Luoh SM, Ryan A, Dowd M, Eaton DL, Moore MW. Physiological regulation of early and late stages of megakaryocytopoiesis by thrombopoietin. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1996;183:651-656

82. Gurney AL, Carver_Moore K, de_Sauvage FJ, Moore MW. Thrombocytopenia in c-mpl-deficient mice. Science. 1994;265:1445-1447

83. Alexander WS, Roberts AW, Nicola NA, Li R, Metcalf D. Deficiencies in progenitor cells of multiple hematopoietic lineages and defective megakaryocytopoiesis in mice lacking the thrombopoietic receptor c-Mpl. Blood. 1996;87:2162-2170

84. Stoffel R, Wiestner A, Skoda RC. Thrombopoietin in thrombocytopenic mice: evidence against regulation at the mRNA level and for a direct regulatory role of platelets. Blood. 1996;87:567-573

85. Kaushansky K. Thrombopoietin: accumulating evidence for an important biological effect on the hematopoietic stem cell. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2003;996:39-43

86. Solar GP, Kerr WG, Zeigler FC, Hess D, Donahue C, de_Sauvage FJ, Eaton DL. Role of c-mpl in early hematopoiesis. Blood. 1998;92:4-10

87. Drachman JG, Sabath DF, Fox NE, Kaushansky K. Thrombopoietin signal transduction in purified murine megakaryocytes. Blood. 1997;89:483-492

88. Lannutti B, Shim M, Blake N, Reems J, Drachman J. Identification and activation of Src family kinases in primary megakaryocytes. Exp Hematol. 2003;12:1268-1274

89. Drachman JG, Rojnuckarin P, Kaushansky K. Thrombopoietin signal transduction: studies from cell lines and primary cells. Methods (San Diego, Calif.). 1999;17:238-249

90. Boulay JL, O_Shea JJ, Paul WE. Molecular phylogeny within type I cytokines and their cognate receptors. Immunity. 2003;19:159-163

91. Kondo M, Scherer DC, Miyamoto T, King AG, Akashi K, Sugamura K, Weissman IL. Cell-fate conversion of lymphoid-committed progenitors by instructive actions of cytokines. Nature. 2000;407:383-386

92. Iwasaki_Arai J, Iwasaki H, Miyamoto T, Watanabe S, Akashi K. Enforced granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor signals do not support lymphopoiesis, but instruct lymphoid to myelomonocytic lineage conversion. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2003;197:1311-1322

93. Socolovsky M, Fallon AE, Lodish HF. The prolactin receptor rescues EpoR-/- erythroid progenitors and replaces EpoR in a synergistic interaction with c-kit. Blood. 1998;92:1491-1496

94. Stoffel R, Ziegler S, Ghilardi N, Ledermann B, de_Sauvage FJ, Skoda RC. Permissive role of thrombopoietin and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptors in hematopoietic cell fate decisions in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1999;96:698-702

95. Brisken C, Socolovsky M, Lodish HF, Weinberg R. The signaling domain of the erythropoietin receptor rescues prolactin receptor-mutant mammary epithelium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2002;99:14241-14245

96. Touw IP, De_Koning JP, Ward AC, Hermans MH. Signaling mechanisms of cytokine receptors and their perturbances in disease. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2000;160:1-9

97. Ihle JN. Cytokine receptor signalling. Nature. 1995;377:591-594

98. Roberts GC, Smith CW. Alternative splicing: combinatorial output from the genome. Current Opinion in Chemical Biology. 2002;6:375-383

99. Fernandez_Botran R. Soluble cytokine receptors: their role in immunoregulation. The Faseb Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies For Experimental Biology. 1991;5:2567-2574

100. Veldhuis JD, Johnson ML, Faunt LM, Mercado M, Baumann G. Influence of the high-affinity growth hormone (GH)-binding protein on plasma profiles of free and bound GH and on the apparent half-life of GH. Modeling analysis and clinical applications. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. 1993;91:629-641

101. Aderka D, Engelmann H, Maor Y, Brakebusch C, Wallach D. Stabilization of the bioactivity of tumor necrosis factor by its soluble receptors. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1992;175:323-329

102. Basu A, Raghunath M, Bishayee S, Das M. Inhibition of tyrosine kinase activity of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor by a truncated receptor form that binds to EGF: role for interreceptor interaction in kinase regulation. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 1989;9:671-677

103. Arend WP, Malyak M, Smith MF, Whisenand TD, Slack JL, Sims JE, Giri JG, Dower SK. Binding of IL-1 alpha, IL-1 beta, and IL-1 receptor antagonist by soluble IL-1 receptors and levels of soluble IL-1 receptors in synovial fluids. Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950). 1994;153:4766-4774

104. Liu X, Constantinescu SN, Sun Y, Bogan JS, Hirsch D, Weinberg RA, Lodish HF. Generation of mammalian cells stably expressing multiple genes at predetermined levels. Analytical Biochemistry. 2000;280:20-28

105. Bormann P, Roth LW, Andel D, Ackermann M, Reinhard E. zfNLRR, a novel leucine-rich repeat protein is preferentially expressed during regeneration in zebrafish. Mol Cell Neurosci. 1999;13:167-179

106. Daley GQ, Van_Etten RA, Baltimore D. Induction of chronic myelogenous leukemia in mice by the P210bcr/abl gene of the Philadelphia chromosome. Science. 1990;247:824-830

107. Hofmann F, Martelli F, Livingston DM, Wang Z. The retinoblastoma gene product protects E2F-1 from degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Genes & Development. 1996;10:2949-2959

108. Ghilardi N, Li J, Hongo JA, Yi S, Gurney A, de_Sauvage FJ. A novel type I cytokine receptor is expressed on monocytes, signals proliferation, and activates STAT-3 and STAT-5. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2002;277:16831-16836

109. Nakamura Y, Takano H, Osawa M, Tomita T, Kim DK, Kojima M, Motohashi T, Miyoshi S, Hiroyama T, Tokumoto Y, Nakauchi H. Impaired erythropoiesis in transgenic mice overexpressing a truncated erythropoietin receptor. Experimental Hematology. 1998;26:1105-1110

110. Tavernier J, Van_der_Heyden J, Verhee A, Brusselle G, Van_Ostade X, Vandekerckhove J, North J, Rankin SM, Kay AB, Robinson DS. Interleukin 5 regulates the isoform expression of its own receptor alpha-subunit. Blood. 2000;95:1600-1607

111. Peters M, Jacobs S, Ehlers M, Vollmer P, Mullberg J, Wolf E, Brem G, Meyer_zum_Buschenfelde KH, Rose_John S. The function of the soluble interleukin 6 (IL-6) receptor in vivo: sensitization of human soluble IL-6 receptor transgenic mice towards IL-6 and prolongation of the plasma half-life of IL-6. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1996;183:1399-1406

112. Ogata A, Chauhan D, Teoh G, Treon SP, Urashima M, Schlossman RL, Anderson KC. IL-6 triggers cell growth via the Ras-dependent mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade. Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950). 1997;159:2212-2221

113. Hayashida K, Kitamura T, Gorman DM, Arai K, Yokota T, Miyajima A. Molecular cloning of a second subunit of the receptor for human granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF): reconstitution of a high-affinity GM-CSF receptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1990;87:9655-9659 114. Tavernier J, Tuypens T, Plaetinck G, Verhee A, Fiers W, Devos R. Molecular basis of the membrane-anchored and two soluble isoforms of the human interleukin 5 receptor alpha subunit. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1992;89:7041-7045

115. Morishita E, Narita H, Nishida M, Kawashima N, Yamagishi K, Masuda S, Nagao M, Hatta H, Sasaki R. Anti-erythropoietin receptor monoclonal antibody: epitope mapping, quantification of the soluble receptor, and detection of the solubilized transmembrane receptor and the receptor-expressing cells. Blood. 1996;88:465-471

116. Yu A, Malek TR. The proteasome regulates receptor-mediated endocytosis of interleukin-2. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2001;276:381-385

117. Longva KE, Blystad FD, Stang E, Larsen AM, Johannessen LE, Madshus IH. Ubiquitination and proteasomal activity is required for transport of the EGF receptor to inner membranes of multivesicular bodies. The Journal of Cell Biology. 2002;156:843-854

118. Armstrong J, Patel S, Riddle P. Lysosomal sorting mutants of coronavirus E1 protein, a Golgi membrane protein. Journal of Cell Science. 1990;95 (Pt 2):191-197

119. Wolins N, Bosshart H, Kuster H, Bonifacino JS. Aggregation as a determinant of protein fate in post-Golgi compartments: role of the luminal domain of furin in lysosomal targeting. The Journal of Cell Biology. 1997;139:1735-1745

120. VanSlyke JK, Deschenes SM, Musil LS. Intracellular transport, assembly, and degradation of wild-type and disease-linked mutant gap junction proteins. Molecular Biology of the Cell. 2000;11:1933-1946

121. Chang A, Fink GR. Targeting of the yeast plasma membrane [H+]ATPase: a novel gene AST1 prevents mislocalization of mutant ATPase to the vacuole. The Journal of Cell Biology. 1995;128:39-49

122. Heaney ML, Vera JC, Raines MA, Golde DW. Membrane-associated and soluble granulocyte/macrophage-colony-stimulating factor receptor alpha subunits are independently regulated in HL-60 cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1995;92:2365-2369

123. Slater N, Yamaguchi M, Rothwell D, Baker P, Heyworth C, Chopra R. The human granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor alpha2 isoform influences haemopoietic lineage commitment and divergence. Br J Haematol. 2003;122:150-158.

124. Kieran MW, Perkins AC, Orkin SH, Zon LI. Thrombopoietin rescues in vitro erythroid colony formation from mouse embryos lacking the erythropoietin receptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1996;93:9126-9131

125. Lin CS, Lim SK, D_Agati V, Costantini F. Differential effects of an erythropoietin receptor gene disruption on primitive and definitive erythropoiesis. Genes & Development. 1996;10:154-164

126. Wu H, Liu X, Jaenisch R, Lodish HF. Generation of committed erythroid BFU-E and CFU-E progenitors does not require erythropoietin or the erythropoietin receptor. Cell. 1995;83:59-67

127. Liu F, Poursine_Laurent J, Link DC. The granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor is required for the mobilization of murine hematopoietic progenitors into peripheral blood by cyclophosphamide or interleukin-8 but not flt-3 ligand. Blood. 1997;90:2522-2528

128. Liu F, Wu HY, Wesselschmidt R, Kornaga T, Link DC. Impaired production and increased apoptosis of neutrophils in granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor-deficient mice. Immunity. 1996;5:491-501

129. Lieschke GJ, Grail D, Hodgson G, Metcalf D, Stanley E, Cheers C, Fowler KJ, Basu S, Zhan YF, Dunn AR. Mice lacking granulocyte colony-stimulating factor have chronic neutropenia, granulocyte and macrophage progenitor cell deficiency, and impaired neutrophil mobilization. Blood. 1994;84:1737-1746

130. Gurney AL, de_Sauvage FJ. Dissection of c-Mpl and thrombopoietin function: studies of knockout mice and receptor signal transduction. Stem Cells. 1996;14 Suppl 1:116-123

131. Bunting S, Widmer R, Lipari T, Rangell L, Steinmetz H, Carver_Moore K, Moore MW, Keller GA, de_Sauvage FJ. Normal platelets and megakaryocytes are produced in vivo in the absence of thrombopoietin. Blood. 1997;90:3423-3429 132. Ihara K, Ishii E, Eguchi M, Takada H, Suminoe A, Good RA, Hara T. Identification of mutations in the c-mpl gene in congenital amegakaryocytic thrombocytopenia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1999;96:3132-3136

133. van_den_Oudenrijn S, Bruin M, Folman CC, Peters M, Faulkner LB, de_Haas M, von_dem_Borne AE. Mutations in the thrombopoietin receptor, Mpl, in children with congenital amegakaryocytic thrombocytopenia. British Journal of Haematology. 2000;110:441-448

134. Ballmaier M, Germeshausen M, Schulze H, Cherkaoui K, Lang S, Gaudig A, Krukemeier S, Eilers M, Strauss G, Welte K. c-mpl mutations are the cause of congenital amegakaryocytic thrombocytopenia. Blood. 2001;97:139-146

135. Myers MP, Andersen JN, Cheng A, Tremblay ML, Horvath CM, Parisien JP, Salmeen A, Barford D, Tonks NK. TYK2 and JAK2 are substrates of protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2001;276:47771-47774

136. Kile BT, Alexander WS. The suppressors of cytokine signalling (SOCS). Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : Cmls. 2001;58:1627-1635

137. Mitsui T, Watanabe S, Taniguchi Y, Hanada S, Ebihara Y, Sato T, Heike T, Mitsuyama M, Nakahata T, Tsuji K. Impaired neutrophil maturation in truncated murine G-CSF receptor-transgenic mice. Blood. 2003;101:2990-2995

138. Nissim_Rafinia M, Kerem B. Splicing regulation as a potential genetic modifier. Trends in Genetics. 2002;18:123-127

139. White JG. The dense bodies of human platelets: inherent electron opacity of the serotonin storage particles. Blood. 1969;33:598-606

140. Heyworth CM, Spooncer E. In vitro clonal assays for murine multipotential and lineage restricted myeloid progenitor cells. In: Testa NG, Molineux G, eds. Haemopoiesis. A practical approach. Oxford: IRL Press, Oxford University Press; 1993:37-53

141. Zhang JL, Stenberg PE, Baker G, Levin J. Immunocytochemical identification of murine and human megakaryocyte colonies in soft-agar cultures. The Histochemical Journal. 1994;26:170-178

142. Chomczynski P, Sacchi N. Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. Analytical Biochemistry. 1987;162:156-159

143. Krieg PA, Melton DA. In vitro RNA synthesis with SP6 RNA polymerase. Methods in Enzymology. 1987;155:397-415

144. Chinault AC, Brennand J, Konecki DS, Nussbaum RL, Caskey CT. Characterization and use of cloned sequences of the hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase gene. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. 1984;165 Pt A:411-415

145. Ziegler S, Burki K, Skoda RC. A 2-kb c-mpl promoter fragment is sufficient to direct expression to the megakaryocytic lineage and sites of embryonic hematopoiesis in transgenic mice. Blood. 2002;100:1072-1074

146. Methia N, Louache F, Vainchenker W, Wendling F. Oligodeoxynucleotides antisense to the proto-oncogene c-mpl specifically inhibit in vitro megakaryocytopoiesis. Blood. 1993;82:1395-1401

147. Villeval JL, Cohen_Solal K, Tulliez M, Giraudier S, Guichard J, Burstein SA, Cramer EM, Vainchenker W, Wendling F. High thrombopoietin production by hematopoietic cells induces a fatal myeloproliferative syndrome in mice. Blood. 1997;90:4369-4383

148. Cohen_Solal K, Vitrat N, Titeux M, Vainchenker W, Wendling F. High-level expression of Mpl in platelets and megakaryocytes is independent of thrombopoietin. Blood. 1999;93:2859-2866

149. Wiestner A, Schlemper RJ, van_der_Maas AP, Skoda RC. An activating splice donor mutation in the thrombopoietin gene causes hereditary thrombocythaemia. Nature Genetics. 1998;18:49-52

150. Ghilardi N, Wiestner A, Kikuchi M, Ohsaka A, Skoda RC. Hereditary thrombocythaemia in a Japanese family is caused by a novel point mutation in the thrombopoietin gene. British Journal of Haematology. 1999;107:310-316

151. Fielder PJ, Hass P, Nagel M, Stefanich E, Widmer R, Bennett GL, Keller GA, de_Sauvage FJ, Eaton D. Human platelets as a model for the binding and degradation of thrombopoietin. Blood. 1997;89:2782-2788

152. Broudy VC, Lin NL, Sabath DF, Papayannopoulou T, Kaushansky K. Human platelets display high-affinity receptors for thrombopoietin. Blood. 1997;89:1896-1904

153. Horikawa Y, Matsumura I, Hashimoto K, Shiraga M, Kosugi S, Tadokoro S, Kato T, Miyazaki H, Tomiyama Y, Kurata Y, Matsuzawa Y, Kanakura Y. Markedly reduced expression of platelet c-mpl receptor in essential thrombocythemia. Blood. 1997;90:4031-4038

154. Luoh SM, Stefanich E, Solar G, Steinmetz H, Lipari T, Pestina TI, Jackson CW, de_Sauvage FJ. Role of the distal half of the c-Mpl intracellular domain in control of platelet production by thrombopoietin in vivo. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2000;20:507-515

155. Debili N, Wendling F, Cosman D, Titeux M, Florindo C, Dusanter_Fourt I, Schooley K, Methia N, Charon M, Nador R. The Mpl receptor is expressed in the megakaryocytic lineage from late progenitors to platelets. Blood. 1995;85:391-401

156. Choi ES, Hokom M, Bartley T, Li YS, Ohashi H, Kato T, Nichol JL, Skrine J, Knudten A, Chen J. Recombinant human megakaryocyte growth and development factor (rHuMGDF), a ligand for c-Mpl, produces functional human platelets in vitro. Stem Cells. 1995;13:317-322

157. Kaushansky K, Lok S, Holly RD, Broudy VC, Lin N, Bailey MC, Forstrom JW, Buddle MM, Oort PJ, Hagen FS. Promotion of megakaryocyte progenitor expansion and differentiation by the c-Mpl ligand thrombopoietin. Nature. 1994;369:568-571

158. Ishibashi T, Miller SL, Burstein SA. Type beta transforming growth factor is a potent inhibitor of murine megakaryocytopoiesis in vitro. Blood. 1987;69:1737-1741

159. Kalina U, Koschmieder S, Hofmann WK, Wagner S, Kauschat D, Hoelzer D, Ottmann OG. Transforming growth factor-beta1 interferes with thrombopoietin-induced signal transduction in megakaryoblastic and erythroleukemic cells. Experimental Hematology. 2001;29:602-608

160. Wang Q, Miyakawa Y, Fox N, Kaushansky K. Interferon-alpha directly represses megakaryopoiesis by inhibiting thrombopoietin-induced signaling through induction of SOCS-1. Blood. 2000;96:2093-2099

161. Alexander WS, Metcalf D, Dunn AR. Point mutations within a dimer interface homology domain of c-Mpl induce constitutive receptor activity and tumorigenicity. The Embo Journal. 1995;14:5569-5578

162. Sabath DF, Kaushansky K, Broudy VC. Deletion of the extracellular membrane-distal cytokine receptor homology module of Mpl results in constitutive cell growth and loss of thrombopoietin binding. Blood. 1999;94:365-367

163. Kuter DJ, Rosenberg RD. Appearance of a megakaryocyte growthpromoting activity, megapoietin, during acute thrombocytopenia in the rabbit. Blood. 1994;84:1464-1472

164. Fielder PJ, Gurney AL, Stefanich E, Marian M, Moore MW, Carver_Moore K, de_Sauvage FJ. Regulation of thrombopoietin levels by c-mpl-mediated binding to platelets. Blood. 1996;87:2154-2161

165. Emmons RV, Reid DM, Cohen RL, Meng G, Young NS, Dunbar CE, Shulman NR. Human thrombopoietin levels are high when thrombocytopenia is due to megakaryocyte deficiency and low when due to increased platelet destruction. Blood. 1996;87:4068-4071

166. Mucenski ML, McLain K, Kier AB, Swerdlow SH, Schreiner CM, Miller TA, Pietryga DW, Scott WJ, Potter SS. A functional c-myb gene is required for normal murine fetal hepatic hematopoiesis. Cell. 1991;65:677-689

167. Tsai FY, Keller G, Kuo FC, Weiss M, Chen J, Rosenblatt M, Alt FW, Orkin SH. An early haematopoietic defect in mice lacking the transcription factor GATA-2. Nature. 1994;371:221-226

168. Okuda T, van_Deursen J, Hiebert SW, Grosveld G, Downing JR. AML1, the target of multiple chromosomal translocations in human leukemia, is essential for normal fetal liver hematopoiesis. Cell. 1996;84:321-330

169. Porcher C, Swat W, Rockwell K, Fujiwara Y, Alt FW, Orkin SH. The T cell leukemia oncoprotein SCL/tal-1 is essential for development of all hematopoietic lineages. Cell. 1996;86:47-57

170. Robb L, Elwood NJ, Elefanty AG, Kontgen F, Li R, Barnett LD, Begley CG. The scl gene product is required for the generation of all hematopoietic lineages in the adult mouse. The Embo Journal. 1996;15:4123-4129

171. Bain G, Maandag EC, Izon DJ, Amsen D, Kruisbeek AM, Weintraub BC, Krop I, Schlissel MS, Feeney AJ, van_Roon M. E2A proteins are required for proper B cell development and initiation of immunoglobulin gene rearrangements. Cell. 1994;79:885-892

172. Scott EW, Simon MC, Anastasi J, Singh H. Requirement of transcription factor PU.1 in the development of multiple hematopoietic lineages. Science. 1994;265:1573-1577

173. Zhuang Y, Soriano P, Weintraub H. The helix-loop-helix gene E2A is required for B cell formation. Cell. 1994;79:875-884

174. Screpanti I, Romani L, Musiani P, Modesti A, Fattori E, Lazzaro D, Sellitto C, Scarpa S, Bellavia D, Lattanzio G. Lymphoproliferative disorder and imbalanced Thelper response in C/EBP beta-deficient mice. The Embo Journal. 1995;14:1932-1941

175. Tanaka T, Akira S, Yoshida K, Umemoto M, Yoneda Y, Shirafuji N, Fujiwara H, Suematsu S, Yoshida N, Kishimoto T. Targeted disruption of the NF-IL6 gene discloses its essential role in bacteria killing and tumor cytotoxicity by macrophages. Cell. 1995;80:353-361

176. Fujiwara Y, Browne CP, Cunniff K, Goff SC, Orkin SH. Arrested development of embryonic red cell precursors in mouse embryos lacking transcription factor GATA-1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1996;93:12355-12358

177. McKercher SR, Torbett BE, Anderson KL, Henkel GW, Vestal DJ, Baribault H, Klemsz M, Feeney AJ, Wu GE, Paige CJ, Maki RA. Targeted disruption of the PU.1 gene results in multiple hematopoietic abnormalities. The Embo Journal. 1996;15:5647-5658

178. Yamanaka R, Barlow C, Lekstrom_Himes J, Castilla LH, Liu PP, Eckhaus M, Decker T, Wynshaw_Boris A, Xanthopoulos KG. Impaired granulopoiesis, myelodysplasia, and early lethality in CCAAT/enhancer binding protein epsilon-deficient mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1997;94:13187-13192

179. Zhang DE, Zhang P, Wang ND, Hetherington CJ, Darlington GJ, Tenen DG. Absence of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor signaling and neutrophil development in CCAAT enhancer binding protein alpha-deficient mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1997;94:569-574

180. Martin DI, Zon LI, Mutter G, Orkin SH. Expression of an erythroid transcription factor in megakaryocytic and mast cell lineages. Nature. 1990;344:444-447

181. Romeo PH, Prandini MH, Joulin V, Mignotte V, Prenant M, Vainchenker W, Marguerie G, Uzan G. Megakaryocytic and erythrocytic lineages share specific transcription factors. Nature. 1990;344:447-449

182. Ravid K, Doi T, Beeler DL, Kuter DJ, Rosenberg RD. Transcriptional regulation of the rat platelet factor 4 gene: interaction between an enhancer/silencer domain and the GATA site. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 1991;11:6116-6127

183. Lemarchandel V, Ghysdael J, Mignotte V, Rahuel C, Romeo PH. GATA and Ets cis-acting sequences mediate megakaryocyte-specific expression. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 1993;13:668-676

184. Deveaux S, Filipe A, Lemarchandel V, Ghysdael J, Romeo PH, Mignotte V. Analysis of the thrombopoietin receptor (MPL) promoter implicates GATA and Ets proteins in the coregulation of megakaryocyte-specific genes. Blood. 1996;87:4678-4685

185. Shivdasani RA, Fujiwara Y, McDevitt MA, Orkin SH. A lineage-selective knockout establishes the critical role of transcription factor GATA-1 in megakaryocyte growth and platelet development. The Embo Journal. 1997;16:3965-3973

186. Nichols KE, Crispino JD, Poncz M, White JG, Orkin SH, Maris JM, Weiss MJ. Familial dyserythropoietic anaemia and thrombocytopenia due to an inherited mutation in GATA1. Nature Genetics. 2000;24:266-270

187. Freson K, Devriendt K, Matthijs G, Van_Hoof A, De_Vos R, Thys C, Minner K, Hoylaerts MF, Vermylen J, Van_Geet C. Platelet characteristics in patients with X-linked macrothrombocytopenia because of a novel GATA1 mutation. Blood. 2001;98:85-92

188. Vyas P, Ault K, Jackson C, Orkin S, Shivdasani R. Consequences of GATA-1 deficiency in megakaryocytes and platelets. Blood. 1999;93:2867-2875

189. Kirito K, Fox N, Kaushansky K. Thrombopoietin stimulates Hoxb4 expression: an explanation for the favorable effects of TPO on hematopoietic stem cells. Blood. 2003;102:3172-3178

190. Sauvageau G, Lansdorp PM, Eaves CJ, Hogge DE, Dragowska WH, Reid DS, Largman C, Lawrence HJ, Humphries RK. Differential expression of homeobox genes in functionally distinct CD34+ subpopulations of human bone marrow cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1994;91:12223-12227

191. Antonchuk J, Sauvageau G, Humphries RK. HOXB4 overexpression mediates very rapid stem cell regeneration and competitive hematopoietic repopulation. Experimental Hematology. 2001;29:1125-1134

192. Buske C, Feuring_Buske M, Abramovich C, Spiekermann K, Eaves CJ, Coulombel L, Sauvageau G, Hogge DE, Humphries RK. Deregulated expression of HOXB4 enhances the primitive growth activity of human hematopoietic cells. Blood. 2002;100:862-868

193. Antonchuk J, Sauvageau G, Humphries RK. HOXB4-induced expansion of adult hematopoietic stem cells ex vivo. Cell. 2002;109:39-45

194. Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW, Lipman DJ. Basic local alignment search tool. Journal of Molecular Biology. 1990;215:403-410

195. Heinemeyer T, Wingender E, Reuter I, Hermjakob H, Kel AE, Kel OV, Ignatieva EV, Ananko EA, Podkolodnaya OA, Kolpakov FA, Podkolodny NL, Kolchanov NA. Databases on transcriptional regulation: TRANSFAC, TRRD and COMPEL. Nucleic Acids Research (Online). 1998;26:362-367

196. Gurish MF, Ghildyal N, McNeil HP, Austen KF, Gillis S, Stevens RL. Differential expression of secretory granule proteases in mouse mast cells exposed to interleukin 3 and c-kit ligand. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1992;175:1003-1012

197. Harvima IT, Horsmanheimo L, Naukkarinen A, Horsmanheimo M. Mast cell proteinases and cytokines in skin inflammation. Archives of Dermatological Research. 1994;287:61-67

198. Peterson KA, King BL, Hagge_Greenberg A, Roix JJ, Bult CJ, O_Brien TP. Functional and comparative genomic analysis of the piebald deletion region of mouse chromosome 14. Genomics. 2002;80:172-184

199. Hu G, Zhang S, Vidal M, Baer JL, Xu T, Fearon ER. Mammalian homologs of seven in absentia regulate DCC via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Genes & Development. 1997;11:2701-2714

200. Matsuzawa S, Takayama S, Froesch BA, Zapata JM, Reed JC. p53inducible human homologue of Drosophila seven in absentia (Siah) inhibits cell growth: suppression by BAG-1. The Embo Journal. 1998;17:2736-2747

201. Bruzzoni_Giovanelli H, Faille A, Linares_Cruz G, Nemani M, Le_Deist F, Germani A, Chassoux D, Millot G, Roperch JP, Amson R, Telerman A, Calvo F. SIAH-1 inhibits cell growth by altering the mitotic process. Oncogene. 1999;18:7101-7109

202. Roperch JP, Lethrone F, Prieur S, Piouffre L, Israeli D, Tuynder M, Nemani M, Pasturaud P, Gendron MC, Dausset J, Oren M, Amson RB, Telerman A. SIAH-1 promotes apoptosis and tumor suppression through a network involving the regulation of protein folding, unfolding, and trafficking: identification of common effectors with p53 and p21(Waf1). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1999;96:8070-8073

203. Germani A, Bruzzoni_Giovanelli H, Fellous A, Gisselbrecht S, Varin_Blank N, Calvo F. SIAH-1 interacts with alpha-tubulin and degrades the kinesin Kid by the proteasome pathway during mitosis. Oncogene. 2000;19:5997-6006

204. Liu J, Stevens J, Rote CA, Yost HJ, Hu Y, Neufeld KL, White RL, Matsunami N. Siah-1 mediates a novel beta-catenin degradation pathway linking p53 to the adenomatous polyposis coli protein. Molecular Cell. 2001;7:927-936

205. Frew I, Hammond V, Dickins R, Quinn J, Walkley C, Sims N, Schnall R, Della N, Holloway A, Digby M, Janes P, Tarlinton D, Purton L, Gillespie M, Bowtell D. Generation and analysis of Siah2 mutant mice. Mol Cell Biol. 2003;23:9150-9161.

206. Hirasawa R, Shimizu R, Takahashi S, Osawa M, Takayanagi S, Kato Y, Onodera M, Minegishi N, Yamamoto M, Fukao K, Taniguchi H, Nakauchi H, Iwama A. Essential and instructive roles of GATA factors in eosinophil development. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2002;195:1379-1386

207. Yu C, Cantor AB, Yang H, Browne C, Wells RA, Fujiwara Y, Orkin SH. Targeted deletion of a high-affinity GATA-binding site in the GATA-1 promoter leads to selective loss of the eosinophil lineage in vivo. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2002;195:1387-1395

208. Shuai K, Halpern J, ten_Hoeve J, Rao X, Sawyers CL. Constitutive activation of STAT5 by the BCR-ABL oncogene in chronic myelogenous leukemia. Oncogene. 1996;13:247-254

209. Carlesso N, Frank DA, Griffin JD. Tyrosyl phosphorylation and DNA binding activity of signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) proteins in hematopoietic cell lines transformed by Bcr/Abl. The Journal of Experimental Medicine. 1996;183:811-820

210. Migone TS, Lin JX, Cereseto A, Mulloy JC, O_Shea JJ, Franchini G, Leonard WJ. Constitutively activated Jak-STAT pathway in T cells transformed with HTLV-I. Science. 1995;269:79-81

211. Weber_Nordt RM, Egen C, Wehinger J, Ludwig W, Gouilleux_Gruart V, Mertelsmann R, Finke J. Constitutive activation of STAT proteins in primary lymphoid and myeloid leukemia cells and in Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-related lymphoma cell lines. Blood. 1996;88:809-816

212. Takemoto S, Mulloy JC, Cereseto A, Migone TS, Patel BK, Matsuoka M, Yamaguchi K, Takatsuki K, Kamihira S, White JD, Leonard WJ, Waldmann T, Franchini G. Proliferation of adult T cell leukemia/lymphoma cells is associated with the constitutive activation of JAK/STAT proteins. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1997;94:13897-13902

213. Bromberg JF, Wrzeszczynska MH, Devgan G, Zhao Y, Pestell RG, Albanese C, Darnell JE. Stat3 as an oncogene. Cell. 1999;98:295-303

214. Ho JM, Beattie BK, Squire JA, Frank DA, Barber DL. Fusion of the ets transcription factor TEL to Jak2 results in constitutive Jak-Stat signaling. Blood. 1999;93:4354-4364

215. Arnould C, Philippe C, Bourdon V, Gr_goire MJ, Berger R, Jonveaux P. The signal transducer and activator of transcription STAT5b gene is a new partner of retinoic acid receptor alpha in acute promyelocytic-like leukaemia. Human Molecular Genetics. 1999;8:1741-1749

216. de_la_Chapelle A, Traskelin AL, Juvonen E. Truncated erythropoietin receptor causes dominantly inherited benign human erythrocytosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1993;90:4495-4499

217. Kralovics R, Indrak K, Stopka T, Berman BW, Prchal JF, Prchal JT. Two new EPO receptor mutations: truncated EPO receptors are most frequently associated with primary familial and congenital polycythemias. Blood. 1997;90:2057-2061

218. Mercatante D, Kole R. Modification of alternative splicing pathways as a potential approach to chemotherapy. Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2000;85:237-243

219. Harn HJ, Ho LI, Shyu RY, Yuan JS, Lin FG, Young TH, Liu CA, Tang HS, Lee WH. Soluble CD44 isoforms in serum as potential markers of metastatic gastric carcinoma. Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology. 1996;22:107-110

220. Stickeler E, Kittrell F, Medina D, Berget SM. Stage-specific changes in SR splicing factors and alternative splicing in mammary tumorigenesis. Oncogene. 1999;18:3574-3582

221. Fujita M, Takahashi R, Liang P, Saya H, Ashoori F, Tachi M, Kitazawa S, Maeda S. Role of alternative splicing of the rat erythropoietin receptor gene in normal and erythroleukemia cells. Leukemia : Official Journal of the Leukemia Society of America, Leukemia Research Fund, U.K. 1997;11 Suppl 3:444-445

222. Gale RE, Freeburn RW, Khwaja A, Chopra R, Linch DC. A truncated isoform of the human beta chain common to the receptors for granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor, interleukin-3 (IL-3), and IL-5 with increased mRNA expression in some patients with acute leukemia. Blood. 1998;91:54-63

223. Bocker U, Damiao A, Holt L, Han DS, Jobin C, Panja A, Mayer L, Sartor RB. Differential expression of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist isoforms in human intestinal epithelial cells. Gastroenterology. 1998;115:1426-1438

224. McNagny KM, Rossi F, Smith G, Graf T. The eosinophil-specific cell surface antigen, EOS47, is a chicken homologue of the oncofetal antigen melanotransferrin. Blood. 1996;87:1343-1352

225. McNagny KM, Sieweke MH, Doderlein G, Graf T, Nerlov C. Regulation of eosinophil-specific gene expression by a C/EBP-Ets complex and GATA-1. The Embo Journal. 1998;17:3669-3680

226. Ostareck DH, Ostareck_Lederer A, Wilm M, Thiele BJ, Mann M, Hentze MW. mRNA silencing in erythroid differentiation: hnRNP K and hnRNP E1 regulate 15lipoxygenase translation from the 3' end. Cell. 1997;89:597-606

227. Ostareck DH, Ostareck_Lederer A, Shatsky IN, Hentze MW. Lipoxygenase mRNA silencing in erythroid differentiation: The 3'UTR regulatory complex controls 60S ribosomal subunit joining. Cell. 2001;104:281-290

228. Perrotti D, Cesi V, Trotta R, Guerzoni C, Santilli G, Campbell K, Iervolino A, Condorelli F, Gambacorti_Passerini C, Caligiuri MA, Calabretta B. BCR-ABL suppresses C/EBPalpha expression through inhibitory action of hnRNP E2. Nature Genetics. 2002;30:48-58

229. Mao B, Wu W, Davidson G, Marhold J, Li M, Mechler BM, Delius H, Hoppe D, Stannek P, Walter C, Glinka A, Niehrs C. Kremen proteins are Dickkopf receptors that regulate Wnt/beta-catenin signalling. Nature. 2002; 417(6889): 664-7

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Jörn Coers, Dipl. Biol.
Address:	Departement Forschung Kantonsspital Basel
	Experimentelle Hämatologie
	Hebelstrasse 20 4031 Basel
	(061) 265 32 82 (phone) (061) 265 23 50 (fax) j.coers@unibas.ch
Date of birth:	October 18 th ,1971
Nationality:	German
Education:	
2000, April – 2004, February	Ph.D. student in the laboratory of Prof. R.C. Skoda, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Heidelberg, Germany (until January, 2002) and Department Research, University Hospital Basel, Switzerland (since February, 2002)
1999 - 2000	Diploma thesis (Master) and work as a research assistant in the laboratory of Prof. C.R. Roy at Yale University, Conneticut, USA
1997 - 1998	Study at the University of New York Stonybrook, New York, USA; Participation in the 1 st year of the graduate school of microbiology
1994 - 1999	University of Konstanz, Germany Dipl. Biol. (Master)
1992 – 1994	Social Service: Training and work as a paramedic in Oldenburg, Germany
1992, May	Abitur in Leer / Ostfriesland, Germany
1990, May	High School Diploma in Billings, Montana, U.S.A

Scholarships and Awards:

Scholarship of the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) (1997)

Price of the Swiss Society of Hematology (2003)

Publications:

Coers J., Ranft C., Skoda RC. A truncated isoform of c-mpl with an essential C-terminal peptide targets the fulllength receptor for degradation. (2004) *in press*

Kralovics R., Buser AS., Teo SS., **Coers J.**, Tichelli A., Van Der Maas AP., Skoda RC. Comparison of molecular markers in a cohort of patients with chronic myeloproliferative disorders. Blood. 2003 Sep 1;102(5):1869-71

Coers J., Kagan JC., Matthews M., Nagai H., Zuckman DM., Roy CR. Identification of Icm protein complexes that play distinct roles in the biogenesis of an organelle permissive for Legionella pneumophila intracellular growth. Mol Microbiol. 2000 Nov;38(4):719-36

Coers, J., Monahan C., Roy CR. Modulation of phagosome biogenensis by Legionella pneumophila creates an organelle permissive for intracellular growth. Nature Cell Biology. 1999 Nov;1 (7):451-453

Abstracts:

Decreased expression of c-MPL in myeloproliferative diseases: cause or consequence of elevated platelet count?

Jörn Coers, Christina Ranft, Robert Kralovics, Sandra Ziegler, Radek Skoda Symposium Swiss Society of Hematology (2003), oral presentation

Inhibitory effect of a truncated form of c-MPL on TPO dependent cell survival and proliferation

Jörn Coers, Christina Ranft, Sandra Ziegler, Radek Skoda

32nd Annual Meeting of the International Society for Experimental Hematology (2003), oral presentation

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Radek C. Skoda for giving me the opportunity to carry out my thesis work in his laboratory. I would like to thank the scientists who have contributed to the presented work. They are listed in the results section as contributing authors. Further, I am thankful for the support from all members (past and present) of Dr. Radek C. Skoda's and of Dr. Wodnar Filipowicz's laboratories. In particular I would like to thank Tibor Schomber for having been a good sport and bench neighbor for the last four years and I hope that he will be graduating soon. I am especially grateful to Verena Dalle Carbonare for tons of help in the TC and her attempts to teach me some Swiss German and Swiss culture. Hui Hao-Shen deserves heaps of credits for genotyping a couple thousand mice every year. Life in lab has been much better since she has been around.

I would like to thank my parents for their support. Finally, I would like to thank Dr. So Young Kim for proofreading the manuscript and for having been very patient with me and supportive during the three weeks in which I wrote my thesis. You rock, Soy.